

National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

du Canada

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Bibliothèque nationale

Your files. Worker reference er

Our Me. Notice reference



NOTICE

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30, and subsequent amendments. La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséquents.

Canadä

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

CHARACTERIZATION OF INDIGENOUS PLASMIDS IN THE PASTEURELLACEAE FOR USE IN GENETIC ANALYSIS

ΒY

LAURIE G. DIXON

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL MICROBIOLOGY AND INFECTIOUS DISEASES

Edmonton, Alberta Fall 1994



National Library of Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et

des services bibliographiques

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontano K1A 0N4 395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your file. Notre reference

Our life - Notie reference

author has granted The an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan. distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à la disposition des personnes intéressées.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission. L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-95025-0



UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

NAME OF AUTHOR: LAURIE G. DIXON TITLE OF THESIS: CHARACTERIZATION OF INDIGENOUS PLASMIDS IN THE PASTEURELLACEAE FOR USE IN GENETIC ANALYSIS DEGREE: MASTER OF SCIENCE YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED: 1994

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as hereinbefore provided neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

Launc H. Devan

P.O. Box 46 Exshaw, Alberta TOL 2CO

Date 26 July 1994

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled CHARACTERIZATION OF INDIGENOUS PLASMIDS IN THE PASTEURELLACEAE FOR USE IN GENETIC ANALYSIS submitted by Laurie G. Dixon in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

William L. Albritton

Dr. Diane Taylor

Dr. Laura Frost

Date: 27 April 1971

ABSTRACT

There are no commercially available vectors for genetic analysis in the *Pasteurellaceae*. Given the importance of this family with respect to animal and human disease, a system for genetic analysis is needed. With this in mind, this study has characterized plasmids indigenous to the *Pasteurellaceae*.

Four small, broad-host-range antibiotic resistance plasmids that replicate within the Pasteurellaceae have been isolated: pLS88 and pHD148, from Haemophilus ducreyi, pHD8.1, from Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae, and RSF0885, from Haemophilus influenzae. These plasmids can also replicate within the Enterobacteriaceae.

pHD8.1 and pHD148 are related to the IncQ plasmid RSF1010, which cannot replicate in the *Pasteurellaceae*. The three plasmids were shown to be incompatible. Sequencing of pHD148 and pHD8.1 showed that the area containing the RSF1010 oriv region was deleted in pHD148 and pHD8.1; however, repA/B/C genes were present and oriv-like regions were found elsewhere.

The plasmid pLS88 has been completely sequenced. Analysis of the antibiotic resistance genes revealed homology with RSF1010 and Tn903. The ori of pLS88 was small, and was independent of plasmid-encoded rep proteins. Given the size of the origin, pLS88 resembles the structure of narrow-hostrange plasmids, but replicates as a broad-host-range plasmid. The recombinant plasmids pDM2, derived from RSF0885, and pPW87/88, derived from pLS88, contain inserts from p2265 and pSa, respectively. These inserts were sequenced, and are linked with both transposon and integron containing structures which may be involved in recombination.

These plasmids contain features useful in the development of vector systems for genetic analysis within the Pasteurellaceae.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to extend my appreciation to Dr. Bill Albritton for the time he spent with me and the guidance he offered as my advisor.

Special thanks should go to Dr. Doug Scraba for his assistance with electron microscopy. I have benefitted by technical assistance and advice from Perry D'Obrenan, Linda Chui, and Jeannie Mao.

I appreciate the encouragement, support, and advice provided by other members of my committee - Dr. Diane Taylor and Dr. Laura Frost.

It would not have been possible to complete these studies without the support and encouragement of my family.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER

I.	INTR	ODUCT	ION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	1
	A.	THE I	PASTEURELLACEAE	1
		1.	BACTERIAL SPECIES WITHIN THE	
			PASTEURELLACEAE	1
		2.	PASTEURELLACEAE-MEDIATED DISEASE	4
	в.	PLAS	MIDS FOR GENETIC ANALYSIS	14
		1.	INTRODUCTION	14
		2.	INC Q-LIKE PLASMID VECTORS	21
			i. PLASMID RSF1010 STRUCTURE AND	
			REPLICATION	23
			ii. pHD8.1 and pHD148 PLASMID SYSTEMS	29
		3.	OTHER NATURALLY OCCURRING PLASMID	
			VECTORS	35
			i. THE PLASMID pLS88	35
		4.	RECOMBINANT PLASMID VECTORS	36
			i. KNOWN VECTOR SYSTEMS	36
			ii. THE PLASMID pDM2	39
			iii. THE PLASMIDS pPW87 AND pPW88	47

II.	THE PROB	LEM: DEV	ELOPMENT	OF V	ECTOR	SYSTEMS	FOR	
	STUDY WIT	THIN THE	PASTEURE		EAE			51

III	. MAT	ERIALS AND METHODS	53
	Α.	BACTERIA AND PLASMIDS	53
	в.	MEDIA AND GROWTH CONDITIONS	55
	с.	ANTIBIOTICS	55
	D.	ISOLATION OF BACTERIAL DNA	56
		1. RAPID SMALL-SCALE PLASMID PREPARATION	56
		2. LARGE-SCALE PLASMID PREPARATION	57
	E.	AGAROSE GEL ELECTROPHORESIS	60
	F.	POLYACRYLAMIDE GEL ELECTROPHORESIS	62
	G.	ENZYMATIC REACTIONS INVOLVING DNA	64
		1. RESTRICTION ENDONUCLEASE DIGESTION	64
		2. LIGATION	65
		3. DNA TRANSLATION	65
	н.	TRANSFORMATION	65
	I.	DNA SEQUENCING	67
		1. PREPARATION OF OLIGONUCLEOTIDE AND	
		PLASMID DNA	67
		2. SEQUENCING	68
	J.	CREATION OF DNA-LNA HETERODUPLEXES AND	
		ELECTRON MICROSCOPY	69
T 1 7	DEC		-
IV.	RESU		71
	Α.	PLASMID pLS88	71

- 1.HOST RANGE712.SEQUENCES OF pLS88 AND pPC100723.PROTEIN PRODUCTION FROM pLS88 AND
 - pPC100 81

в.	PLAS	MIDS pHD8.1 AND pHD148	84
	1.	INCOMPATIBILITY	84
	2.	ELECTRON MICROSCOPY OF HETERODUPLEXES	85
	3.	SEQUENCES OF pHD8.1 AND pHD148	88
c.	PLAS	MID PDM2	104
	1.	SEQUENCE OF PDM2	104
D.	PLAS	MIDS pPW87 AND pPW88	109
	1.	SEQUENCES OF pPW87 AND pPW88	109
CONC	LUSTO	NS AND DISCUSSION	114
A.		WID PLS88	114
		SEQUENCE HOMOLOGIES WITH KNOWN PLASMIDS	114
	2.	Tn903 AND TRANSPOSONS IN HAEMOPHILUS	116
	3.	ORIGIN OF REPLICATION	117
в.		MIDS pHD8.1 AND pHD148	119
2.	1.	SEQUENCE HOMOLOGIES WITH KNOWN PLASMIDS	119
	2.	INCOMPATIBILITY AND THE ORIGIN OF	***
		REPLICATION	122
c.	PLAS	MID PDM2	125
0.		SEQUENCE HOMOLOGIES WITH KNOWN PLASMIDS	125
	2.	Tn10 AND TRANSPOSONS IN HAEMOPHILUS	126
D.		MIDS pPW87 AND pPW88	130
2.	1.	SEQUENCE HOMOLOGIES WITH KNOWN PLASMIDS	130
	2.	INTEGRONS	133
Е.		ARY OF GENETIC ANALYSIS IN THE	193
ч •		EURELLACEAE	137
			137
	1.	THE PLASMID PLS88	131

v.

2.	THE	PLASMIDS pPW87 AND pPW88	139
3.	THE	PLASMID pDM2	140
4.	THE	PLASMIDS pHD8.1 AND pHD148	141

VI. LITERATURE CITED

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Human and animal species in the genera			
Haemoph	nilus, Actinobacillus, and Pasteurella.	4		
Table 2.	Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this			
study.		53		
Table 3.	Transformation of bacteria with pLS88 by			
transformation.				

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Physical map of RSF1010.	25
Figure 2. Restriction maps of plasmids RSF1010,	
pHD8.1 and pHD148.	34
Figure 3. Restriction maps of plasmids pLS88 and	
pPC100.	38
Figure 4. Restriction map of plasmids RSF0885,	
p2265 and pDM2.	42
Figure 5. The composite nucleotide sequence of	
RSF0885.	44
Figure 6. Restriction map of plasmids pLS88, pSa,	
pPW87 and pPW88.	49
Figure 7. The complete nucleotide sequence of plasmids	
and pPC100.	74
Figure 8. Protein translations of the antibiotic	
resistance genes of RSF1010, pLS88 and Tn903.	7 9
Figure 9. In vitro translation of the plasmids pLS88	
and pPC100.	83
Figure 10. DNA-DNA heteroduplexes of the plasmids	
pHD148 and pHD8.1.	87
Figure 11. Nucleotide sequence comparisons of the	
sulfonamide-streptomycin A intergenic regions of	
the plasmids RSF1010, pHD8.1, pHD148 and pLS88.	90
Figure 12. Nucleotide sequence comparisons of the	
oriV regions of plasmids RSF1010, pHD148 and pHD8.1	92

Figure 13. Nucleotide sequence comparisons of the	
region 5' to the <i>repC</i> gene of plasmids RSF1010,	
pHD148, pHD8.1 and pLS88.	96
Figure 14. Nucleotide sequence comparisons of oriV-	
like regions in plasmids pHD148 and pHD8.1 and the	
RSF1010 oriV.	101
Figure 15. Sequence pictorals of plasmids RSF1010,	
pHD148, pHD8.1 and pLS88.	103
Figure 16. Nucleotide sequence of the 4.1 kb BamHI	
fragment of p2265 from plasmid pDM2.	106
Figure 17. Nucleotide sequence of the PstI fragment	
of pSa from plasmids pPW87 and pPW88.	111
Figure 18. Physical maps of plasmids RSF1010, pHD148,	
pHD8.1 and pLS88.	124
Figure 19. Physical maps of the 4.1 kb BamHI fragment	
of p2265 and the large Tn10-chloramphenicol	
resistance plasmids.	129
Figure 20. Physical maps of plasmid insert sequences	
from pDM2 and pPW87, and the corresponding sequence	
in pSa.	132
Figure 21. Physical maps of the plasmid pPW87 and	
In6.	136

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

amp	Ampicillin resistance gene
Am ^r	Ampicillin resistance phenotype
Am ³	Ampicillin sensitive phenotype
AS	Amplification sequence
BAP	5% sheep's blood agar plate
BHI	Brain heart infusion (broth)
bla	β -lactamase gene; ampicillin resistance gene
qd	Base-pairs
CA	Chocolatized 5% sheep's blood agar plate
cat	Chloramphenicol acetyltransferase gene
cmp	Chloramphenicol resistance gene
Cm ^r	Chloramphenicol resistance phenotype
Cm ^s	Chloramphenicol sensitive phenotype
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxide
DTT	Dithiothreitol
EDTA	(Ethylenedinitrilo)tetraacetic acid, disodium
	salt
EPB	Electroporation buffer: 0.3 M sucrose, 0.3 mM
	Na_2HPO_4 , 0.2 mM KH_2PO_4 , 19% glycerol
EM	Electron microscope or electron microscopy
IHF	Integration host factor
In	Integron
Inc	Incompatibility group
IS	Insertion sequence

- Kd Kilodalton
- kan Kanamycin resistance gene
- kb Kilobase
- Km^r Kanamycin resistance phenotype
- Km^s Kanamycin sensitive phenotype
- ORF Open reading frame
- ori Origin of replication
- oriT Origin of conjugative transfer
- oriV Origin of vegetative replication for RSF1010
- PAGE Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
- rep Replication protein encoding gene
- repA RSF1010 gene encoding replication A protein; DNA helicase
- repB RSF1010 gene encoding replication B protein; DNA primase
- repC RSF1010 gene encoding replication C protein; DNA initiator protein
- SDS Sodium dodecyl sulfonate
- Sm^r Streptomycin resistance phenotype
- Sm^s Streptomycin sensitive phenotype
- SSB Single-stranded DNA binding protein
- ssi Single-stranded initiation sites; AT rich regions
- strA Streptomycin A resistance gene
- strB Streptomycin B resistance gene
- sull Sulfonamide resistance gene, type I enzyme produced

- sulII Sulfonamide resistance gene, type II enzyme produced
- Su^r Sulfonamide resistance phenotype
- Su³ Sulfonamide sensitive phenotype
- TBE Tris-borate EDTA, pH 8.0 (5 x TBE is 0.45 M Tris base, 0.45 M boric acid, 0.01 M EDTA, pH 8.0)
- TE Tris-chloride EDTA, pH 8.0 (unless otherwise specified) 10 mM Tris buffer, 1 mM EDTA, pH with HCl
- TEMED N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine
- Tn Transposon

I. INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

A. THE PASTEURELLACEAE

1. BACTERIAL SPECIES WITHIN THE PASTEURELLACEAE

Phenotypic characterization and classification of fastidious bacteria like members of the Haemophilus, Pasteurella, and Actinobacillus groups has been difficult. Attempts to create genera and higher taxa in this area resulted in some highly artificial groupings. For example, in 1917 the Committee of the Society of American Bacteriologists on Characterization and Classification of Bacterial Types (Winslow, et al., 1917) proposed a genus Haemophilus, which included the small nonmotile parasites which grew only on media in the presence of blood or other body fluids. The influenza bacillus, the Koch-Weeks bacillus, the Ducrey bacillus, and the Bordet-Gengou bacillus were the main bacteria in this group. In 1981, in Bergey's Manual of family Pasteurellaceae, Systematic Bacteriology, the Pasteurella, Haemophilus, and containing the genera Actinobacillus, was proposed by Pohl and given status with the families Enterobacteriaceae and Vibrionaceae (Mannheim, 1984;

Mutters, et al., 1989).

The taxonomy of the family Pasteurellaceae as a whole and of its component genera is in some dispute, and has been examined by several methodologies. Major studies based on phenotypic traits include those on Haemophilus (Kilian, 1976; Broom & Sneath, 1981) and on Actinobacillus and Pasteurella (Sneath & Stevens, 1985). Advances in understanding the phylogeny of the members of the Pasteurellaceae have come from DNA-DNA hybridization studies (Mutters, et al., 1985; Pohl, 1981) and from rRNA-DNA hybridization studies (De Ley, et al., These studies have shown that the phylogenetic 1990). structure of the Pasteurellaceae is complex and that more than three genera are required to accomodate the diversity of species in this group. Because many species did not fall into defined clusters, the branching of genus-level clusters has remained unclear.

Recently, studies were undertaken to further clarify the phylogeny of this complex family through comparison of the full sequence of 16S rRNA in strains representing 54 described species (Dewhirst, et al., 1992). This method has proven extremely useful for determining phylogenetic relationships among other prokaryotic and eukaryotic organisms (Woese, 1987; Woese, et al., 1985a).

The 54 strains, composed of 15 Pasteurella, 16 Actinobacillus, and 23 Haemophilus organisms, fell into 5 clusters. Three of these clusters contained, as subsets, the

sensu stricto genera Haemophilus, Pasteurella, and Actinobacillus. The fourth cluster was composed of 15 species from the above three genera, including Haemophilus ducreyi, Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae, and Pasteurella haemolytica. The fifth cluster contained only Pasteurella pneumotropica, which did not fall into the Pasteurella main cluster in any of the analyses done (Dewhirst, et al., 1992) However, given the complexity of the branching seen during the study, no taxonomic changes were suggested.

The Pasteurellaceae is one of three families of gramnegative facultative anaerobes, many of which are pathogenic for humans and animals. Phylogenetically, these organisms belong to the gamma subgroup of the purple bacteria, clustering closely with the Enterobacteriaceae and the Vibrionaceae in 16S rRNA cataloguing studies (Woese, et al., 1985b). Members of the Pasteurellaceae are straight rigid, coccoid to rod-shaped, nonmotile, gram-negative cells, usually 0.2-0.3 x 0.3-2.0 µm in size. Pleomorphism with cell swelling and formation of filaments may occur. The Pasteurellaceae are fastidious, carbohydrate fermentating and anaerogenic. Complex media supplemented with yeast extract and serum or whole blood lysate are used for primary isolation. Varying patterns of nutritional requirements may include several amino acids, B vitamins, β -nicotinamide adenine nucleotides, and haematin or protoporphyrin (Mannheim, 1984). A list of the current members of the Pasteurellaceae and their natural hosts

current members of the *Pasteurellaceae* and their natural hosts are found in Table 1.

Table 1. Human and animal species in the genera

Haemophilus, Actinobacillus, and Pasteurella. Human Species Animal Species H. equiqenitalis (horses) H. influenzae H. parainfluenzae H. somnus (cattle) H. haemolyticus H. parasuis (swine) H. paragallinarum (poultry) H. parahemolyticus H. aphrophilus H. paracuniculus (rabbits) H. parahrophilus H. agni (sheep) H. paraphrohaemolyticus H. haemoglobinophilus (dogs) H. aegyptius H. segnis H. ducreyi Actinobacillus A.lignierisii (cattle, sheep) (Haemophilus) A. equuli (horses, swine) actinomycetemcomitans A. suis (swine) A. hominis A. capsulatis (rabbits) Actinobacillus (Haemophilus) pleuropneumoniae (swine) A. muris (mice) A. rossi (cattle, swine) A. seminis (sheep) Actinobacillus (Haemophilus) avium (poultry) P. multocida P. multocida (cattle, poultry, P. belti sheep, swine) Pasteurella Pasteurella (Actinobacillus) (Actinobacillus) haemolytica (cattle, sheep) ureae Pasteurella (Actinobacillus) pneumotropica (rodents) P. gallinarum (poultry) P. aerogenes (swine) P. sp. new species 1 (called P. "gas") (dogs, cats) P. dogmatis (dogs, cats) P. gallinarum (poultry) P. canis (dogs, cattle) P. stomatis (dogs, cats)

P. avium (fowl)
P. volantium (fowl)
P. lymphangitidis (cattle)
P. mairi (swine)
P. testudinis (tortoises)
P. trehalosii (sheep)
P. species A (poultry)
P. species B (poultry)

2. PASTEURELLACEAE-MEDIATED DISEASE

In 1892, Pfeiffer identified a bacillus in the sputum of patients with influenza, claimed it as the etiological agent, and one year later isolated the bacterium on blood-containing media (Hirschmann & Everett, 1979). Doubts about its etiological importance resurfaced in the 1918-1919 pandemic when the bacillus could not be found in influenza victims, but 1920 the bacillus was named Haemophilus in influenzae (Haemophilus meaning "blood-loving"), reflecting Pfeiffer's claims (Hirschmann & Everett, 1979). In 1921, Thjotta and Avery found that growth of the bacillus depended on two factors, which they labelled X and V (Thjotta & Avery, 1921). 1931, Pittman demonstrated immunological differences In between capsulated and unencapsulated strains, and eventually discovered serotypes a-f (Pittman, 1931). During this time, it became clear that H. influenzae was an important cause of childhood bacterial meningitis and other infections, in both children and adults (Hirschmann & Everett, 1979).

Among the Haemophilus sp. that colonize man, H. influenzae is the most important from a clinical point of view (for review, see Hirschmann & Everett, 1979; Honig, et al., 1973). These infections can be divided into (a) acute, pyogenic and usually invasive infections in which H. influenzae is the primary pathogen, and (b) infections (usually chronic) in which H. influenzae is a secondary pathogen (Kilian, & Biberstein, 1984).

There are several human infections caused by Haemophilus species. Meningitis in children between 1 month and 2 years of age is most commonly caused by H. influenzae. Between the 6 years, H. influenzae and Neisseria ages of 2 and meningitidis occur with equal frequency. H. influenzae meningitis in children over 6 is uncommon, and in adults is usually seen as a complication of an underlying disease or condition, and results from the movement of the organism from a different area of the body. Such conditions include CSF leakage secondary to head trauma, chronic sinusitis and otitis media. Other diseases, such as diabetes, alcoholism, pneumonia and immunodeficiency states, including aging, may also predispose adults to H. influenzae meningitis (Jacobs, et al., 1983; Givner, et al., 1989; Greene, 1978).

H. influenzae is the most common cause of epiglottitis. This infection is usually acute, with an abrupt onset of obstructive laryngeal edema. The disease is most frequently seen in children between 2 and 4 years of age, with very few

cases in adults (Jones, et al., 1976).

Acute otitis media is usually caused by either Streptococcus pneumoniae or H. influenzae in children between the ages of 6 months and 2 years. H. influenzae strains may also be significant causes of otitis media in adolescents and adults. Concomitant bacteremia and/or meningitis occurs in about 4% of cases in children (Dajani, et al., 1979; Wald, 1989).

Acute sinusitis is most frequently caused by either S. pneumoniae or H. influenzae. There is evidence that these organisms may be secondary invaders following viral sinusitis (for example, rhinovirus infection [Murphy & Apicella, 1987]). H. influenzae does not play a role in chronic sinusitis (Hirschmann & Everett, 1979; Murphy & Apicella, 1987).

Chronic bronchitis is an ill-defined clinical entity characterized by a persistent, productive cough, wheezing and shortness of breath. *H. influenzae* is recovered from about 60% of patients. Because of the normal colonization of the upper respiratory tract by the organism, the role of *H. influenzae* in chronic bronchitis is unclear. Experimental data suggests a pathogenic role for *H. influenzae*, probably in combination with other host factors, including immune status or other pulmonary infection (Hirschmann & Everett, 1979; Murphy & Apicella, 1987).

Bacteremia is a frequent manifestation of *H*. influenzae (mostly serotype b) infection, and may result in several other

clinical manifestations of infection. Seeding of the soft tissues results in cellulitis; septic arthritis and osteomyelitis may also complicate bacteremia. Neonatal sepsis caused by *H. influenzae* has been described, resulting from perinatal transmission (Dajani, et al., 1979; Friesen & Cho, 1986; Holmes & Kozinin, 1983; Wallace, et al., 1983).

H. influenzae pneumonia can be another manifestation of systemic infection (such as meningitis, epiglottitis, bacteremia or otitis media), or can develop as a complication of a respiratory tract infection (such as chronic bronchitis or acute tracheobronchitis). Definitive diagnosis may be hampered by the presence of the organism in the upper respiratory tract in healthy individuals. Definitive diagnosis may require growth of the organism from blood, pleural fluid or lung aspirate (Honig, et al., 1973; Holmes & Kozinin, 1983).

Haemophilus-mediated endocarditis is most often due to H. aphrophilus, H. paraphrophilus or H. parainfluenzae; H. influenzae is infrequently isolated from such patients. Incidence is highest in young to middle-aged adults and mortality is usually about 10% to 15%. Higher rates (25% to 50%) may reflect difficulty in isolating these fastidious organisms from blood cultures, combined with inappropriate or inadequate antimicrobial therapy (Chunn, et al., 1978; Lynn, et al., 1977; Parker, et al., 1983).

Haemophilus species, particularly H. influenzae and H.

parainfluenzae have been reported as possible causes of nongonococcal urethritis, female genital tract infections, postpartum bacteremia and neonatal sepsis. In one study, 10% of nongonococcal urethritis cases investigated recovered H. influenzae or H. parainfluenzae: these organisms were not isolated from asymptomatic men (Sturm, 1986). Other studies have demonstrated the recovery of H. influenzae from blood cultures of women with postpartum bacteremia and neonates with bacteremia or meningitis (Wallace, et al., 1983; quentin, et Other sites from which H. influenzae has been al., 1989). cultivated include the vagina, endometrium, cervix, Bartholin's glands, fallopian tubes, male urethra, prostatic fluid, and fetal tissues (Sturm, 1986; Wallace, et al., 1983; Chowdury & Parek, 1983; Quentin, et al., 1989; Paavonen, et Genital tract infections associated with al., 1985). Haemophilus species can be linked to the presence of intrauterine devices, suggesting that Haemophilus species may behave as opportunistic agents in these areas (Paavonen, et al., 1985; Wallace, 1983).

H. aegyptius and H. influenzae have long been known to cause seasonal epidemics of acute purulent conjunctivitis, also referred to as pink eye (Albritton, 1982; Harrison, et al., 1989; Harrison & Broome, 1989). Localized outbreaks of acute conjunctivitis occurs among persons who share towels, handkerchiefs, or other objects that come in direct contact with the skin of the face or eyes. The pink color of the

sciera and the presence of a serous or purulent discharge is virtually diagnostic of *Haemophilus*-mediated conjunctivitis (Harrison, et al., 1989; Leibowitz, et al., 1976; Ingham & Turk, 1969; Gigliotti, et al., 1981).

Brazilian purpuric fever (BPF) is a recently recognized pediatric infectious disease caused by a single clone of H. aegyptius. Since its first description in 1985, researchers have sought to determine the basis for the invasiveness of an organism previously responsible only for purulent conjunctivitis. The disease is characterized by fever, abdominal pain and vomiting, hemorrhagic skin lesions, vascular collapse, and death (Brazilian Purpuric Fever Study Group, 1987; Harrison, et al., 1989a; 1989b; Swaminathan, et al., 1989; Carlone, et al., 1989). This phenomenom was thought to be localized to Brazil, but in 1986 a child in Australia was reported to have the symptoms of BPF (Wild, et al., 1989). The virulence factors of the BPF clone and the pathogenesis of BPF are now undergoing further study, and surveillance has been established in BPF-endemic areas to monitor the disease and the spread of the implicated organism.

The first differentiation of the sexually transmitted disease chancroid (also called soft chancre) from syphilis was made by Bassereau in France in 1852, when he demonstrated that patients with chancroid could be reinfected at other skin sites by autoinoculation of purulent material from the ulcer (Morse, 1989). In 1889, Ducrey at the University of Naples

published data on the identification of the "virus" of the soft chancre. At weekly intervals, he inoculated a new skin site with material from recent ulcers, and could maintain ulcers for as long a. 15 generations. In every patient, he found a single organism in the ulcer exudate which he described as a "short, compact, streptobacillary rod with rounded ends" (Morse, 1989). Successful cultivation of the bacillus did not occur until the late 1890's (Davis, 1903). Later reseachers were able to produce disease in such animals as apes, chimpanzees, humans and rabbits (Morse, 1989). Named *Coccobacillus ducreyi* by Neveu-Lemaire in 1920, it was not renamed *Haemophilus ducreyi* until several years later (Kilian & Biberstein, 1984).

Chancroid is a highly contagious sexually transmitted disease characterized by painful genital ulcers and tender inguinal lymphadenopathy. The disease is worldwide in distribution and is endemic in South America, Africa, East and Southeast Asia and India. Sporadic outbreaks of chancroid have been reported in the United States and Canada (Morse, 1989). These outbreaks have occurred almost exclusively among heterosexuals and, frequently have been traced to female prostitutes (Schmid, et al., 1987).

Recently, an association between *H. ducreyi* infection and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1 and HIV-2) has been observed (Kreiss, et al., 1986). Genital ulcers due to chancroid and other agents (such as syphilis) apparently

facilitate the passage of the virus between sexual partners (Kreiss, et al., 1986).

Haemophilus species other than H. influenzae, H. aegyptius and H. ducreyi are uncommon agents of human infection. As members of the normal upper respiratory tract and oral cavity flora, organisms such as H. parainfluenzae, H. aphrophilus and H. paraphrophilus are sometimes isolated from bronchitis, sinusitis, otitis media, pneumonia, bacteremia and endocarditis, and rarely from meningitis and brain abcess. H. haemolyticus, H. parahaemolyticus and H. paraphrophaemolyticus are also normal flora of the respiratory tract, and are rarely isolated from human infection (Jawetz, et al., 1987a; Kilian & Bibe stein, 1984).

Most members of the genus Actinobacillus are found both as pathogens and as commensal organisms in domestic animals. Occasionally they may be found associated with disease in man, actinomycetemcomitans, species, A. recently and one to be reclassified as Haemophilus recommended actinomycetemcomitans (Chuba, et al., 1988; De Ley, et al., 1990; Dewhirst, et al., 1992), occurs only in man. As normal flora, Actinobacillus species are to be found in the alimentary, respiratory and genital tracts of animals, and the change from a commensal to a pathogenic organism usually requires some factor to assist the entry and establishment in tissue; in other words, Actinobacillus species are opportunistic pathogens (Phillips, 1984).

A. actinomycetemcomitans is associated with endocarditis, bacteremia, wound infection and dental infections. Although the organism has been frequently co-isolated with Actinomyces israelii from dental abcesses, it has also been isolated from similar abcesses without the actinomycetes (Phillips, 1984). The most common infection associated with Α. actinomycetemcomitans is subacute bacterial endocarditis, most frequently in individuals with valvular damage due to congenital heart diseases (Kaplan, et al., 1989; Kristinsson, et al., 1988; Wilson, 1989). Prosthetic mitral valve and aortic valve endocarditis have also been reported (Grace, et al., 1988; Wilson, 1989).

Pasteurella species are primarily animal pathogens, but they can produce a range of human diseases. P. multocida occurs worldwide in the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts of a wide variety of domestic and wild animals. It is commonly associated with dog and cat bite wound infections in humans (Carter, 1984; Jawetz, et al., 1987b). P. multocida may also be isolated from the respiratory tract, where it may exist as a commensal or as a cause of infection; in most cases, patients have a history of occupational or recreational exposure to animals (Carter, 1984; Starkebaum & Plords, 1977; Weber, et al., 1984). Systemic infections due to P. multocida in humans are rare, and patients with systemic infection usually have past or current exposure to animals, in most cases cats and/or dogs (Carter, 1984; Weber, et al., 1984).

Most of the bacterial species within the Pasteurellaceae form part of the normal flora of both wild and domestic animals (see Table 1), and are opportunistic pathogens in these animals (Carter, 1984; Kilian & Biberstein, 1984; Phillips, 1984). Consequently, many members of the Pasteurellaceae are of economic importance, causing disease in cattle, swine, sheep and poultry.

B. PLASMIDS FOR GENETIC ANALYSIS

1. INTRODUCTION

The discovery of plasmids occurred in Japan, with the appearance of multiple antibiotic resistant Shigella strains in the early 1950's, and the rapid increase in the number of these strains attracted the attention of microbiologists. In multiple resistance 1959 reports indicated that was transferable by mixed cultivation between antibiotic-resistant and -sensitive Shigella and E. coli strains. In early 1960, it was confirmed that the transfer of multiple antibiotic mediated resistance not bacteriophages, was by deoxyribonucleic acids, or other filterable agents. At the same time, it was proven that antibiotic resistance was

transmitted during mixed cultivation between F- or Hfr E. coli strains and sensitive Shigella, regardless of the F agent polarity, indicating that transferable antibiotic resistance was transmitted independently of chromosomal transmission from donor to recipient cells, and that this agent is different from the F factor. Later that year, the spontaneous loss of antibiotic resistance was observed in bacteria during storage In addition, transmission of in a cooked meat medium. antibiotic resistance was interrupted when a mixed culture was subjected to blender treatment, indicating that transfer was mediated by conjugation, and that the antibiotic resistant agent was independent of the bacterial chromosome. Incubation of a mixed culture resulted in the rapid acquisition of multiple antibiotic resistance by a majority of the recipient cells, suggesting that transmissible antibiotic resistance is a property that replicates at a faster rate than the bacterial chromosome. The term "R-factor" was proposed that year for *the* property of transmissible antibiotic resistance (Mitsuhashi, 1977). Since that time, R-factors, also called plasmids, have been extensively studied and characterized.

Plasmids are extrachromosomal genetic elements found in a wide variety of bacterial species. They are usually circular, double stranded DNA molecules that range in size from 1 kb to more than 200 kb. They behave as accessory genetic units, usually dispensible, that replicate and are inherited independently of the bacterial chromosome.

Plasmids represent an important factor in bacterial evolution: they enable rapid, short-term adaptation of bacteria to changing environmental conditions; they confer gene amplification; and they can be transferred within one or between many species. Normally, plasmids are not essential to their hosts: however, they often contain genes coding for enzymes that, under certain situations, are advantageous to the bacterial host. Among the phenotypes conferred are resistance to antibiotics; production of antibiotics; degradation of organic compounds; and the production of colicins, enterotoxins, and restriction and modification enzymes.

Plasmids are particularly useful as tools for genetic analysis. Plasmid genes are easier to work with than genes located on the chromosome, whose location and function can be obscured within the total genetic content of the bacterial genome. A plasmid that carries a set of mobilizing and transfer genes that promote bacterial conjugation is called a conjugative plasmid, and a plasmid is called relaxed if it is present in a multicopy form in the host cell (Krishnapillai, 1988). Two plasmids that cannot coexist in one host cell in the absence of selective pressures are considered to be incompatible, or belonging to different incompatibility groups (Couturier, et al., 1988).

The control mechanisms determining replication, copy number, and plasmid incompatibility are usually plasmid

encoded and involve the initiation of replication (Kolter & Helinski, 1979; Nordström, 1985; Novick, 1987; Scott, 1984; Thomas, 1988). In addition to plasmid-inherited determinants, replication initiation is dependent on various host-encoded enzymes (Scott, 1984). Many plasmids can therefore replicate only in one or a few closely related hosts. Promiscuous plasmids encode more of their own replication enzymes, and therefore are adapted to a wide range of bacteria and can be inherited in a variety of hosts.

One of the most interesting discoveries in microbiology since the introduction of antibiotics for treating bacterial infections has been the emergence and spread of resistance plasmids, which have also been important for studies in molecular and microbial genetics. Although some bacterial clones have a resistance to antibiotics in the absence of exposure, most bacteria acquire resistance due to the acquisition of plasmids encoding proteins which allow the bacteria to export, inactivate, or avoid the antibacterial action of the antibiotic. These antibiotic resistance genes are the most commonly used selectable markers, and allow for the easy selection of successfully transformed bacteria.

The most commonly used antibiotic gene markers include ampicillin, tetracycline, chloramphenicol, and aminoglycoside (eg. kanamycin and streptomycin) resistance genes (Sambrook, et al., 1989). These antibiotics and their plasmid-mediated resistance mechanisms each operate differently. An example of

each kind of antibiotic resistance is given below:

a) Ampicillin binds to and inhibits a number of enzymes that are involved in cell wall synthesis. The usual mechanism of plasmid-mediated ampicillin resistance involves the production of an enzyme that is secreted into the periplasmic space and catalyzes the hydrolysis of the β -lactam ring (Sambrook, et al., 1989). Chromosomally mediated ampicillin resistance due to alterations in penicillin binding proteins has not yet been associated with plasmids (Bush, 1989a, 1989b, 1989c, Halbert, 1988).

b) Tetracycline binds to a protein of the 30S ribosomal subunit and inhibits ribosomal translocation (Sambrook, et al., 1989). One plasmid-mediated tetracycline resistance mechanism involves an inducible tetracycline efflux protein which transports the antibiotic out of the bacterial cell (Izaki, et al., 1966; McMurry, et al., 1980; Kleckner, 1989). C) Chloramphenicol binds to the 50S ribosomal subunit and inhibits peptidyl transferase so that ribosomal translocation and peptide bond formation are uncoupled (Weinstein, 1975). The plasmid-mediated chloramphenicol resistance gene encodes a protein acetyltransferase that catalyzes the formation of hydroxyl acetoxy derivatives of the antibiotic which are unable to bind to ribosomes (Shaw, 1984).

d) Kanamycin is a deoxystreptamine aminoglycoside that binds to the 30S ribosomal subunit and causes the misreading of mRNA. One plasmid-mediated method of inactivation is *via*
production of an aminoglycoside phosphotransferase which phosphorylates the antibiotic and prevents its entry into the bacterial cell (Sambrook, et al., 1989).

e) Streptomycin is also an aminoglycoside that binds to the 30S ribosomal subunit and prevents the ribosome from binding to mRNA (Phillips & Shannon, 1984). An example of a plasmid encoded enzyme is, again, an aminoglycoside phosphotransferase (for example, the RSF1010 streptomycin resistance gene) which phosphorylates the antibiotic (Phillips & Shannon, 1984).

There are several plasmids which also carry sulfonamide or linked sulfonamide-streptomycin resistance genes. Sulfonamides are competative inhibitors of dihydropteroate synthase, an enzyme in the bacterial biosynthetic pathway producing tetrahydrofolic acid (the single carbon donor in the production of amino acids and nucleic acids) from its substrate para-aminobenzoic acid. The plasmid encoded sulfonamide resistance protein is a dihydropteroate synthase which is resistant to sulfonamide competition with its normal substrate (Willson, 1989).

Virtually all plasmid vectors in use carry one or more of the above mentioned antibiotic resistance genes for selection of transformed bacteria. Other selectable markers include the use of the *lac* operon, which allows differentiation of parental vs. recombinant plasmids by the production (or lack of, respectively) of an active β -galactosidase (Ullman, et al., 1967) Plasmid selection by insertional inactivation of

a lethal gene, such as colicin E3 inactivation (Vernet, et al., 1985), is also a viable selection method. There are several other selection methods currently in use for DNA cloning strategies.

Plasmids to be used in cloning must encode information for replication and partitioning in daughter cells after bacterial fission. The host range must include both the bacterial species of interest, and, in general, *E. coli*, because of its wide use in genetic analysis. The vector must have a marker, usually an antibiotic resistance gene, that allows for easy selection of bacteria containing the vector. Several attributes that make a vector useful for cloning include:

a) should be capable of autonomous, relaxed replication, even when covalently joined to foreign DNA.

b) should have one or more markers for selection of bacteria containing recombinant vectors.

c) should contain a cloning site in a region not essential for replication, preferably within a marker and with a second marker for counterselection, for the enzymatic insertion of foreign DNA.

d) should be small in size, and be easily separated from bacterial nucleic acids and purified.

Under normal conditions, many plasmids can be transmitted to new hosts through bacterial conjugation. However, plasmid vectors commonly used lack genes required for transfer and/or

mobilization and cannot effect their own conjugal transfer. Some of these plasmids do contain an origin of transfer (oriT) and can be mobilized by a conjugative plasmid which supplies the missing gene products in trans (Araki, et al., 1987). Plasmids can also be introduced into bacteria via transformation and transduction. Some bacteria, such as H. influenzae, are naturally competent, and will import plasmid DNA from outside of the cell, if the plasmid contains a specific uptake sequence (Chung, et al., 1989), but others, such as E. coli, require high levels of CaCl. (Cohen, et al., 1972) or other membrane active components, such as DMSO, reducing agents, and hexaminecobalt chloride (Weston, et al., 1981). A newer method of transformation, electroporation, involves the introduction of DNA into cells by applying a high voltage pulse, which is thought to create holes in the bacterial membrane, thus allowing DNA into the cell, and is useful for prokaryotes lacking natural gene transfer systems (Dower, et al., 1988; Miller, et al., 1988; Dower, 1990).

2. INC Q-LIKE PLASMID VECTORS

The incompatibility group Inc Q (also referred to as Inc P4) consists of a group of plasmids characterized by their relatively small size, medium range copy number (typically 15-

30 copies per bacterial cell), and broad-host-range replication system. These plasmids are typically isolated from such gram-negative bacilli as Salmonella spp., Proteus spp., and Pseudomonas spp., and usually confer resistance to streptomycin and the sulfonamides. Other resistance determinants have been found in a small number of known Inc Q plasmids. These plasmids are mostly nonconjugative, but can be mobilized into a wide variety of bacterial species if a conjugative helper plasmid is present (Frey & Bagdasarian, 1989).

Replicons in this incompatibility group have been used in the development of vectors for genetic analysis, and have been especially useful in those gram-negative bacteria inaccessible to the classic *E. coli* cloning systems based on Col E1 type replicons or *E. coli* specific bacteriophages. These recombinant vectors have been particularly useful in the analysis of *Pseudomonas* spp. (Frey & Bagdasarian, 1989), as well as in promoting plasmid transfer to plants (Frey & Bagdasarian, 1989).

Recently, certain members of the Inc Q incompatibility group have been exhaustively studied in an attempt to answer questions concerning the molecular basis of the broad-hostrange capability. RSF1010 in particular has had its biochemical and genetic functions well characterized.

i. Plasmid RSF1010 Structure and Replication

RSF1010 is a naturally occurring, 8,684 kb nonconjugative plasmid with a copy number of approximately 12/bacterial chromosome (Guerry, et al., 1974). The plasmid was originally isolated from Salmonella panama and is capable of broad-hostrange replication in members of the Enterobacteriaceae, but not in the Pasteurellaceae.

The whole of RSF1010 has been sequenced (Scholz, et al., 1989), and all of the gene products are in the process of being characterized. RSF1010 contains the sulfonamide II and the streptomycin A and B genes, responsible for resistance to these drugs in bacteria carrying the plasmid. The replication machinery has been well characterized, and the mobilization genes have been mapped out. RSF1010 lacks the transfer genes necessary for self-conjugative activity, but is fully mobilizable (Willetts & Crowther, 1981). With the completion of the DNA sequence, three previously unrecognized protein coding genes have been revealed (Scholz, et al., 1989). The major transcription signals for E. coli polymerase have also been identified (Scholz, et al., 1989). The organization of the RSF1010 genome is shown in Figure 1.

Replication of RSF1010 was characterized through the cloning, expression and purification of gene products, in vitro construction of the replication process, and in vivo and in vitro complementation studies of deletion mutants.

Figure 1. Physical map of RSF1010.

Distances (in kb) are shown on the top line, as are restriction endonuclease sites (from Scholz, et al., 1989). The approximate positions of the genes are indicated on the second line, as are the locations of the six known *E. coli* RNA peromoters (arrows labeled *P1* through *P6*). The coding regions for the eleven identified RSF1010 proteins (shaded boxes) are aligned with the physical and genetic maps as well as assigned to their respective rightward (R1-R3) and leftward (L3) reading frames.



Analysis of RSF1010 DNA allowed the mapping of the active origin to an area of approximately 400 bp (DeGraff, et al., 1978; Scherzinger & Bagdasarian, 1984; Haring & Scherzinger, 1989), and showed that replication proceeded bidirectionally, using *rep* gene products (supplied in *trans*) encoded by a 4.7 kb region downstream of the replication origin (Scherzinger, et al., 1984; 1991; Haring, et al., 1985).

RSF1010 replication is independent of the functions of the E. coli gene products of dnaA, -B, -C, -G, -I, and rpoB(DeGraff, et al., 1978; Frey & Bagdasarian, 1989; Haring & Scherzinger, 1989; Scherzinger, et al., 1984; Honda, et al., 1991). Instead, three rep gene products, RepA, RepB (and its larger active partner RepB'), and RepC, function as specific DNA helicase, primase, and initiator protein, respectively, and are essential for plasmid replication (Haring & Scherzinger, 1989; Scherzinger, et al., 1984; Honda, et al., 1989). The RepB protein is a unique DNA primase in that it does not require ribonucleotide triphosphates for the priming reaction (Haring & Scherzinger, 1989), and it requires specific sites, ssiA and ssiB, located on each of the complementary DNA strands within the oriV, as the templates for DNA initiation (Scholz, et al., 1989; Haring & Scherzinger, 1989; Honda, et al., 1988.). The only known host factors required for replication of RSF1010 are DNA polymerase III (Frey & Bagdasarian, 1989; Scherzinger, et al., 1991), DNA gyrase (Scherzinger, et al., 1991), and single-stranded DNA

binding protein, or SSB (Scherzinger, et al., 1991).

The rep proteins of RSF1010 bind in specific areas of the oriV to effect the initiation of replication: RepC binds to the inc repeats of the replication origin, which may catalyze the melting of an A-T rich region immediately downstream of the direct repeats. RepA helicases bind (presumably) to the A-T rich region and unwind the duplex to expose the ssi sites. Host SSB stabilizes the single-stranded DNA. RepB primase forms the priming complexes with the ssi sites, and host polymerase III holoenzyme extends the synthesis reaction bidirectionally (Scherzinger, et al., 1991; Haring & Scherzinger, 1989).

Plasmids are maintained in bacterial cells at a constant number which is characteristic for each individual or group of replicons. This is a result of a functional balance between positive regulation, mediated by initiation factors, and negative regulatory elements. The effect of incompatibility between two plasmids is a result of identity or close similarity in the negative regulatory mechanisms of the two replication systems. Negative regulation is important in plasmid replication, as no naturally-occurring replication systems can function properly without adequate negative control (Frey & Bagdasarian, 1989).

The IncQ origin has several regulatory sites. The 20 bp direct repeats (*inc* repeats) are essential for origin function (Scherzinger, et al., 1991; Haring & Scherzinger, 1989; Frey

& Bagdasarian, 1989; Persson & Nordström, 1986), and the sequential loss of the inc repeats cloned into a plasmid vector results in a concurrent decrease in the expression of incompatibility with an IncQ plasmid (Persson & Nordström, 1986; Frey & Bagdasarian, 1989). This can be explained by a titration of the RepC replication initiator protein that binds specifically to these repeats, and suggests that the RepC protein concentration in the cell is limiting and positively regulates the frequency of RSF1010 replication (Haring, et al., 1985; Frey & Bagdasarian, 1989). The replication genes themselves are under feedback regulatory control. The rep genes are expressed as two operons, a long one, initiated at the promoters P1/P3 and extending through the repBB'AC operon (see Figure 1), and a short one, initiated at the promoter P4 and extending through the repA/C cluster (Frey & Bagdasarian, 1989; Frey, et al., 1992; Maeser, er al., 1990). Through studies of deletion derivatives, the promoter cluster P1/P2/P3 was found to be repressed by high levels of MobC and RepB, which presumably attach to this region, possibly at the oriT site (Frey, et al., 1992). The F gene of RSF1010 (designated cac, for control of A and C genes), located at the beginning of the repA/C cluster and transcribed from both P1/P3 and P4, was found to encode a protein which attaches specifically to the region of the P4 promoter, and negatively regulates the expression of the repA/C operon (Maeser, er al., 1990; Frey, et al., 1992).

The interaction of several genes is required for the replication of IncQ plasmids. In RSF1010, the autoregulated rep genes provide plasmid specific functions of initiator protein, helicase and primase. RSF1010 therefore encodes its own proteins essential for primosome assembly and copy number control. This property is believed to render plasmid replication independent of host replication functions and to allow its propagation in a wide variety of bacterial hosts.

ii. pHD8.1 and pHD148 Plasmid Systems

For decades, sulfonamides have been used to successfully treat the sexually transmitted disease chancroid, the causative agent of which is the gram-negative bacterium Haemophilus ducreyi, a member of the Pasteurellaceae (Morse, 1989). Sulfonamide resistance in H. ducreyi is now seen throughout the world (Bilgeri, et al., 1982; Sturm, 1987; Taylor, et al., 1985).

Since sulfonamide resistance is known to be plasmid mediated in the *Enterobacteriaceae*, the possibility that sulfonamide resistance in *H. ducreyi* is also plasmid borne has been examined, along with the possibility that such *H. ducreyi* plasmids could be related to those found in the *Enterobacteriaceae* (Albritton, et al., 1982).

In the study conducted by Albritton, et al., 1982, all sulfonamide resistant strains of H. ducreyi were found to contain a 7.9 kb plasmid that conferred resistance to sulfonamide, but not streptomycin, and was easily transformed into E. coli C600. Filter-blot hybridization demonstrated that this plasmid, designated pHD148, was homologous to the linked sulfonamide-streptomycin resistance plasmid RSF1010 (Albritton, et al., 1982). EM heteroduplex analysis was used to demonstrate the relationship between pHD148 and RSF1010. TnA insertion mutants of RSF1010 (Heffron, et al., 1975) in the sulfonamide gene of RSF1010 (Ap101) and the streptomycin gene (Ap111) were used to facilitate identification of nonhomologous regions between the two plasmids (Albritton, et al., 1982). The results were surprising in that 79% of the pHD148 and 69% of the RSF1010 sequences were found to be homologous, demonstrating an extensive similarity between the two plasmids (Albritton, et al., 1982).

Resistance to antibiotics within other members of the Pasteurellaceae has also been noted recently. Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae, the causative agent of porcine pleuropneumonia, is of considerable economic importance causing chronic disease and death in the hog industry and has acquired some resistance to the tetracycline, penicillin, and streptomycin combinations used to treat the disease (Willson, et al., 1989b). The presence of an 8.1 kb, linked sulfonamide-streptomycin resistance plasmid in Α.

pleuropneumoniae (called pHD8.1) related to pHD148 has been described recently (Willson, et al., 1989b).

The host range of pHD8.1 was found to mimic that of pHD148 in that the plasmid was capable of expressing stable resistance to streptomycin and sulfonamide in *E. coli* and *H. influenzae*, as well as in its native host, *A. pleuropneumoniae* (Willson, et al., 1989b). Restriction endonuclease digestion fragment sizes of pHD8.1, pHD148 and RSF1010 were similar after digestion with certain enzymes, but were strikingly different after digestion with others (Willson, et al., 1989t). Southern blotting using probes derived from restriction fragments of the three plasmids suggested that all three shared extensive regions of homology, along with unique regions of DNA sequence (Willson, et al., 1989b).

Since the publication of the paper by Willson, et al., 1989b, some of the areas of pHD148 and pHD8.1 have been sequenced in an attempt to understand how pHD148 and pHD8.1 can replicate within the *Pasteurellaceae*, while RSF1010 cannot, given the homologous nature of the three plasmids. It was found that the regions corresponding to the RSF1010 oriv have been deleted from both pHD148 and pHD8.1 (Albritton, Dixon & Willson, unpublished results). Since genes homologous to the *rep* genes of RSF1010 are present and the plasmids are known to replicate as broad-host-range (Willson, et al., 1989b), the idea that the replication mechanism was possibly other than that of IncQ plasmids is incorrect. The absence of

the oriv region in both pHD8.1 and pHD148 raises the question of whether or not this region interferes with replication of these plasmids in the *Pasteurellaceae*. The 5' end of the pHD148 and pHD8.1 oriv region deletions occur in noncoding sequences (downstrean of the G gene and downstream of the I gene, respectively). Both the H and I genes, responsible for streptomycin resistance, are absent in pHD148 (Albritton, Dixon & Willson, unpublished results).

Sequencing data also revealed that the oriT region of RSF1010 is present in both pHD148 and pHD8.1, but that there are several deletions in that region common to both plasmids, suggesting that pHD148 and pHD8.1 are more related to each other than either are to RSF1010 (Albritton, Dixon & Willson, unpublished results).

In pHD148, the 150 bp region immediately downstream of the G gene has no homology to either pHD8.1 or RSF1010, but does have homology to a region of pGS05 (a 100 kb selftransmissible plasmid, not from the IncQ incompatibility group) which flanks the sulfonamide resistance gene (Rädström, et al., 1991; Albritton, Dixon & Willson, unpublished The DNA sequence immediately upstream of the G gene results). of pHD148 also has homology to the corresponding region of pGS05 (Rädström, et al., 1991; Albritton, Dixon, & Willson, unpublished results). This suggests that the sulII region of pHD148 is more closely related to that of pGS05 than RSF1010. The physical maps of pHD148 and pHD8.1 are shown in Figure 2.

Figure 2. Restriction maps of plasmids RSF1010, pHD8.1, and pHD148.

The map at the top represents the entire RSF1010 plasmid linearized at the PstI site immediately 5' to the sulfonamide resistance gene. The locations of restriction endonuclease sites and genes were determined by Scholz, et al., 1989. The size from 0 to 8.8 kb is indicated by the scale at the bottom.

The maps at the center and bottom represent the plasmids pHD8.1 and pHD148, linearized at the *PstI* site immediately 5' to the sulfonamide resistance gene. The location of restriction endonuclease sites were determined by Willson, 1989. The presence and positions of the genes are approximate, and are based on DNA-DNA hybridizations done by Willson, 1989. Figure 2. Restriction maps of plasmids RSF1010, pHD8.1 and pHD148.



:

3. OTHER NATURALLY OCCURRING PLASMID VECTORS

i. The Plasmid pLS88

A 4.8 kb plasmid from a clinical isolate of *H. ducreyi* conferring resistance to sulfonamides, streptomycin, and kanamycin was isolated in a 1982-1983 study in Thailand (Taylor, et al., 1985) and recently characterized (Willson, et al., 1989a). This broad-host-range plasmid, pLS88, was shown through Southern blotting to have significant homology to the RSF1010 sulfonamide-streptomycin genes, and also to the kanamycin resistance transposon, Tn903 (Willson, et al., 1989a). pLS88 was shown to be from an incompatibility group other than RSF1010 or pDM2 (Willson, et al., 1989a), and is capable of replication in members of the *Enterobacteriaceae* (Willson, et al., 1989a).

It is unlikely that pLS88 replicates by the same mechanism as RSF1010, as the essential *repA*, *repB*, *repC* region of RSF1010 is absent from pLS88 (Willson, et al., 1989a). Since approximately 3.0 of the 4.8 kb of the plasmid is occupied by antibiotic resistance determinants, pLS88 appears to contain a origin of replication that is small in size (thus resembling the structure of narrow-host-range plasmids) and may be more like RK2, which also has a small-sized replicative

origin similar to narrow-host-range plasmids, but replicates as a broad-host-range plasmid (Kues & Stahl, 1989; Thomas & Helinski, 1989). The restriction maps of pLS88 and the deletion derivative pPC100 are shown in Figure 3.

4. RECOMBINANT PLASMID VECTORS

i. Known Vector Systems

There are no commercially available vectors capable of replication in the Pasteurellaceae. Recently, a number of researchers have attempted to create, through cloning, vector systems useful in both the Pasteurellaceae and in other bacterial families. Plasmids pHCV5, pHVT1 (Danner & Pifer, 1982) and pDM2 (McCarthy, et al., 1982) constructed from a naturally occurring H. influenzae plasmid will replicate within H. influenzae and E. coli, but are poorly transformable in Haemophilus sp. due to the lack of an "uptake site", a specific 11 bp sequence which directs preferential uptake of DNA fragments by competent cells during genetic transformation (Danner, et al., 1980). Plasmids pYG53 and pYG54 (a mobilizable derivative of pYG53) were constructed using a naturally occurring plasmid from A. pleuropneumoniae, called

Figure 3. Restriction maps of plasmids pLS88 and pPC100.

Distances from 0 to 4.8 kb are shown on the top line, as well as restriction endonuclease sites determined by Willson, 1989. The map in the center represents the entire pLS88 plasmid linearized at the *PstI* site immediatly 5' to the sulfonamide resistance gene. The bottom map represents the pLS88 deletion derivative pPC100, lined up to correspond with the pLS88 map. The approximate positions of the pLS88 and pPC100 antibiotic resistance genes (open boxes) were determined by Willson, 1989.





pYG10, which is capable of replication in both E. coli and S. typhimurium (Lalonde & O'Hanley, 1989; Lalonde, et al., 1989). Plasmids pJFF224-NX and pJFF224-XN are based on a minimum replicon of RSF1010, chloramphenicol resistance gene, and a gene expression cassette based on the E. coli bacteriophage T. gene 32 promoter region and transcription stop signal, separated by a segment of multiple cloning sites in both orientations. These vectors can replicate in Α. pleuropneumoniae, P. haemolytica and E. coli (Frey, 1992). Plasmids pBAC504, pBAC509 and pBAC64 were created from the origin of replication of the 3.5 kb P. multocida plasmid pBAC1, pUC18, and antibiotic resistance genes from various sites. These plasmids can be introduced efficiently into both P. multocida and E. coli (Bills, et al., 1993).

ii. The plasmid pDM2

RSF0885 is a 5.7 kb Haemophilus ampicillin resistance plasmid (DeGraaf, et al., 1976). Several researchers have utilized the replication machinery of RSF0885 in the construction of new cloning vehicles for use in the *Pasteurellaceae*. One group used the replication origin and ampicillin resistance determinant of RSF0885, coupled with the pBR322 origin (to facilitate replication within *E. coli*), and

tetracycline resistance determinant from either pBR322 (recombinant vector is pHCV5) or from the transposon Tn10 (recombinant vector is pHVT1) for use in transfection of H. influenzae or H. parainfluenzae (Danner & Pifer, 1982). The second group used all of RSF0885 joined to a portion of p2265, a 55 kb H. influenzae conjugative plasmid encoding resistance to tetracycline and chloramphenicol (Albritton, et al., 1981; Albritton & Slaney, 1980), resulting in a 9.8 kb plasmid with two antibiotic resistance genes (McCarthy, et al., 1982). This plasmid, called pDM2, is capable of stable replication within both H. influenzae and E. coli (McCarthy et al., 1982). The restriction maps of RSF0885, p2265 and pDM2 are shown in Figure 4.

RSF0885 has been well studied, and the complete sequence is given in Figure 5 (Chen & Clowes, 1987; Heffron & McCarthy, 1979; Gilbride & Brunton, 1990; Albritton, et al., 1994; Albritton, unpublished results). Work done on resistance gene amplification in H. influenzae plasmids has resulted in a rough map of the tetracycline/chloramphenicol resistance region of p2265, and therefore of pDM2 (Spies, et al., 1983). the resistance genes Organization of and surrounding structures suggests the possibility of a chloramphenicol resistance transposon in Haemophilus sp., although amplification of the chloramphenicol resistance gene in these plasmids was not observed (Spies, et al., 1983).

Figure 4. Restriction map of plasmids RSF0885, p2265 and pDM2.

The map at the top represents the 4.0 kb BamHI fragment of p2265 containing the chloramphenicol resistance gene ("Cm" box). The map in the middle represents the entire RSF0885 plasmid, linearized at one BamHI site. The map at the bottom is pDM2, created from the insertion of the p2265 fragment into the second BamHI site of RSF0885, upstream of the ampicillin resistance gene ("Am" box), as is shown. The locations of restriction endonuclease sites and antibiotic resistance determinants (open boxes) were determined by McCarthy, et al., 1982. The size from 0 to 10.0 kb is indicated by the scale at the bottom. Figure 4. Restriction map of plasmids RSF0885, p2265 and pDM2.



Figure 5. The composite nucleotide sequence of RSF0885.

Portions of the sequence were determined by several groups. Bases 1-485 and 4482-5599 were sequenced by Gilbride & Brunton, 1990. Bases 486-2906 were sequenced by Albritton & Noble (unpublished results). Bases 2906-4563 were sequenced by Heffron & McCarthy, 1979 and Chen & Clowes, 1987. The entire plasmid is 5599 bases in length.

The sequence as shown begins after the second BamHI site (downstream of the ampicillin resistance gene, as seen in Figure 4). The arrows seen from position 106-279 represent repeat sequences of the plasmid origin. The double dashed line following the repeat sequences represent an AT rich region. The 39 K protein sequence, bracketed by a dashed line, begins at position 104 and proceeds leftward to position 4727, and is necessary for plasmid replication (Gilbride & Brunton, 1990).

The sequence between positions 2906-4562 consists of the 3' end of the transposon Tn2, beginning in the middle of the transposon's tnpR gene, encoding a regulator protein, through the ampicillin resistance gene (*bla*), both bracketed by a dashed line, and ending at the left hand inverted repeat of the transposon, indicated by a double dashed arrow (Heffron & McCarthy, 1979).

The BamHI site into which the 4.1 kb p2265 fragment was inserted is indicated by a solid arrow.

Figure 5. The complete nucleotide sequence of RSF0885.

94-	
RSF	ATAGTCCCAATAGTTAAAGCTAAAATTCTGATTTCATCAATACTCAATCGGTAATTGGCT
61	TCCATAAGGCTATTAGCCTTTACAACAACTAAATCATTTGGCATAAGACAACAAATTTCCTGTTTAAAAC
131	ААСАЛБСЛИЛАТАТАССТЕТТЕТТАТАТАТАТАЛАСАЛСАЛЕТАТТТСТТАЛЛАЕТТЕТСТАТАЛСАВЕ
201	AMATTTGTTGTCTTATAACAGGAAATTTGTTGTCGTATAACAGGAAATTTGTTGTCGTATAACAGGAAAT
271	ТТЕТТЕТСЕТАТЛАЕТТТЕТААСТТАТТЕАТТТАСТЕЕТТТААЛААСЕССЕВАЛАСААЕТААЛАЛАСА
341	AMATATATÀTATATAGGACTTTCCCGTCTTTTTTGGGGCTTTCAGCCCTAATTTTTTTT
411	GATTTAAAATTACAAAACCCTTACAGAGCAAGTAAACTTGTTTGCTTGTTCTGCAAGGGTTCAGCAACCG
481	тасссятслаессятадоссятадалассаттталтттатстталасттссттталатс
551	TTTGAGTGGGTGTCTTTTATCGTACTCATCAATCCTTTTTGCATTCTTTCGTTTGCTTTGTGATCGGCA
621	AATTTTGAATAAGATTTTTCCATCTCATCTAACATTCTATCAATCCGTTTTTTATGTTGCCATTTCAGGT
691	АЛАСАТАЛАСАСТТАТАБСААТТАЛАБАСААТАТСААТАСАТТБТАЛАЛАЛАТБАТТБТТАСААТТТСБСТ
761	CACAGTTATTTTTACCTTTTTCAATTTCTTCATTGATAAATGCACTCAATTCATCAAATTTCTTGTCAT
831	CATTGATAAATTTACGCAACTTAGGGAAGTTTCTATCTACATCTAAAAGAGGGGTTATTTAT
901	TAGCCAAAAAGCCCCTAATAAAACCTTGTAATGCGTAGCTTTCTTACGCTTTTCTGCTTGTTCTTTTGAC
971	TTAATCGCACGAATTTTCGCTTTGATTTCGTCCTGCTTGCGTTGTAAATCTGCTTGTTGCTGTTCCAATC
1041	TTGTAAGTTTTTCGCTTGCCATACTAGCCCCCTTTATATAGTTAGAAATTATCGTTATTTAT
1111	TGCTAGGCTTGCAAGTGTTCTGTTCATTACGTTAAAATAACGTAATGCCCACTTATCAGTTTCTCTCGA
1191	GAAACTGGTGGGCAAGCGTACCGCTTGACCGTTTCGCAATACTCAACACTATGGCAATCTATCATTTAAA
1251	CGTTCGCTATTGCAGTAAAAGCAAAGGGCAATCAGCTCAAGCCAAAAACGACTACATCAACCGCAATGAT
1321	ANATATTCANAGCGGTTAGATGATTTACAGTTTTCAGGCTATGGTAATATGCCAAAATTTGCCGAAGATA
1391	ATCCGCAAGAATTTTGGCGATTGTCAGATATTTACGAGCGAG
1461	ATTTGCTTTACCTAGAGAATTAACCCTAGAACAACAGCAAAATTAGTAAGTTCGTTTATAGAAAATACG
1531	GTTGATAGCGGTAGCAATAAAGTACCCTACTCTTTCGCTATCCATACCGATAAAAATAATCATAATCCCC
1601	ATTGTCATTTGATATTTTCAGAACGCCAACTTGACGGCATAGACCGTACAGCCGAGCAGTTTTTTAAACG
1671	TGCTAATACTAAATCCCCCAGAAAAGGGCGGAGCGATGAAAACGGCAGATTTTCGAGATCGTGAGTTTATC
1741	CAATCTGTCCGAAAAACGTGGAGAGAGCAAGCTAATCAAGCCTTAGAGCAATACGGATATGCCGCACGAA
1811	TTGAC GAACGTAGCTACAAGGAACAAGGCATAGAGCAAGCCCCAAGAGCAAGAATTGACAGGGTAACGTG
1881	GCAAGAATTGAACCGATTAGAGCAAGAAGAACGCCAAATCGTGCAAGAGCTTGCACTTAAAGGACAAGAA
1951	ATTAACAAAGAAAAATCCTACTTGCAGAAAATCGAAGAAAAACAGGCTCAAGGAATGGGCAAATATGAAT
2021	CCAAATTCGCAGCTGCGTTTTCTAAATTATCGGAAAGTGCCCTAAAACACGATTTAAGCAACGAAAAAGA

2091	AAAAGACAGTAAAATACACACTCAAGAAGAAAAAGTGCCTCAAAATCGCATTCAGGGGGCTTTCTCAAGCA
2161	GATTTTGATCAGTTTTTAATTGATGAATGGCTACCTCAAATAGAAAAATACGTTAAAGCCCAAGAAAAGC
2231	GGGACGGAATGGAAGTAGAGATCACGCAATACGACAAGGATTTACAGCGTATTCAGGGAGACTATAACAA
2301	GCTCACAGATAAAAATCAGGGTTTTCTCGGTTTATGGGAAACTAAAGAGCAAAAAGCAAAGAAAAAAGA
2371	CTTGAAGATGAATACAAACATACAGCAGGGAGCGGAACGCTAAAAGCCAAGAATTAGCCGAGTATAGCC
2441	ААААААТААААGCATACGAACAGAAAACGCTAGAGCCAATCAACGAGAAGATTGCCAAATATCAAGCTGA
2511	CAACCCTGAAATAAAAATGCGGAGCTTAGGATTTGTGAAAAAAATTAAGGCTCAAGGGGCATATAAAGCG
2581	<u> GCTC/AGAGCGAATGGAGCGAGAAAAACAGCACCAACAGGAAAAACAACAGAGACATTTAGAGCGAGAGA</u>
2651	GTGGTTTGAGCTTGTAGCTAACGCCCTACGCCTACGGCTTCGGTTGTTCAACCCTTAAAGAACTCGCAAC
2721	AAGTTGCAAATTCTTTAAGGGTTCGCAATAAAAACAACCCCTAAACATTTCTGCCCAGCGGTTGAAAATT
2791	TACCTATTCACCATTACAATGATCAAGCAGGAAATTTTTTTGATTGCCGTAAATGTCCGTATATCTAGTT
2861	GAGGCACAACCCGCCAAAGTCATTGCCCCCAACCAGAACGGCGATAAACCGTATATTTACCGATAAGGCAT
2931	CCGGCAGTTCAACAGACCGGGAAGGGCTGGATTTGCTGACGATGAAGGTGGAGGAAGGTGATGTCATTCT
3001	GGTTAAGAAGCTCGACCGTCTTGGCCGCGACACTGCCGATATGATCCAACTGATAAAGGAATTTGACGCT
3071	CAGGGCGTGGCAGTCCGGTTCATTGATGACGGGGATCAGTACCGACGGTGATATGGGGGCAAATGGTGGTCA
3141	CCATCCTGTCGGCTGTGGCACAGGCTGAACGCCGGAGGATCCTAGAGCGCACGAATGAGGGCCGACAGGA
	🕈 BamHI insertion site
3211	➡ BamHI insertion site AGCAAAGCTGAAAGGAATCAAATTTGGCCGCAGGCGTACCGTGGACAGGAACGTCGTGCTGACGCTTCAT
3211 3281	· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	AGCAAAGCTGAAAGGAATCAAATTTGGCCGCAGGCGTACCGTGGACAGGAACGTCGTGCTGACGCTTCAT
3281	AGCAAAGCTGAAAGGAATCAAATTTGGCCGCAGGCGTACCGTGGACAGGAACGTCGTGCTGACGCTTCAT
3281 3351	AGCAAAGCTGAAAGGAATCAAATTTGGCCGCAGGCGTACCGTGGACAGGAACGTCGTGCTGACGCTTCAT CAGAAGAGCACTGGTGCAACGGAAATTGCTCATCAGCTCAGGTATTGCCCGCTCCACGGTTTATAAAATTC TTGAAGACGAAAGGGCCTCGTGATACGCTTATTTTTATAGGTTAATGTCATGATAATAATGGTTTCTTAG
3281 3351 3421	AGCAAAGCTGAAAGGAATCAAATTTGGCCGCAGGCGTACCGTGGACAGGAACGTCGTGCTGACGCTTCAT CAGAAGAGCACTGGTGCAACGGAAATTGCTCATCAGGCTCAGTATTGCCCGCTCCACGGTTTATAAAATTC TTGAAGACGAAAGGGCCTCGTGATACGCTTATTTTTATAGGTTAATGTCATGATAATAATGGTTTCTTAG ACGTCAGGTGGCACTTTTCGGGGGAAATGTGCGCGGGAACCCCTATTTGTTTATTTTCTAAATACATTCAA
3281 3351 3421 3491	AGCAAAGCTGAAAGGAATCAAATTTGGCCGCAGGCGTACCGTGGACAGGAACGTCGTGCTGACGCTTCAT CAGAAGACACTGGTGCAACGGAAATTGCTCATCAGGTTAGGCTCGCGCTCCACGGTTTATAAAATTC TTGGAAGACGAAAGGGCCTCGTGATACGCTTATTTTTATAGGTTAATGTCATGATAATAATGGTTTCTTAG ACGTCAGGTGGCACTTTTCGGGGAAATGTGCGCGGGAACCCCTATTTGTTTATTTTCTAAATAACATTCAA ATATGTATCCGCTCATGAGACAATAACCCTGGTAAATGCTTCAATAATAATGGAAAAAGGAAGAGTATGAG
3281 3351 3421 3491 3561	AGCAAAGCTGAAAGGAATCAAATTTGGCCGCAGGCGTACCGTGGACAGGAACGTCGTGCTGACGCTTCAT CAGAAGAGCACTGGTGCAACGGAAATTGCTCATCAGCTCAGGATATGCCCGCTCCACGGTTTATAAAATTC TTGAAGACGAAAGGGCCTCGTGATACGCTTATTTTTATAGGTTAATGTCATGATAATAATGGTTTCTTAG ACGTCAGGTGGCACTTTTCGGGGAAATGTGCGCGGAACCCCTATTTGTTTATTTTTCTAAATACATTCAA ATATGTATCCGCTCATGAGACAATAACCCTGGTAAATGCTTCAATAATATGAAAAAGGAAGAGTATGAG I
3281 3351 3421 3491 3561 3631	AGCAAAGCTGAAAGGAATCAAATTTGGCCGCAGGCGTACCGTGGACAGGAACGTCGTGCTGACGCTTCAT CAGAAGAGCACTGGTGCAACGGAAATTGCTCATCAGCTCAGGATTGCCCGCTCCACGGTTTATAAAATTC TTGAAGACGAAAGGGCCTCGTGATACGCTTATTTTTATAGGTTAATGTCATGATAATAATGGTTTCTTAG TTGAAGACGAAAGGGCCTCGTGATACGCTTATTTTTATAGGTTAATGTCATGATAATAATGGTTTCTTAG ACGTCAGGTGGCACTTTTCGGGGAAATGTGCGCGGGAACCCCTATTTGTTTATTTTCTAAATAACATTCAA ATATGTATCCGCTCATGAGACAATAACCCTGGTAAATGCTTCAATAATATTGAAAAAGGAAGAGTATGAG I TATTCAACATTTTCGTGTCGCCCTTATTCCCTTTTTTGCGGGCACTGCTCCTGTTTTTGCTCACCCA GAAACGCTGGTGAAAGTAAAAGATGCTGAAGATCAGTTGGGTGCACGAGTGGGGTTACATCGAACTGGATC
3281 3351 3421 3491 3561 3631 3701	AGCAAAGCTGAAAGGAATCAAATTTGGCCGCAGGCGTACCGTGGACAGGAACGTCGTGCTGACGCTTCAT CAGAAGACACTGGTGCAACGGAAATTGCTCATCAGCTCAGTATTGCCCGCTCCACGGTTTATAAAATTC TTGGAAGACGAAAGGGCCTCGTGATACGCTTATTTTTATAGGTTAATGTCATGATAATAATGGTTTCTTAG ACGTCAGGTGGCACTTTTCGGGGAAATGTGCGCGGGAACCCCTATTTGTTATTTTTCTAAATACATTCAA ATATGTATCCGCTCATGAGACAATAACCCTGGTAAATGCTTCAATAATATTGAAAAAGGAAGAGTATGAG I TATTCAACATTTTCGTGTCGCCCTTATTCCCTTTTTTGCGGCACTTCCTGCTTCTTTGCTCACCCA GAAACGCTGGTGAAAGTAAAAGATGCTGAAGATCAGTTGGGGTGCACGAGTGGGGTTACATCGAACTGGATC TCAACAGCGGTAAGATCCTTGAGAGGTTTCGCCCCGAAGAACGTTTTCCAATGATGAAGAACTTTAAAGT TCTGCTATGTGGTGCGGCGTATTATCCCGTGTTGACGCCGGGGCAAGAGCAACTCGGTCGCCGCATACACTAT
3281 3351 3421 3491 3561 3631 3701 3771	AGCAAAGCTGAAAGGAATCAAATTTGGCCGCAGGCGTACCGTGGACAGGAACGTCGTGCTGACGCTTCAT CAGAAGACCTGGTGCAACGGAAATTGCTCATCAGCTCAGTATTGCCCGCCGCACGGGTTTATAAAATTC TTGAAGACGAAAGGGCCTCGTGATACGCTTATTTTTATAGGTTAATGCCGCACGGGTTTCTTAG ACGTCAGGTGGCACTTTTCGGGGAAATGTGCGCGGGAACCCCTATTTGTTTATTTTCTAAATACATTCAA ATATGTATCCGCTCATGAGACAATAACCCTGGTAAATGCTTCAATAATATTGAAAAAGGAAGAGTATGAG I TATTCAACATTTTCGTGTCGCCCCTTATTCCCTTTTTTGCGGCACGAGTGGGTTACATCGAACTGGATC GAAACGCTGGTGAAAGTAAAAGATGCTGAAGATCAGTTGGGTGCACGAGTGGGGTTACATCGAACTGGATC GAAACGCTGGTGAAAGTACCTTGAAGATCAGTTGGGTGCACGAGTGGGTTACATCGAACTGGATC TCCAACAGCGGTAAAAGATGCTGAAGATCAGTTGGGTGCACGAGTGGGTTACATCGAACTGGATC TCCACGCGGTAAAAGATGCTTGAGAGTTTTCCCCAATGATGAGAGCACTTTTAAAGT TCTGCTATGTGGTGCGGTATTATCCCGTGTTGACGCCGGGAAGAGCAACTCGGTCGCCGCATACACTAT

4051	GAGCTGAATGAAGCCATACCAAACGACGAGGGTGACACCACGATGCCTGCAGCAATGGCAACAACGTTGC
4121	GCAAACTATTAACTGGCGAACTACTTACTCTAGCTTCCCGGCAACAATTAATAGACTGGATGGA
191	TAAAGTTGCAGGACCACTTCTGCGCTCGGCCCTTCCGGCTGGCT
261	GGTGAGCGTGGGTCTCGCGGTATCATTGCAGCACTGGGGCCAGATCGTAAGCCCTCCCGTATCGTAGTTA
331	TCTACACGACGGGGAGTCAGGCAACTATGGATGAACGAAATAGACAGATCGCTGAGATAGGTGCCTCACT
101	GATTAAGCATTGGTAACTGTCAGACCAAGTTTACTCATATATACTTTAGATTGATT
171	TAATTTAAAAGGACTAGGTGAAGATCCTTTTTGATAATCTCATGACCAAAATCCCTTAACGTGAGTTTTC
541	GTTCCACTGAGCGTCAGACCCCTATCTATAAACTCTTGGCTTGGTTCTAATCCCTCTAAACGATTATTAT
511	CAATAGCCGCTCTAACCGCTTTTTCTCGGCTTAATTTTTCTGTCTCTGTTATAAAATTGCTATTCATCTT
681	GTTCTTCTTCAAAAAAAAGTTAAGTAAAATACCTACCTAAATTTTTACTAGTTCGCAATCTACGAGCTTA
51	TAACCTCGTTTTTTCAATTCATTTAAAAAATCAGATTTTGAGCCTAATTTTGATCTATTGCTATCGTTAC
21	CCGCTAGAAATACCCAGTAATTACGCAAATCTTCATTGGTAACTTTCGTAATATCGGTGTAATGATCTTC
91	GAGTATTTTTAAGCAATCTCTAGCCCATAAACCGTACTCGTGATTGCTCATCTTAGGGTTTTGCTTATCG
61	AGTTTGACGAACTTCCCATACTTGTTTTTATGTGGAAATACTGGCCGTTTTGCAACTTCTTCAATTTTTT
31	GAGCTGTTCGTTTTTTACTACCAATCACAAAATTTAAAGAGTGAATAGTACGCCCACGCTTGATTTGTTC
01	AACCTCAACGACTAAATCAGATTTCTCGTTAATCTCAGTTATTGCAGGTTCCAAAACACGTTGATTTAAT
71	GAATTAAATCTAGGGTATTTATTTTCAACCTGAAGCCATTCTTTAGTTTTTCTACTGTAATTTCACGAC
41	TACCAACAGAGCGATATTGTGTAATTAGCTCATAAATTCGAATTGAATGTACACTGTTGAAATAAGAGAT
11	ATGTTTGAGTTGATATTGCGTGAATTGCCCTTTAAGTTGCGTTAGGTATGGCATAACTTCATCAGTCATT
81	GCAATTCTAAAACGCCCCTCTTTCTTGAAATATGTTCTAGAGGAAACCCAACGAAATTCAGTTACACGGT
51	CTTTATCTTCAGTTTTAACACTTCGGTCATAAATCCGTTTTATAGCCGCCTGAATTTGCTTATAGGCGTT
21	ATCTTGGCTTATTTCTGGAAACTCACGGACAAAATCAGCCACCGTAAAATCAAAAATCTTTTGATTACAT
91	TTCGGATCC

5591 TTCGGATCC <----

.

iii. The Plasmids pPW87 and pPW88

The restriction endonuclease maps of the large conjugative IncW plasmid pSa, originally isolated from an epidemic strain of Shigella (Ireland Valentine, 1983; 1985; Tait, et al., 1982) indicate that PstI digestion produces 3 fragments (33, 3.3 and 2.1 kb). However, other researchers have demonstrated the existence of an E. coli strain containing a heterologous population of pSa which produces 4 PstI fragments, with a doublet at 3.2/3.5 kb (Willson, 1989). On solid media, the two forms segregate in single colony isolates, each containing homologous plasmid populations (Willson, 1989). The plasmid containing the larger fragment was designated pSa* (Willson, 1989).

The plasmids pPW87 and pPW88 were constructed by replacing the 0.8 kb PstI fragment of pLS88 (containing the sulfonamide resistance gene) with the chloramphenicol resistance gene contained within the 3.2 kb (pPW87) or 3.5 kb (pPW88) PstI fragment of pSa and pSa*, respectively (Willson, 1989; Willson, et al., 1989a). Restriction maps of pPW87 and pPW88 are shown in Figure 6. Interestingly, deletions occurred in both pPW87 and pPW88 when placed in H. influenzae or A. pleuropneumoniae and maintained in an environment containing specific antibiotics. When chloramphenicol resistance was selected for, no deletions occurred. However,

Figure 6. Restriction map of plasmids pLS88, pSa, pPW87 and pPW88.

The map at the top represents the entire pLS88 plasmid, linearized at the *PstI* site immediately 5' to the sulfonamide resistance gene. The map in the center represents a part of the pSa plasmid containing most of the plasmid's restriction sites, antibiotic resistance determinants, and conjugal transfer region, and is based on work done by Ireland Valentine, 1985 and Tait, et al., 1982. The bottom map represents the entire of pPW87, created by the replacement of the 0.8 kb *PstI/PstI* fragment of pLS88 with the *PstI/PstI* fragment from pSa. The region of pSa within the *PstI/PstI* fragment which contains two long repeat sequences is indicated by the numbered boxes below the map.

The plasmid pPW88 was created as per pPW87, using the plasmid pSa*, which contains a third repeat sequence. This is seen on the pSa* and pPW88 restriction endonuclease maps as three XhoI-AvaI sites (not shown).

The size from 0 to 9.0 kb is indicated by the scale at the bottom.

Figure 6. Restriction map of plasmids pLS88, pSa, pPW87 and pPW88.



when streptomycin resistance was selected for, the chloramphenicol resistance gene was deleted; when kanamycin resistance was selected for, the chloramphenicol resistance gene was sometimes deleted (Willson, 1989). Recently, the chloramphenicol resistance gene of pSa was recognized to be within the In6 integron (Stokes, et al., 1993; Ireland Valentine, 1985); it is possible that the above deletions in pPW87 and pPW88 are as a result of integron structures cloned into pLS88 along with the chloramphenicol resistance gene.

II. THE PROBLEM: DEVELOPMENT OF VECTOR SYSTEMS FOR STUDY WITHIN THE PASTEURELLACEAE

There are no commercially available vector systems for genetic analysis of bacteria within the *Pasteurellaceae*. Because of the importance of these bacteria in diseases of both animals and humans, the broadening of our knowledge of pathogenic mechanisms, DNA transfer systems, and metabolic systems through genetic study is desireable.

The first step in the development of genetic tools for DNA and gene analysis is to find indigenous plasmids, hopefully containing one or more marker genes, and having a host range including bacteria outside the *Pasteurellaceae*. The plasmids pHD8.1, pHD148, and pLS88 have all of these characteristics. The recombinant plasmids pDM2 and pPW87/88 have been altered to conform to these characteristics.

The next step is to increase our knowledge of the genetic makeup of these plasmids. The gene organization should be understood, delineating essential from nonessential genes and DNA structures. Promoter regions, and replication regions and mechanisms should be mapped and studied. The presence and structure of special genetic elements, including transposons and integrons, should be investigated, as these can be useful additions to a vector system.

This study reports work undertaken to characterize

several plasmid vectors and genetic elements that may be useful as tools for genetic analysis of members of the Pasteurellaceae.

III. MATERIALS AND METHODS

A. BACTERIA AND PLASMIDS

The plasmids and bacteria that were used in this study are listed in table 2.

Table 2.	Bacterial	strains	and	plasmids	used	in	this	study.
----------	-----------	---------	-----	----------	------	----	------	--------

HOST	VECTOR	PHENOTYPE	SOURCE			
ENTEROBACTERIACEAE						
Escherichia coli						
ATCC 33694	ND*	Su^s , Sm^s , Km^s	American Type Culture Collection			
JM105	ND	${ m Su}^{ m s}$, ${ m Sm}^{ m s}$, ${ m Km}^{ m s}$	Albritton, EC184			
EC110	RSF1010	Su ^r , Sm ^r	Albritton, EC184			
SM159	AP101	Sm ^r , Ap ^r	R. Gill			
SM158	AP111	Su ^r , Ap ^r	R. Gill			
EC111	pHD148	Su ^r	Albritton, C600			
EC186	pHD8.1	Su', Sm'	Willson, AP37			
EC196	pLS88	Su ^r , Sm ^r , Km ^r	Slaney, <u>H. ducreyi</u> CH37			
EC301	pPC100	Sm ^r	Willson, HI18			
EC253	RSF0885	Am ^r	Willson, EC174			

EC005	pDM2	Am ^r , Cm ^r	J.K. Setlow			
EC180	pSa/pSa*	Cm ^r , Sm ^r , Km ^r	Albritton, J53			
EC198	pPW88	Cm ^r , Km ^r	Willson, EC196			
Salmonella (typhimurium					
LT2	ND	Su ^s , Sm ^s , Km ^s	Salmonella Stock Culture			
Proteus mira	abílis					
UAH30	ND	Su^{s} , Sm^{s} , Km^{s}	clinical isolate			
PASTEURELLA	CEAE					
Haemophilus	influenzae					
HI14	ND	Nv^r , Sm^s	Albritton, Rd^{Nv}			
SM59	p2265	Tc^r , Cm^r , Nv^r	Albritton, Rd^{Nv}			
Actinobacillus lignierissii						
ATCC 19393	ND	Sm ^s	American Type Culture Collection			
Pasteurella	multocida					
UAH40	ND	Sm [°]	clinical isolate			
PSEUDOMONACEAE						
Pseudomonas	aeruginosa					
DGI	ND	Sm⁵	clinical isolate			
CAMPYLOBACTER						
Campylobacter jejuni						
UA58 0	ND	Sm ^s	clinical isolate, D. Taylor			
Helicobacter pylori						
UA877	ND	${\tt Sm}^{s}$	clinical isolate, D. Taylor			

STREPTOCOCCACEAE
Streptococcus pneumoniae								
UAH	50	ND	Sm ^s	clinical isolate				
Ente	Enterococcus faecalis							
ATCC	29212	ND	Sm [°]	American Type Culture Collection				
MICROCOCCACEAE								
Stapl	hylococc	us aureus						
ATCC	25923	ND	Sm ³	American Type Culture Collection				

*ND - None Detected

B. MEDIA AND GROWTH CONDITIONS

Solid media used in this study consisted of 5% sheep's blood agar (Gibmar). For the cultivation of X- and V-factor requiring strains, chocolatized sheep's blood agar was used (Gibmar). Proteus sp. was grown on MacConkey agar (Gibmar) to prevent swarming. Liquid media for all uses consisted of BHI broth (Gibco).

Cultures were incubated at $35 \,^{\circ}$ C for 18 to 24 h. Members of the *Pasteurellaceae* were incubated in an atmosphere containing 5% CO₂. Cultures in liquid broth were agitated vigorously (100-150 rpm) during incubation.

C. ANTIBIOTICS

Antibiotics were incorporated into both liquid and solid media for the purposes of plasmid selection and plasmid maintenance. The concentrations of antibiotics that were used in the media are listed below:

	Solid Media		Liquid	Media
Ampicillin	25	µg/ml	100	µg/ml
Chloramphenicol	15	µg/ml	50	µg/ml
Kanamycin	25	µg/ml	100	µg/ml
Streptomycin	25	μ g/ml	100	µg/ml

D. ISOLATION OF BACTERIAL DNA

1. RAPID SMALL-SCALE PLASMID PREPARATION

5.0 ml of BHI broth supplemented with the appropriate antibiotic was inocculated with a single bacterial colony using a straight wire and incubated 16-18 hours at 35°C. As per the method of Takahashi and Nagano (Takahashi & Nagano, 1984), 1.5 ml of the turbid broth was transferred into an Eppendorf tube and centrifuged in a microfuge (Eppendorf 5414)

for 5 minutes. The supernatant was aspirated and the cell pellet was suspended by vortexing in 200 μ l of a solution containing 40 mM Tris-acetate, 2 mM EDTA, pH 8.0. 400 µl of a lysing solution containing 2% (w/v) SDS, 50 mM Tris stock, and 0.2 N NaOH was added, and the tubes were inverted 10 times, then incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes. 300 μ l of a cold (4°C) neutralizing solution containing 3.0 M sodium acetate-acetic acid (pH 5.5) was then added, and the tubes were inverted 20 times, then incubated at 0°C for 5 The tubes were then centrifuged at room temperature minutes. for 5 minutes, stored at 0°C for 5 minutes, and centrifuged at 0°C for 10 minutes. The supernatant was decanted to a new tube and an equal volume of chloroform (approximately 700 μ) The tubes were shaken briefly and centrifuged at was added. 500 μ l of the aqueous layer was 0°C for 3 minutes. transferred to a new tube and 1.0 ml of -20°C ethanol was The tubes were inverted 10 times and incubated at 0°C added. for 5 minutes, and then centrifuged for 5 minutes to collect the plasmid precipitate. The supernatant was removed and the pellet dissolved in a 25 μ l solution containing 10 mM Trisacetate and 2 mM EDTA, pH 8.0.

2. LARGE-SCALE PLASMID PREPARATION

A 1000 ml sterile flask (Pyrex) containing 500 ml of BHI broth with the appropriate antibiotic was inoculated with a single colony, and incubated in a shaking incubator at 35°C for 12 to 15 hours. As per the method by Sambrook, et al. (Sambrook, et al., 1989), the turbid broth was transferred into a centrifuge bottle and spun at 6 000 g for 5 minutes. The supernatant was removed and the cell pellet was suspended in 10 ml of a solution containing 50 mM glucose, 25 mM Trischloride, 10 mM EDTA, pH 8.0 by pipetting up and down vigorously. 1.0 ml of a 10 mg/ml solution of lysozyme in TE (pH 8.0), and 20 ml of a solution containing 0.2 N NaOH and 1% (w/v) SDS were added, and the contents of the bottles were mixed by gentle inversion. The bottles were stored at room temperature for 10 minutes. 15 ml of a 0°C solution containing 3.0 M potassium acetate in 11.5% (v/v) acetic acid was added, the contents of the bottles were mixed thoroughly by shaking, and incubated at 0°C for 10 minutes. Following incubation, the bacterial lysate was centrifuged at 3,500 g for 20 minutes at 4°C, allowing the rotor to stop without braking. The supernatant was filtered through 4 layers of cheesecloth into two 50 ml conical tubes, 0.6 volumes of isopropanol was added, and following vortexing, stored at room temperature for 10 minutes. The mixture was centrifuged at 3,500 g for 20 minutes at room temperature, the supernatant was removed, and the pellet was washed with 70% ethanol. After the pellet was allowed to dry, it was dissolved in 3.0

ml TE (pH 8.0). 3.0 ml of 0°C 5 M LiCl was added, the solution was mixed by vortexing, and centrifuged at 3,500 g for 20 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was transferred to a fresh 50 ml conical tube and an equal volume of isopropanol The solution was vortexed, and centrifuged at 3 was added. 500 g for 20 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was removed, and the pellet was washed with 70% ethanol and allowed to dry. The pellet was dissolved in 500 μ l of a solution containing TE (pH 8.0) with 20 μ g/ml bovine pancreatic RNAse and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes in an Eppendorf tube. 500 μ l a 1.6 M NaCl, 13% (w/v) PEG 8000 solution was added. The mixture was vortexed, then centrifuged at 12,000 g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was removed by aspiration and the pellet dissolved in 350 ml of TE (pH 8.0). The solution was extracted with equal volumes of phenol (pH 8.0), then phenol:chloroform (1:1), then chloroform. The aqueous phase was transferred to a new micgofuge tube and 150 μ l of 10 M The solution was vortexed well, ammonium acetate was added. 1.0 ml of ethanol was added, and the mixture incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. The DNA was then pelleted by centrifugation at 12,000 g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was removed by aspiriation, washed with 70% ethanol, allowed to dry, then dissolved in 720 μ l of sterile distilled deionized water.

The plasmid DNA was purified by CsCl-density gradient

centrifugation as described by Garger, et al. (Garger, et al., 1983). The DNA solution was mixed with 1.26 g of CsCl, 120 μ l of 10 mg/ml ethidium bromide was added, and the resultant solution was placed in a 2.2 ml polyallomar Quick Seal tube, layered beneath 1.6 ml of 65% (w/v) CsCl. The remaining tube volume was filled with mineral oil, and the tube was sealed. CsCl density gradients were formed by centrifugation in the Beckman table top TL-100 ultracentrifuge for at least 4 hours at 100,000 rpm, acceleration set at "5", and deceleration at "0". Banding patterns were observed using a Wood's lamp, and the plasmid-containing band (the lower band) was removed using The ethidium bromide was removed a needle and syringe. through extraction with water saturated n-butanol. The DNAcontaining solution was transferred to a 50 ml conical tube. Two volumes of TE (pH 8.0) was added, and the solution was brought to 0.3 M sodium acetate using a 3.0 M stock (pH 5.5). One volume of isopropanol was added, and the mixture was frozen on dry ice. After thawing, the solution was centrifuged at 3,500 g for 1.5 hours. The supernatant was removed, the pellet washed with 70% ethanol, and allowed to dry. The dry pellet was dissolved in 150 μ l of TE (pH 8.0).

E. AGAROSE GEL ELECTROPHORESIS

Agarose was used at 0.8%, unless otherwise specified, in 0.5 TBE buffer (5 x TBE is 0.45 M Tris base [54 g/1], 0.45 M boric acid [27.5g/l], and 0.01 M EDTA [20 ml of 0.5 M EDTA, pH 8.0]) with 100 μ g/l ethidium bromide. The agarose suspension (0.8 g in 100 ml 0.5 x TBE) was boiled until the agarose dissolved, cooled to approximately 60°C, ethidium bromide was added, and poured into either a 10 x 15 cm or a 8 x 10 cm plastic gel-casting tray (Bio-Rad) containing a 1 mm thick comb. After the gel had set, the comb was removed and the gel appropriately sized "mini-sub" submerged in an was electrophoresis cell (Bio-Rad) containing 0.5 x TBE with ethidium bromide. Samples of DNA to be electrophoresed were combined with a 6 x gel loading buffer (0.25% bromphenol blue, 0.25% xylene cyanol FF, and 40% (w/v) sucrose in water) and placed in the gel wells using a micropipette (Gilson) with a disposable tip. The electrophoresis system was run using a constant voltage (100 V, unless otherwise specified) for 1 to 1.5 hours. Bands of DNA were visualized by illumination with Photographs were taken by long-wave ultraviolet light. exposure to type 55 film gel, an orange celophane filter, and f = 4.5 for 20 to 30 seconds.

Bands with DNA to be used in further experiments were excised with a scalpel and placed in an Eppendorf tube with 3.0 volumes of NaI (6 M). After the agarose was dissolved (65°C for 5 minutes), 10 μ l of "Glassmilk" (a silica matrix, Bio 101) was added. After 15 minutes at room temperature, the

matrix and bound DNA was pelleted by centrifugation in a microfuge, washed 3 times with "New" wash (a solution of NaCl/Tris/ethanol/EDTA, Bio 101), and eluted 3 times in 10 μ l of 0.1 x TE, pH 8.0. The eluates were combined, and spun to pellet residual silica matrix. The DNA was stored at - 20°C until used.

F. POLYACRYLAMIDE GEL ELECTROPHORESIS

Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (12% and 20%) was used to separate protein products of *in vitro* translation of pLS88, pPC100 and pPW88. A 1.5 mm spacer was clamped between 2 clean glass plates (18 x 16 cm) and assembled in a casting stand (Bio-Rad). As per the method of Sambrook, et al. (Sambrook, et al., 1989), the resolving gel solutions (30 ml) were composed of the following:

water	<u>12% gel</u> 9.9 ml	<u>20% gel</u> 1.9 ml
29% (w/v) acrylamide/1% (w/v) N,N'-methylenebisacrylamide	12.0 ml	20.0 ml
1.5 M Tris (pH 8.8)	7.5 ml	7.5 ml
10% SDS	0.3 ml	0.3 ml
10% ammonium persulfate	0.3 ml	0.3 ml
TEMED	0.012 ml	0.012 ml

The solutions were poured between the plates, and allowed to set for 30 minutes. The stacking gel (5%, 10 ml) was composed of the following:

water	6.7 ml
29% (w/v) acrylamide/1% (w/v) N,N'-methylenebisacrylamide	1.7 ml
1.5 M Tris (pH 8.8)	1.25 ml
10% SDS	0.1 ml
10% ammonium persulfate	0.1 ml
TEMED	0.01 ml

The solution was poured between the plates, a comb was inserted, and polymerization was allowed to occur at room When polymerization was complete (about 45 temperature. minutes), the comb was removed and the wells washed with The gel was placed in a vertical gel distilled water. electrophoresis system (Bio-Rad 220) containing a Tris-glycine buffer (25 mM Tris, 250 mM glycine (pH 8.3), 0.1% (w/v) SDS) and air bubbles adhering to the bottom of the gel were removed. Samples (usually 10-15 μ) diluted 1:1 with loading buffer (0.08 M Tris-HCl (pH 6.8), 0.1 M DTT, 2% (w/v) SDS, 10% (v/v) glycerol, 0.1 mg/ml bromphenol blue) were heated to 100°C for 5 minutes to denature the protein, and loaded into wells using a micropipette (Gilson) and disposable tip. An electric potential of 150 VDC was used to move the dye front into the stacking gel, and then a constant current of 28 mA was used to electrophorese the proteins through the resolving

gel (3-4 hours). At the end of the electrophoresis, the current was turned off, the plates were separated, and the gel fixed in 5-10 volumes of 7% acetic acid for about 15 minutes (until the bromphenol blue had turned yellow). The gel was washed briefly in deionized water, placed flat on dry Whatman 3 mm filter paper, covered with Saran Wrap, and dried using a gel dryer (model SE 1160, Hoefer Scientific Instruments) at low heat (50-65°C). Visualization of the protein bands was achieved through autoradiography, detecting the $L-[^{35}S]$ methionine label incorporated into the protein products during translation. Protein standards used were $[^{14}C]$ methylated rainbow markers (mw 14.3-200kDa) from Amersham Inc. The dried gel was exposed to Kodak X-OMAT XAR-5 8" x 10" film at room temperature, and developed after 24 hours.

G. ENZYMATIC REACTIONS INVOLVING DNA

1. RESTRICTION ENDONUCLEASE DIGESTION

The enzymes used in this study were obtained from either New England Biolabs or Boehringer Mannheim Corp. Digestion buffers and temperatures were as recommended by the manufacturers.

2. LIGATION

Fragments of DNA to be ligated were separated by agarose gel electrophoresis and recovered by extraction from the gel as previously described. T4 DNA ligase was obtained from Boehringer Mannheim Corp., and the ligation reaction buffer was as recommended by the manufacturer. The reaction was allowed to proceed at 14°C for 20-24 hours.

3. DNA TRANSLATION

DNA transcription and translation of pLS88, pPC100, and pPW88 was done using the *E. coli In vitro* Prokaryotic Translation kit, following the recommendations of the manufacturer (Amersham), following the procedure for L-[S]methionine labeling of protein products.

H. TRANSFORMATION

DNA transformation of bacteria was done via electroporation (Bio-Rad Gene Pulser). Bacteria grown in

broth or on solid media for 16 hours were suspended in electroporation buffer (EPB: 0.3 M sucrose, 0.3 mM Na HPO, 0.2 mM KH,PO4, 19% glycerol), and washed in EPB 3 times. Following the last wash, the bacterial pellet was suspended in 150 μ l of 4°C EPB, and stored on ice. 60 μ l of the bacterial suspension was mixed with approximately $1\mu g$ of plasmid DNA and 375 μl of cold EPB. The suspension was placed in a chilled 0.2 cm gap sterile cuvette (Bio-Rad) and immediately electroporated, using a 2.5 kV pulse, 400 Ω , 25 μ F. The bacterial solution was immediately pipetted into 1.0 ml of nonselective GCT media (for the Pasteurellaceae) or BHI broth (for all other bacteria), and incubated at 35°C for 90 minutes. A negative control, containing no plasmid DNA, was run in parallel with plasmid-containing bacterial solutions. Following incubation, the bacterial cultures were centrifuged in a microfuge for 3 minutes. The bacterial pellets were resuspended in approximately 90 μ l of EPB (total volume of the solution was 100 μ l). 20 μ l of the electroporated cells were plated to each of 5 CA (for the Pasteurellaceae) or MacConkey agar (for Proteus sp.) or BAP (all other bacteria) containing the appropriate selective antibiotic. The negative controls were resuspended in EPB to a total volume of 100 μ l, and 10 μ l of the suspension was used to create 10^{-3} , 10^{-5} and 10^{-7} dilutions. 10 μ l of the control suspension and the three dilutions were plated to the appropriate solid media with and without the

selective antibiotic, to check for the development of spontaneous conversion to antibiotic resistance, and also to estimate the number of bacterial cells surviving the electroporation. All bacterial plates were incubated at 35°C in air, or, in the case of the *Pasteurellaceae*, in 5% CO. After a 24 hour incubation, the bacterial colonies from the negative control, nonselective plates were counted and the number of surviving cells determined. Selective plates were examined for the presence of transformed bacteria, colonies counted, and appropriate colonies were subcultured for plasmid screening.

I. DNA SEQUENCING

1. PREPARATION OF OLIGONUCLEOTIDE AND PLASMID DNA

Oligonucleotide sequences for pLS88, pHD148, pHD8.1, pPC100, pDM2, and pPW88 were taken from known FSF1010, Tn916 and cat gene sequences. Primers were 18-22 bases in length, approximately 50% G-C in content, and were synthesized onto premade columns using the Applied Biosystems Inc. PCR-MATE 391 DNA Synthesizer. Following synthesis, the oligonucleotides were eluted from the columns using 3.0 ml of ammonium

hydroxide over 2.5-3 hours. The eluted DNA was incubated overnight at 56°C to remove all protective groups from the nucleotides. Following incubation, the DNA solution was dried down in a speed vac (2-3 hours), and resuspended in 200 μ l of deionized water. The concentration of the oligonucleotide in pmol/ μ l was calculated using the absorbance of a 1/500 dilution measured at 260 nm. It was assumed that 1 A₂₆₀= 30 μ g/ml of single-stranded DNA, and that the average molecular weight of a base of DNA was 330 g/mol. A 3.2 pmol/ μ l dilution of oligonucleotide DNA in deionized water was needed for the sequencing reaction.

Plasmid DNA concentration was calculated using the absorbance of a dilution (1/200 to 1/500, as appropriate) measured at 260 nm. It was assumed that 1 A_{260} = 45 µg/ml of double stranded DNA. A 200 ng/µl dilution of double stranded plasmid DNA in TE was needed for the sequencing reaction.

2. SEQUENCING

DNA sequencing was accomplished by primer extension into unknown regions. Automated double stranded sequencing of both DNA strands was done *via* cycle sequencing, using the Applied Biosystems dye terminator system, and was done by Perry

D'Obrenan at the University of Alberta Biochemistry sequencing Double stranded template DNA was mixed with the lab. sequencing primer, 4 deoxynucleotide triphosphates (dATP, dye-labeled dGTP), fluorescent dCTP, and dTTP, dideoxynucleotide triphosphate sequence terminators (ddATP is green, ddTTP is red, ddCTP is blue, and ddGTP is yellow), sequenase, and buffer, according to the instructions of the manufacturer (Applied Biosystems, Inc.). All four sequencing reactions were done in one tube. The PCR cycle consisted of 1 minute (denaturation) at 94°C, 2 minutes (annealing) at 50°C, and 3 minutes (extension) at 72°C, for 30 cycles. After the last cycle, a final 10 minutes (extension) at 72°C was performed.

Following cycle sequencing, the reaction mixture was loaded onto a polyacrylamide gel, prepared according to the manufacturers instructions (Applied Biosystems, Inc.) and electrophoresed in the model 373A DNA automated sequencing system. The dye-labeled terminators were detected using scanning laser technology, and data collected on the system software (Applied Biosystems, Inc.).

Analysis of DNA sequence data was done using the IBM computer program PCGENE, release 6.7.

J. CREATION OF DNA-DNA HETERODUPLEXES AND ELECTRON MICROSCOPY

pHD148 DNA cut with SacII was mixed with equal amounts of pHD8.1 DNA cut with SacI, to a combined DNA concentration of 0.015 μ g/ml. The DNA was denatured in 0.1 M NaOH, 20 mM EDTA (pH 12.5) in a 10 minute incubation at room temperature. Renaturation occurred in a 0.3 M Tris (pH 7.5) and 60% formamide over a three hour period. Cytochrome C was added to a final concentration of 50 μ g/ml, and the DNA was spread onto a hypophase of 10% formamide in 10 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 1 mM EDTA. The DNA was picked up onto parlodion film attached to EM grids, stained with ethanolic uranyl acetate, rinsed with ethanol and isopentane, and allowed to dry. Following rotary shadowing with 20 Å platinum/carbon at an angle of 8° on a Balzers BA511M metal evaporation system, the DNA was viewed in a Philip's EM420 at 80 kV and photographs were taken with the combined STEM system (Davis, et al., 1971).

DNA lengths were measured using a computer-driven scanner apparatus. A total of 149 molecules were measured to ensure identity of the pictured DNA. The variance of molecules measured ranged from 117-285 map units, a +/- percentage error of 0.9-2.1%.

IV. RESULTS

A. PLASMID pLS88

1. HOST RANGE

The host range of pLS88 was suprisingly broad; the plasmid was successfully maintained in a variety of gramnegative hosts. pLS88 was not found to be stably maintained in the gram-positive hosts tested in this study. The host range and electroporation efficiency of pLS88 are given in Table 3.

electroporation.					
Bacterial Strains Transformed	Efficiency of Transformation [®]				
Gram-negative					
Enterobacteriaceae					
Escherichia coli HB101	3.9 x 10 ⁴				
Salmonella typhimurium LT2	3.3 x 10 ⁴				
Proteus mirabilis (clinical isolate)	4.8 x 10 [°]				

Table 3. Transformation of bacteria with pLS88 by

Pasteurellaceae			
Haemophilus influenzae Rd	6.2	x	10 ²
Actinobacillus lignieressii ATCC 19393	7.2	x	10 ²
Pasteurella multocida (clinical isolate)	2.7	x	10 ³
Pseudomonaceae			
Pseudomonas aeruginosa DGI	8.3	x	10 ²
Campylobacter			
Campylobacter jejuni (clinical isolate)		0	
Helicobacter pylori (clinical isolate)		0	
<u>Gram-positive</u>			
Streptococcaceae			
Streptococcus pneumoniae (clinical isolate)		0	
Enterococcus faecalis ATCC 29212		0	
Micrococcaceae			
Staphylococcus aureus ATCC 25923		0	

"# transformants/ μ g DNA

2. SEQUENCES OF pLS88 AND pPC100

The size of pLS88 was 4,772 bp, and the deletion derivative, pPC100, was 1,838 bp. The complete nulceotide sequences of both pLS88 and pPC100 were determined and are given in Figure 7.

The sulfonamide and streptomycin A resistance genes of pLS88 (Figure 7, bases 108-899 and 944-1747, respectively) had nucleotide sequences with 99% homology to RSF1010 sequences. The protein translation sequence of the pLS88 sulfonamide Figure 7. The complete nucleotide sequence of plasmids pLS88 and pPC100.

The sequence is numbered from the beginning of the PstIsite immediately upstream of the sulfonamide resistance genes. The sulfonamide, streptomycin A and kanamycin resistance genes are indicated by the encoded amino acid sequences below the nucleotide sequence line. Note that the streptomycin A resistance gene begins with a TTG start codon. Known promoters are bracketed, and the direction of transcription indicated by arrows. Unique areas of pLS88 and areas of pLS88 having homology with other plasmid sequences are indicated by dashed lines. The pLS88 ori region is highlighted by the icon " \checkmark ". pPC100 sequence is bordered by arrows; the crossover points are highlighted by the icon " \downarrow ". An asterisk indicates a stop codon.

Figure 7. The complete nucleotide sequence of plasmids pLS88 and pPC100.

1 CTGCAGCTAATGGATCACCGCAAACAGGTTACTCGCCTGGGGATTCCCTTTCGACCCGAGCATCCGTATG ----- RSF1010 sul II upstream region -- LP6 ------ LP6

141 AACATAACCTCGGACAGTTTCTCCGATGGAGGCCGGTATCTGGCGCCAGACGCAGTCGCGCAGGCGC N I T S D S F S D G G R Y L A P D A A I A Q A R

351 GTCTCGCTCGACAGTTATCAACCCGCGACGCCAAGCCTATGCCCTGTCGCGTGGTGTGGCCTATCTCAATG V S L D S Y Q P A T Q A Y A L S R G V A Y L N D

421 ATATTCGCGGTTTTCCAGACGCTGCGTCGTATCCGCCAAATCATCGCCAAATCATCGCCAAACTCGTCGTTAT I R G F P D A A F Y P Q L A K S S A K L V V M

491 GCATTCGGTGCAAGACGGGCAGGCAGGCAGGCGGGGGGCACCCGCTGGCGACATCATGGATCACATTGCG H S V Q D G Q A D R R E A P A G D I M D H I A

631 CCGGCATGGGGGTTTTTTCTGGGGGCTGCTCCGAAACCTCGCTCCGGTGCTGGCGGGGTTCGATGAATT G M G F F L G A A P E T S L S V L A R F D E L

pFC100 -->

771 CGTGGTCCGGGGATGTCGGGGCCGCGCGCAGCACGCCGCAGCTGACTT R G P G N S G P R H S L Q S L P P P Q V E L T S

841 CATCCGCACACGAGCCGCGCCCCTTGCGCGACGGGGCGGGGGTGTTGGCGGCGCGCGGGGGCGCGCA S A H T S R A P C A T G W R Y W R R *

981 TCTGACTGGTTGCCTGTCAGAGGCGGAGAATCCGGTGATTTTGTTTTTCGACGTGGTGACGGGGCATGCCT S D W L P V R G G E S G D F V F R R G D G H A F

1051 TCGCGAAAATCGCACCTGCTGCCGCCGCGGTGAGCTCGCTGGAGAGCGTGACCGCCTCATTTGGCTCAA A K I A P A S R R G E L A G E R D R L I W L K

۰.

1121 AGGTCGAGGTGTGGCTTGCCCCGAGGTGATCAACTGGCAGGAGGAGGAGGGGGGGG
1191 ACGGCAATTCCGGGGAGTACCGGCGGCTGATCTGTCTGGAGCGGATTTGCTCAAAGCGTGGCCGTCAATGG T A I D G V P A A D L S G A D L L K A W P S M G
1261 GGCAGCAACTTGGCGCTGTTCACAGCCTATCGGTTGATCAATGTCCGTTTGAGCGCAGGCTGTCGCGAAT Q Q L G A V H S L S V D Q C P F E R R L S R M
1331 GTTCGGACGCCGTTGATGTGGTGTCCCGCAATGCCGTCAATCCCGACTTCTTACCGGACGAGGACAAG F G R A V D V V S R N A V N P D F L P D E D K
1401 AGTACGCCGCAGCTCGATCTTTTGGCTCGTGCGAACGAAGAGCTACCGGGCTCGACCAAGAGCGCA S T P Q L D L L A R V E R E L P V R L D Q E R T
1470 CCGATATGGTTGTTTGCCATGGTGATCCCTGCATGCCGAACTTCATGGGACCCTAAAACTCTTCAATG D M V V C H G D F C M P N F M V D P K T L Q C
1541 CACGGGTCTGATCGACCTTGGGCGGCGGCTCGGAACAGCAGATCGCTATGGCTGATTGGCACTCATGATTGCT T G L I D L G R L G T A D R Y A D L A L M I A
1611 AACGCCGAAGAGAACTGGGCAGCGCCAGATGAAGCAGAGCGCGCCTTCGCTGTCCTATTCAATGTATTGG N A E E N W A A P D E A E R A F A V L F N V L G
1681 GGATCGAAGCCCCCGACCGCGAACGCCTTGCCTTCTATCTGCGATTGGACCCTCTGACTTGGGGTTGATG I E A P D R E R L A F Y L R L D P L T W G *
1751 TTCATGCCGCCTGTTTTTCCTGCTCATTGGCACGTTTCGCAACCTGTTCTCATTGCGGACACCTTTTCCA
1821 GCCTCGTTTGGAAAGTTTCATTGACAGTAATACCAATGCTTTAGAAAGAA
1891 ATTCGATCCCTTTTTCTGTAATCTGTTTCGTGCGTTCTTTGCTAAGATACAGACCGTAGACAAGTCATAT⊀
2031 GTAAACAGACAAACGCAAACCTTAAATTAGACGGTCTTCAGCTCGGACTTCGGAAGAATAAACAGGCGTA
2101 GAAGTGATAACGTTCTTAATACGAAAATTAAGCTCTGTCTCCGTTTCGTGCTACGGTTAGAAAGGCGAAA 2171 GCCCCAAGAAATACAAGCACACCTGATAAGCGAGATTTAAGGATAACAGCGAAATTCAATAGGGTCTGAA∢
2241 TTTCCAAACTASGTTAAATGCCACGACGTTTTATTGTTGCCCCATTCAAGCAACATTTGAGAACCGAATA⊀
2311 GAAATCTTTTAGTAAAAAGCGTTCTTTTTTGGGTCAGCGGGTAATGTTGGACGGTTTAACGGTTTTTCCC

.

51	CAGCTTTCCAACACTAAAAACCTACCGCCCACAATAACCACTTCCCTAATAATAAAATTTTTTTT
21	ATTTGGGTTCAAAGGCTCACGATGTTCGCCTAATAAAACGAAGTCGCCCTATCGGCTCCGCTGATTTTTAT
91	ATATCACTCTCGGGGCTTTTGGTGTACTATTGTCTTTTGTAATAGCAAGGACACAAAAAGGGTACTCTTC
61	pPC100 < ↓ GAGTTTCCTTTTTGACCTTGCAAAAGGGCTTTGCCCCCTTGACCCCCGACCGCTTTCAGCGGTCAAAATA◀
31	GAAGAACGGACACCATTATGAAACGTGAGAAAGAGATAAAAATCAGGCTCACCGAAAACGAGTATCAAGC
01	CTTGTTAGAGAGAAAACGAAAGCAAGGCTTGCGGAGTGGGTTCGGGAAGTTGCCCTGGAACAGCAACCT
71	AAGCGACAGCCGAAAGTAATCGACCCTGCGTTACTGTTCGAGCTGAACCGCATAGGCGTAAACCTGAACC
41.	AAATCGCCCGACAATGCAACAGTCAAAAGCCGAGCATTGACCTTGTTAGCGTGTTGGCGACCTTGCATTG
11	CACAAGATAAAATATATCATCATGAACAATAAAACTGTCTGCTTACATAAACAGTAATACAAGGGGTGT Tn903 sequence> kan gene>
31 '	TATGAGCCATATTCAACGGGAAACGTCTTGCTCGAGGCCGCGATTAAATTCCAACCTGGATGCTGATTTA M S H I Q R E T S C S R P R L N S N L D A D L
51 7	ATGGGTATAAATGGGCTCGCGATAATGTCGGGCAATCAGGTGCGACAATCTATCGATTGTATGGGAAGC G Y K W A R D N V G Q S G A T I Y R L Y G K P
21 0	CGATGCGCCAGAGTTGTTTCTGAAACATGGCAAAGGTAGCGTTGCCAATGATGTTACAGATGAGATGGT D A P E L F L K H G K G S V A N D V T D E M V
91 0	AGACTAAACTGGCTGACGGCATTTATGCCTCTTCCGACCATCAAGCATTTTATCCGTACTCCTGATGAT R L N W L T A F M P L P T I K H F I R T P D D
51 C P	CATGGTT CTCACCACTGCGCTCCCCGGGAAAACAGCATTCCAGGTATTAGAAGAATATCCTGATTCAG W L L T T A L P G K T A F Q V L E E Y P D S G
1 G	TGAAAATATTGTTGATGCGCTGGCAGCGTTCCTGCGCCGGTTGCATTCGATTCCTGTTAGTAATTGTCC ENIVDALAAFLRRLHSIPVSNCP
1 T	TTTAACAGCGATCGCGTATTTCGTCTCGCTCAGGCGCAATCACGAATGAAT
/1 A	GTGATTTTGATGACGAGCGTAATGGCTGGCCTGTTGAACAAGTCTGGAAAGAAA

S D F D D E R N G W P V E E V W K E M H K L L P

3641 CATTCTCACCGGATTCAGACGTCACTCATGGTGATTTCTCACTTGATAACCTTATTTTTGACGAGGGGAA F S P D S D V T H G D F S L D N L I F D E G K
3711 ATTAATAGGTTGTATTGATGTTGGACGAGTCGGAATCGCAGGACCGATACCAGGATCTTGCCATCCTATGG L I G C I D V G R V G I A D R Y Q D L A I L W
3791 AACTGCCTCGGTGAATTTTCTCCTTCATTACAGAAACGGCTTTTTCAAAAATATGGTATTGATAATCCTG N C L G E F S P S L Q K R L F Q K Y G I D N P D
3851 ATATGAATAAATTGCAGTTTCATTTGATGCTCGATGAGTTTTTTCTGATAGTTAGT
3921 AACCTGAAATTCCGGACACCGCGCTTCAGGACATCTCCCTGGACGCCGATATCTGGCAGTATCCGGACGG
3991 GACTATCGAACGCCGGGCCAACGGTACTCCCCTGCCCTTTATGACTGAC
40 TTCTCCATGAAATTTAGCATCGTCGTCGTCACGCCCCCAAACCTGCAAACCCAGCAGGGGGGGG
4131 GCGGGGTCTTGGAAAAATCCATCCATGATTATCCAAGAATAATCCACTAGGCGGGGGTTATCAGCGCCCCTT
4201 GTGGGGCGCTGCTGCCCTTGCCCAATATGCCCGGCCAGAGGCCCGGATAACTGATCTATCCGCTGCGCTAG
4271 LCTACACACCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC
4341 ACCCGCAGTAATCCGCTGGAGCGATTTAGCCGCTTTAGCGGCCTTTTCCCTACCCGAAGGGGTGGGGGGGG
4341 ACCCGCAGTAATCCGCTGGAGCGATTTAGCCGCTTTAGCGGCCTTTTCCCTACCCGAAGGGGTGGGGGGCG <
4341 ACCCGCAGTAATCCGCTGGAGCGATTTAGCCGCTTTAGCGGCCTTTCCCTACCCGAAGGGGTGGGGGCCG 4411 GTGTGCAGCCCCGAAGGGGCCAATTTAGCGGCCAATTTCAAGCGGCTTGTGATGCTGATAAGTGCCGTGG 4411 GTGTGCAGCCCCGAAGGGGCCAATTTAGCGGCCCAATTTCAAGCGGCTTGTGATGCTGATAAGTGCCGTGG 4411 GTGTGCAGCCCCGAAGGGGCCAATTTAGCGGCCCAATTTCAAGCGGCTTGTGATGCTGATAAGTGCCGTGG 4411 GTGTGCCGCCGAAGGGGCCAATTTAGCGGCCCAATTTCAAGCGGCTTGTGATGCTGATAAGTGCCGTGG 4411 GTGTGCCGCCGAAGGGGGCCAATTTAGCGGCCCAATTTCAAGCGGCTTGTGATGCTGATGCCGATAAGTGCCGTGG 4481 GTGGTCCCCTTACGATATGGGAGTAATCAGGCTTGCCGAAAAGGGGCTTTGAGTGGATCTGTCATGGCTGAT
 4341 ACCCGCAGTAATCCGCTGGAGCGATTTAGCCGCTTTAGCGGCCTTTCCCTACCCGAAGGGGGTGGGGGGCGG 4411 GTGTGCAGCCCCGAAGGGGCCAATTTAGCGGCCAATTTCAAGCGGCTTGTGATGCTGATAAGTGCCGTGG 4411 GTGTGCAGCCCCGAAGGGGCCAATTTAGCGGCCAATTTCAAGCGGCTTGTGATGCTGATAAGTGCCGTGG 4411 GTGTGCCCCTACGATATGGGAGGAGTAATCAGGCTTGCCGAAAAGGGCTTTGAGTGGATCTGTCATGGCTGAT noncoding sequences
 4341 ACCCGCAGTAATCCGCTGGAGCGATTTAGCCGCTTTAGCGGCCTTTTCCCTACCCGAAGGGGTGGGGGGCGG 4411 GTGTGCAGCCCCGAAGGGGCCAATTTAGCGGCCAATTTCAAGCGGCTTGTGATGCTGATAAGTGCCGTGG 4411 GTGTGCAGCCCCGAAGGGGGCCAATTTAGCGGCCAATTTCAAGCGGGCTTGTGATGCTGATAAGTGCCGTGG 4411 GTGTGCCCCTACGATATGGGAGTAATCAGGCTTGCCGAAAAGGGCTTTGAGTGGATCTGTCATGGCCGTGG 4481 GTGGTCCCTTACGATATGGGAGTAATCAGGCTTGCCGAAAAGGGCTTTGAGTGGATCTGTCATGGCTGAT noncoding sequences 4551 CTCCAAACATATCAAGCGTGTCTGTATCCCACTCTATTGTAAACAAGACATTTTTATCTTTTATATTCAA 4621 TGGCTTATTTTCCTGCTAATTGGTAATATCATGAAAAATACCATGCTCAGGAAAAGGCTTJAACAATATTTT

Figure 8. Protein translations of the antibiotic resistance genes of RSF1010, pLS88 and Tn903.

Panel A: RSF1010 published sulfonamide resistance gene translation (top line) and pLS88 predicted protein sequence (bottom line). Panel B: RSF1010 published streptomycin A resistance gene translation (top line) and pLS88 predicted protein sequence (Bottom line). Panel C: predicted kanamycin resistance gene translation from Tn903 (top line) and pLS88 (bottom line). Sequence predictions were determined by nucleotide sequence analysis using the computer program PCGENE, release 6.4. The molecular mass of the proteins is given in Daltons. RSF1010 sequences were taken from Scholz, et al., 1989. Tn903 sequences were taken from Oka, et al., 1981 and Grindley & Joyce, 1980.

Figure 8. Protein translations of the antibiotic resistance genes of RSF1010, pLS88 and Tn903.

A 1 MNKSLIIFGIVNITSDSFSDGGRYLAPDAAIAQARKLMAEGADVIDLVRHPAIPTPRLFRPTQKSRVCAG

A 1	IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
71	AGRAQ-ADGI PVSLDSYQPATQAYALSRGVAYLNDIRGPPAAFYPQLAKSSAKLVVMHSVQDGQADRRE I IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
141	APAGDIMDHIAAFFDARIAALTGAGIKRNRLVLDPGMGFFLGAAPETSLSVLARFDELRLRFDLPVLLSV 1111111111111111111111111111111111
211	SRKSFLRALTGRGPGVSGPRHSLQSLPPPQVELTSSAHTSRAPCATGWRYWRR m.w. 28254 IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
B 1	MNRTNIFFGESHSDWLPVRGGESGDFVFRRGDGHAFAKIAPASRRGELAGERDRLIWLKGRGVACPEVIN
71	WQEEQEGACLVITAIPGVPAADLSGADLLKAWPSMGQQLGAVHSLSVDQCPFERRI,SRMFGRAVDVVSRN IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
141	AVNPDLLPDEDKSTPLHDLLARVERELPVRLDQERTDMVVCHGDPCMPNFMVDPKTLQCSGLIDLGRLGT
211	ADRYADLALMIANAEENWAAPDEAERAFAVLENVLGIEAPDRERLAFYLRLDPLTWG m.w. 29529 1111111111111111111111111111111111
С 1	MSHIQRETSCSRPRLNSNMDADLYGYKWARDNVGOSGATIYRLYGKPDAPELCLKHGKGSVANDVTDEMV IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII

:

resistance gene varied over a small region (Figure 8A) due to three one-base additions spaced over 84 bases. The streptomycin A protein sequences of pLS88 and RSF1010 had small variations (Figure 8B). An area homologous to the first 97 bases of the RSF1010 streptomycin B resistance gene was also present (Figure 7, bases 1748-1844). The sulfonamidestreptomycin A intergenic regions of RSF1010 and pLS88 were similar, with a 38 bp deletion of the RSF1010 sequence occurring at RSF1010 position 1-38 (Scholz, et al., 1989) in the pLS88 intergenic region.

The kanamycin resistance gene sequence (Figure 7, bases 3082-3897) showed 99% homology to that of Tn903, but lacked the terminal inverted repeats of the transposon (Grindley & Joyce, 1980; Oka, et al., 1981). A comparison between the pLS88 and Tn903 kanamycin resistance protein sequences is given in (Figure 8C). The region between the kanamycin resistance gene and the sulfonamide resistance gene (Figure 7, bases 1-107 and 3898-4772) was not essential for plasmid replication or maintenance, as was shown by the pLS88 deletion derivative pPC100.

The sequence and structure of the *ori* was not found to be similar to those of known origins. Through the creation of pPC100, the *ori* was isolated to a region 1060 bp in length (Figure 7, bases 1845-2675). This region had few repeat sequences (16 bp inverted [Figure 7, bases 1866-1907, with a 9 bp loop] and 11 bp direct [Figure 7, bases 2441-2462]), one

imperfect DnaA box (Figure 7, bases 2412-2422, inverted and complemented [Fuller, et al., 1984]) and two potential integration host factor (IHF) binding sites (Figure 7, bases 2497-2524 and 2583-2600). Included in the 1060 bases were sequences homologous to regions flanking the *H. influenzae* ROB-1 β -lactamase gene (Figure 7, bases 1849-2016 and complement of bases 2338-2465 [Juteau & Levesque, 1990; GenBank accession numbers M64762 and M64763]) and a small open reading frame (ORF; Figure 7, bases 2395-2675). It is not known whether the *H. influenzae* ROB-1 sequences are involved in replication.

3. PROTEIN PRODUCTION FROM pLS88 AND pPC100

The possibility that pLS88 encoded proteins other than antibiotic resistance proteins was explored through *in vitro* transcription and translation of pLS88 and pPC100. *In vitro* studies failed to show the production of a protein from the ORF in the ori region of either plasmid (Figure 9).

Figure 9. In vitro translation of the plasmids pLS88 and pPC100.

Lane A contains ¹⁴C-labelled protein molecular weight markers (Amersham). In vitro translation of pLS88 (lane B) and pPC100 (lane C) show the production of the ³⁵S-labelled kanamycin resistance gene product (a) and the streptomycin A and sulfonamide resistance gene products (b and c). No other protein products were evident. Lane D contains the product of an in vitro reaction in the absence of a template DNA, and serves as the negative control. The polyacrylamide concentrations of the gels were 12% (panel 1) and 20% (panel 2). The kanamycin resistance gene product from Tn903 has a mass, in daltons, of 31,000 (Oka, et al., 1981; Grindley & Joyce, 1980); the streptomycin A and sulfonamide resistance gene products from RSF1010 have masses of 29,500 and 28,250, respectively (Scholz, et al., 1989). The mass of the protein product of the ORF was predicted to be 10,100.

The faint banding patterns seen in lanes A and B are consistent with background labeling of the *in vitro* reaction components. Figure 9. In vitro translation of the plasmids pLS88 and pPC100.



.

B. PLASMIDS pHD8.1 AND pHD148

1. INCOMPATIBILITY

Using the RSF1010 insertion mutant AP101 (TnA inserted in the sulfonamide resistance gene), which encodes an ampicillin resistance gene (Heffron, et al., 1975), compatibility between RSF1010, pHD148 and pHD3.1 was examined. Although the essential rep genes of RSF1010 appeared to be present in both pHD148 and pHD8.1, the region in RSF1010 containing the replication origin was deleted, raising questions about the replication mechanism in both plasmids. Electroporation of AP101 in E. coli containing pHD8.1 (and vice versa), with concurrent selection for both streptomycin (for pHD8.1) and ampicillin (for AP101) resistance yielded E. coli colonies with dual antibiotic resistance. These colonies were found to carry both plasmids. However, after serial passage of these colonies on nonselective media for 5 days, dual antibiotic resistance was not maintained, and only one plasmid could be found in any tested colony, suggesting incompatibility. Neither AP101 or pHD8.1 could be maintained forcibly with pHD148 in E. coli, due to the lack of a selective marker for As a control, RSF1010 and AP101 were tested for pHD148. incompatibility, and in the same manner, were found to be incompatible.

2. ELECTRON MICROSCOPY OF HETERODUPLEXES

Because of the differences between RSF1010, pHD8.1 and pHD148 seen in restriction endonuclease digests and probing studies, the extent to which pHD148 and pHD8.1 were homologous was not fully known. In order to discover the degree of homology between the plasmids and minimize the amount of sequencing necessary to characterize differences between the two plasmids and RSF1010, DNA-DNA heteroduplexing of linear pHD148 and pHD8.1 was done. pHD8.1 digested with *SacI* (cleaving at the 5' end of the streptomycin B resistance gene) was annealed to equal amounts of pHD148 digested with *SacII* (cleaving near the 3' end of the *repB* gene) and examined using electron microscopy. The results are shown in Figure 10.

The long single-stranded region of the "A" loop seen in Figure 10 consists of an insertion loop in pHD148 dcwnstream of the repC gene (see also map at bottom). The short singlestranded region seen in the "A" loop consists of an unknown sequence in pHD8.1, also downstream of the repC gene. The short double-stranded region between the loop and the singlestranded tail consists of the sulfonamide resistance gene in both plasmids. The single-stranded tail ("B" in Figure 10) consists of the streptomycin A and B resistance genes of pHD8.1. The long double-stranded region between the loop and

Figure 10. DNA-DNA heteroduplexes of the plasmids pHD148 and pHD8.1.

SacII-linearized pHD148 (cleaving near the 3' end of the repB gene) was hybridized to SacI-linearized pHD8.1 (cleaving near the 5' end of the streptomycin B resistance gene). (a) DNA-DNA heteroduplex between pHD148 and pHD8.1, magnification 86,500 x. Line drawing illustrating pHD148 insertion (b) and the single-stranded tail at the pHD8.1 loop (A) streptomycin resistance gene sequences (B). The tail is generated by cleavage of pHD8.1 at the SacI site at the 5' end of the streptomycin B resistance gene. (c) Physical maps of pHD148 and pHD8.1, linearized at the PstI sites upstream of the sulfonamide resistance genes, and showing the locations of genes relative to the SacI and SacII restriction endonuclease sites.

Figure 10. DNA-DNA heteroduplexes of the plasmids pHD148 and pHD8.1.







the single-stranded tail contains the repB/A/C region of both plasmids. The only significant regions of non-homology between pHD148 and pHD8.1 appear to be between the repC and sulfonamide resistance gene, and between the sulfonamide resistance gene and the repB gene.

3. SEQUENCES OF pHD8.1 AND pHD148

Sequencing of the variant regions of pHD8.1 and pHD148 revealed some very interesting features, including homology between RSF1010 (Scholz, et al., 1989), pHD8.1, pHD148, and pLS88. Figure 11 compares the sulfonamide-streptomycin A intergenic regions of RSF1010, pHD8.1, pHD148 and pLS88. Figure 12 demonstrates the deletion of the RSF1010 oriV region in both pHD148 and pHD8.1. Figure 13 demonstrates the sequence additions downstream of repC in pHD148 and pHD8.1 vs RSF1010, and Figure 14 compares RSF1010 oriV-like sequences in pHD148 and pHD8.1. Figure 15 shows a pictoral representation of the sequence data presented in Figures 11-14.

Figure 11. Nucleotide sequence comparisons of the sulfonamidestreptomycin A intergenic regions of the plasmids RSF1010, pHD8.1, pLS88 and pHD148.

The sequences begin at the *PstI* site immediately downstream of the sulfonamide resistance gene and end at the ATT start codon of the streptomycin A resistance gene.

The comparison illustrates the 38 bp deletions common to the plasmids pHD8.1 and pLS88 relative to RSF1010. The 5' crossover point for the deletion of the streptomycin resistance genes of pHD148 is also shown.

RSF1010 sequences are from Scholz, et al., 1989.

Figure 11. Nucleotide sequence comparisons of the sulfonamide-streptomycin A intergenic regions of the plasmids RSF1010, pHD8.1, pHD148 and pLS88.

	•	•	•	•	•	•
RSF1010	CTGCAGAGCTTGCCG	CCGCCGCAG	GTGGAGCTGAG	TTCATCCGCA	CACACGAGC	CGCGCC
		111111111			111111111	11111
pHD8.1	CTGCAGAGCTTGCCG	CCGCCGCAG	GTGGAGCTGAC	TTCATCCGCA	CACACGAGC	CGCGCC
					111111111	11111
pLS88	CTGCAGAGCTTGCCG	CCGCCGCAG	GTGGAGCTGAC	TTCATCCGCA	CACACGAGC	CSCGCC
pHD148	CTGCAGAGCTTGCCG	CCGCCGCAG	GTGGAGCTGAG	TTCATCCGCA	CACACGAGC	CGCGCC
	• •	•	•	•	•	
61 COTTOC	CCACCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	TODOODOOO	CAAACAAAACCC	.~^^^^^^^	TTASCTOUS	CATTCG

		•	•			
131	GGATATTT	CTCTATAT	TCGCGCTT	сатсадааал	CTGAAGGAAC	CTCCATT
	11111111		11111 11		11111111111	111111
				ТСАБЛААА	CTGAAGGAAC	CTCCATT
					1111111111	1111111
				ТСАБАААА	CTGAAGGAAC	CTCCATT
	1111111					
	GGATATTT	CTCTATAT	rcgcggtt	CA		

.
Figure 12. Nucleotide sequence comparisons of the oriV regions of plasmids RSF1010, pHD8.1 and pHD148.

The sequences begin at the end of the streptomycin B resistance gene at the EcoRV site and ends at the repB gene.

The RSF1010 oriV is bracketed by a solid line, from position 647-1044. The direct repeats of the origin are highlighted by solid arrows; dashed lines indicate the positions of the *ssiA* and *ssiB* replication initiation sites. The comparison illustrates the deletion of the regions of pHD148 and pHD8.1 corresponding to the RSF1010 plasmid oriV.

The oriT of RSF1010 is bracketed by a solid line from positions 1388-1478. Repeat sequences are highlighted by long dashed and short dashed lines. The comparison illustrates the homology of the oriT region in both pHD8.1 and pHD148, and the differences between these plasmid sequences and the RSF1010 sequence in this region.

RSF1010 sequences are from Scholz, et al., 1989.

Figure 12. Nucleotide sequence comparisons of the oriV regions of plasmids RSF1010, pHD148, and pHD8.1.

RSF1 pHD8 pHD1	.1 GATATCAAGCGACTTCTCCCTATCCCCTGGGAACACATCTAACCGGAGAATATCGTT
5 1	GGCCAAAGCCTTAGCGTAGGATTCCGCCCCTTCCCGCAAACGACCCCCAAACAGGAAACGCAGCTGAAACG IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
131	GGAAGCTCAACACCCACTGACGCATGGGTTGTTCAGGCAGTACTTCATCAACCAGCAAGGCGGCACTTTC
201	GGCCATCCGCCGCGCCCCACAGCTCGGGCAGAAACCGCGACGCTTACAGCTGAAAGCGACCAGGTGCTCG
271	GCGTGGCANGACTCGCAGCGAACCCGTAGAAAGCCATGCTCCAGCCGCCCGC
341	ATTCCCGTTGCACATAGCCCGGCAATTCCTTTCCCTGCCATAAGCGCAGCGAATGCCGGGTAATA
411	CTCGTCAACGATCTGATAGAGAAGGGTTTGCTCGGGTCGGTGGCTCTGGTAACGACCAGTATCCCGATCC
481	CGGCTGGCCGTCCTGGCCGCCACATGAGGCATGTTCCGCGTCCTTGCAATACTGTGTTTACATACA
551	ATCGCTTAGCGGAAAGTTCTTTTACCCTCAGCCGAAATGCCTGCC
621	
691	

•

761 AAAAATCCATCCATGATTATCTAAGAATAATCCACTAGGCGCGGTTATCAGCGCCCCTTGTGGGGGCGCGCTGC

- 830 TGCCCTTGCCCAATATGCCCGGCCAGAGGCCGGATAGCTGGTCTATTCGCTGCGCTAGGCTACACACCCGC
- 901 CCCACCGCTGCGCGGCAGGGGGAAAGGCGGGCAAAGCCCGCTAAACCCCCACACCCAAACCCCGCAGAAAT
- 971 ACGCTGGAGCGCTTTTAGCGGCCCTTTCCCCCTACCCGAAG65TGGGGGCGCGTGTGCAGC
- 1041 CCCGCAGGGCCTGTCTCGGTCGATCATTCAGCCCGGCTCATCCTTCTGGCGTGGCGGAGACCGAACAAG

.

Figure 13. Nucleotide sequence comparisons of the region 5' to the repC gene of plasmids RSF1010, pHD148, pHD8.1 and pLS88.

The sequences begin at the end of the *repC* gene at the *BstEII* site and end at the *PstI* site immediately upstream of the sulfonamide resistance gene.

The comparison illustrates insertions downstream of the *repC* gene in pHD148 and pHD8.1 relative to the RSF1010 sequence. The sequence in the insertion at postion 162-516 is homologous to nonessential pLS88 sequence downstream of the kanamycin resistance gene (see Figures 3 and 7). Solid arrows indicate a stem loop structure in the pHD148 insertion loop with a high GC content and near perfect homology; the N's are present due to an inability to sequence through the stem structure.

Sequence at position 1785-1922 are homologous between pHD148, pHD8.1, and pLS88 but are not present in RSF1010. In pLS88 this sequence is upstream of the sulfonamide resistance gene and is nonessential for plasmid replication or maintenance.

RSF1010 sequence is from Scholz, et al., 1989.

Figure 13. Nucleotide sequence comparisons of the region 5' to the repC gene of plasmids RSF1010, pHD148, pHD8.1 and pLS88.

RSF1010		GGTAACCGAGTT	·cccccccccc	AAGTACGACA	TCACCCGGCCG	CAAGGCGGCAGG	CTGACC
рНС	0148	GGTAACCGAGTT	CGCGGCGGGGC	AAGTACGAC	TCACCCGGCCG		IIIII CTGACC
pHD8.1		GGTAACCGAGTA	1 1 11111	111111111111			11111
pLS							
			•				•
61	CCCCC						
		TAACTGTCACGCC					
		TAACTGTCACGCC					
		•	•	•			
131	CCGATAACTO	TCACGAACCCCC	CCGATAACTG	TCACGCCCCC	ANACCTGCAN	CCCAGCAGGGG	CGGGGGG
	TGTTTAACTO	TCACGAACCCCC	 ТСТТТААСТС				
	10111/0010	i cheomeceee	1		111111111111	TELEVITIE	11111
			G	TCACGCCCCC	AAACCTGCAA	CCCAGCAGGGGG	CGGGGGG
201							
201	CTGGCGGGAT	GTTGGAAAAATC	CATCCATGAT	ГАТССАЛБАА	TAATCCACTAC	GCGCGGTTATC	AGCGCC
		GTTGGAAAAATC					
		11111111111			1111111111		
	CTGGCGGGGT	GTTGGAAAAATC	CATCCATGAT	TATCCAAGAA	TANTCCACTAG	GCGCGGTTATC	AGCGCC
271		•	•	•	•	•	•
211		GCTGCTGCCCTT					
		GCTGCTGCCCTT					
		1 # #		111111111		111111111111	11111
	CTTGTGGGGGC	GCTGCTGCCCTT	GCCCAATATG	CCCGGCCAGA	GGCCGGATAAC	TGATCTATCCGC	CTGCGC
							
341	TAGGCTACAC	ACCCGCCCCAC	GCTGGGCGG	CAGGGGGGAA-			
				1111111111		111111111111	11111
	TAGGCTACAC.	ACCCGCCCCCACC	GCTGCGCGGG	AGGGGGAAA	GGCGGGCAAAG	CCCGCTAAACCC	CACAC
411	•	•	•	•	•	•	
411							
		GTAATCCGCTGGA					
	CAAACCCGCA	STAATCCGCTGGA	GCGATTT-AG	CCGCTTTAG	GGCCTTTTCC	TACCCGAAGGG	GTGGG
	•						
481						NNNCCCCCTGC	
		AGCCCCGAAGGGG	CCAATTTAGC	GCC			
		\					
	•			-			

SCGGCTGC	GTCGACATGG	CGCCTTGCGC	SCCATTCTGAC	CCCCGCAGGG	CGGGTGTGTAG	AGCGGTGGGGG
	•	•	•	•		
GGGCTAT	CGCGCCTGTC	GACAAGGATA	STGTCGTGATC	CACCGCCATC	STCGCGGTGAC	CCGTGTCTTTC
	•	•		•		•
CCGCTGC						ATGCTTGAACC
	•					
						CGACAACGTAT
						TCGACACCCCT
_			•	-		
			·		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
AATAATG	TGAACGCCAAA	SCCCAAAGGT1	CGAAGGGGTG	TGGAGACGGT	GTTCGGAACCO	GACCGAGAAGG'
•						
GAGCTAA	AAGAGCCAAGG					GGGTCTGTGCA
•	•		•	•	•	•
CCAAGGA	AAGGGGGCTATC		AGGCCCTTCAC		CCCAGCAGCA	GGGAAACCCTAG
•	•	•	•	•	•	•
						TCAGGTAGCGGG
	HUGHUHUHUHUHUHUHUHUHUHUHUHUHUHUHUHUHUHU	JAGAACGAGCA				
			•	•	•	•
						GCCCAGCAGATC
				CAAGGCCAAG	AAGAGCGATT	GCCCAGCAGATC
				CAAGGCCAAG		GCCCAGCAGATC
				CAAGGCCAAG	AAGAGCGATT	GCCCAGCAGATC
				CAAGGCCAAG	AAGAGCGATT	GCCCAGCAGATC
GGCCGTT	ACCGCACAGGG	AGCGCAGCGA	CGGGAAACGGG	CAAGGCCAAG	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	GCCCAGCAGATC

97

.

1321	
1321	
	TTTCAACCAACCCTAAGCAACCGGGGTGTAAGGGCTGGCAGTAATCGCGCGGATTTACAGGCACGTCGGA
1391	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
1391	
	TATGTTTACCAAAACTCCGTTTTTGACACATATGCCGTTCCAAAGGGTGCCCCGGGTAAACCCTCCCAGC
1461	
1401	
	GCCCCGCTCAATCACGGGGGCAGGGTGACGCGGTGGGGGT#GGTCGGGACTGG0ACCGTCCTCGTCCAGGA
1531	• • • • • • • • • • •
1531	
	ACGCCACTTCGGCGCGTTCCAGGGTGCAGCCATCGAGGTTCAATTCTTCCATGTCCTGAGGGTGAAAACC
	• • • • • • • • •
1601	
	CCCGCCTCCTCGCGGCTCTTGGTGTACCCGTAGCCCTTGGGTTTCCAGTACTCCAGACC%GTCTTGATGT
	• • • • • • • • •
1671	
	AATACATGGTCATGGCCATACCTCGTCCTTGAGTTTCGATATAACGGAATCCAGCGCCGTTCTGGTGCCG
	• • • • • • • •
1741	
	TCCAGCGTGTCTATACCCCTGTCGTAAGCCTCCAAAACAGCGGCCA-TTTCAGCGG-CT-GTGATGCTGA
	CA-TTTCAGCGG-CT-GTGATGCTGA
	CAATTTCAAGCCGCTTGTGATGCTGA
	CALIFICA DEGELIGITATION
1811	
	TAGTGGCCGTGG-TG-TCCCTTACGATATGGGAGTAATCAGGCTTGCCGPAAAGGGCTTTGAGTGGATCT
	TAGTGGCCGTGG-TG-TCCCTTACGATATGGGAGTAATCAGGCTTGCCGAAAAGGGCTTTGAGTGGATCT
	TAAGTGCCGTGGGTGGTCCCTTACGATATGGGAGTAATCAGGCTTGCCGAAAAGGGCTTTGAGTGGATCT
	TWO TO CONSIGN AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AN
1881	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
1001	CACTCTATTGTAAACAAGACATTTTTATC
	GTCATGGCTGATCTCCAAACATATCAAGCGTGTCTGTATCCCACTCTATTGTAAACAAGACATTTTTATC
	GTCATGGCTGATCTCCAAACATATCAAGCGTGTCTGTATCCCACTCTATTGTAAACAAGACATTTTTATC
	GTCATGGCTGATCTCCAAACATATCAAGCGTGTCTGTATCCCACTCTATTGTAAACAAGACATTTTTATC
	· · · · · · · ·
1951	TTTTATATTCAATGGCTTATTTTCCTGCTAATTGGTAATACCATGAAAAATACCATGCTCAGAAAAGGCT
	TTTTATATTCAATGGCTTATTTCCTGCTCATTGGTAATACCATGAAAAATACCATGCTCAGAAAAGGCT
	TTTTATATTCAATGGCTTATTTTCCTGCTAATTGGTAATATCATGAAAAATACCATGCTCAGAAAAGGCT
	TTTTATATTCAATGGCTTATTTTCCTGCTAATTGGTAATATCATGAAAAATACCATGCTCAGAAAAGGCT

Figure 14. Nucleotide sequence comparisons of oriV-like regions in plasmids pHD148 and pHD8.1 and the RSF1010 oriV.

Sequences in pHD148 and pHD8.1 are immediately downstream of the *repC* gene. The RSF1010 *oriV* sequence is from Scholz, et al., 1989.

The RSF1010 oriV is bracketed by a solid line. Repeat sequences are highlighted by solid arrows. The ssiA and ssiB regions of RSF1010 and like regions in pHD8.1 and pHD148 are highlighted by notched arrows.

A comparison of the 20 bp repeats of the three plasmids is given at the bottom. Figure 14. Nucleotide sequence comparisons of oriV-like regions in plasmids pHD148 and pHD8.1 and the RSF1010 oriV.

			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
RS	F1010	ACATTGCCAGCO	CAGTGCCCGTCACTCCCGTACTAACTGTCACGAA-CCCCTGCAATAACT
pHD8.1		CCCCCCGTACT	AACTGTCACGCCCCC-TGCAATAACAGTCACGAACCCCCTG-TTTAACT
рH	D148	CCCCCCTGTTT	AACTGTCACGCCCCCCG-ATAACTGTCACGCCCCCCG-ATAACT
61			ACTGTCACGAACCCCTGCAATAACTGTCACGCCCCCAAACCTGCAAA
		CCCCCTG-TTTAA	
	GTCACGCCC	CCCCCCGATAA	ACTGTCACGAACCCCCCCGATAACTGTCACGCCCCCAAACCTGCAAA
131	CCCAGCAGG	GCCGGGGGGCTGGC	СССССССАТСАТСАТСАТСАТСАТАТАТСТААСААТААТССАСТАС СССССССАТСАТСАТСАТСАТСААСААТААТССАСТАС СССССССС
201	GCGCGGTTAT	ICAGCGCCCTTGT(GGGGCGCTGCTGCCCTTGCCCAATATGCCCGGCCAGAGGCCGGATAGC GGGGCGCTGCTGCCCTTGCCCAATATGCCCGGCCAGAGGCCGGATAAC GGGGCGCTGCTGCCCTTGCCCAATATGCCCGGACAGAGGGCGGATAAC RSF1010 or1V
271	TGATCTATCO	GCTGCGCTAGGCT	TACACACC-GCCCC-ACCGCTGCGCGGCAGGGGGAAAGGCGGGCAAAG
			TACACACCCGCCCCCCCCGNTGGGNGGGAGGGGGAA
341	•		CCCGCAGAAATACGCTGGAGCGCTTTAGCCGCCTTT-C CC-GCAGTAATCCGCTGGAGCGATTTTAGCCGCCTTTAGCGGCCCTTT-
411	CCCCTACCCG	AAGGGTGGGGGCG	GCGTGTGCAGCCCCGCAGGGCC
	-CCCTACCCG	AAGGGTGGGGGGG	-GTGTGCAGCCCCGAAGGGGC
20	bp repeats:	: RSF1010 рНD8.1 рНD148	CCCCTGCAATAACTGTCACG CCCCCTGTTTAACTGTCACG CCCCCCCGATAACTGTCACG

pHD148	GATAACTGT

.

Figure 15. Sequence pictorals of plasmids RSF1010, pHD148, pHD8.1 and pLS88.

The map at the top represents the entire RSF1010 plasmid linearized upstream of the sulfonamide resistance gene. The large solid arrows represent the iterons of the oriV, the small solid arrows represent the palendromic sequence within the oriV region, and the open arrows represent the ssi sites. Promoter sites (P5 and P6) and direction of transcription are indicated. Other features are denoted by open boxes. Gaps have been inserted in the plasmid maps in order to line up features between plasmids.

Maps in the middle and at bottom represent plasmids pHD148, pHD8.1 and pLS88, oriented similarly to RSF1010. The differences in the large solid arrow shape in these plasmids represent differences in iteron sequences between plasmids. Solid lines indicate sequence homology with RSF1010. Small gaps in the solid lines seen in pHD148 and pHD8.1 represent small deletions from the RSF1010 sequence. Dotted lines indicate sequence homologies present but not shared with RSF1010.

Maps are not drawn to scale.

Figure 15. Sequence pictorals of plasmids RSF1010, pHD148, pHD8.1 and pLS88.



1. SEQUENCE OF pDM2

The sequence of the 5.6 kb H. influenzae plasmid RSF0885 was previously known, and is given in Figure 5. The sequence of the BamHI fragment of the 55.1 kb, conjugative H. influenzae plasmid p2265 (inserted into RSF0885 to form pDM2) contains a chloramphenicol resistance gene with sequence homology to that of the large conjugative IncW Shigella plasmid pSa (Murray, et al., 1990). The chloramphenicol resistance gene sequence of pSa was used to create primers to sequence the remainder of the BamHI insert.

The complete sequence of the BamHI fragment of p2265, showing the chloramphenicol resistance gene and the locations and orientations of notable features, is given in Figure 16. The insert was found to be 3969 bp in length, and contained several interesting features, including three long, terminal repeat sequences, approximately 450 bp in length , two at one end in a direct orientation (Figure 16, bases 1-445 and 446-886), and the third on the other end in the opposite orientation (Figure 16, bases 3448-3969). Two groups of short, direct repeat sequences were also observed (Figure 16, bases 1200-1380).

Figure 16. Nucleotide sequence of the 4.1 kb BamHI fragment of p2265 from plasmid pDM2.

The p2265 insert sequence of pDM2 is given, beginning and ending at the BamHI sites, in the same orientation as is seen in Figure 4. The remainder of the pDM2 sequence, namely the RSF0885 sequence, is given in Figure 5.

Three repeated sequences were seen in the insert and are bracketed by dashed lines. Repeats #1 and #2 are direct; repeat #3 is inverted. The chloramphenicol resistance gene (cat) is bracketed by dashed lines; the start codon is at position 2211 and transcription proceeds leftward to position 1570. Short repeated sequences found in the insert are highlighted by dashed arrows.

Figure 16. Nucleotide sequence of the 4.1 kb BamHI fragment of p2265 from plasmid pDM2.

	pDM2	GGATCCCGTTGACCGGTTTTATTTTTTACGGAACAGGGAGCGGAAATAATGGTCGCATCG
61	ATAATGAT	SCCCTGACGTAACATCAGTCCGGCCTGCTTCAGTTTCTGGTTAATCAGTGCCAGTATCTGTT
131	CTCCTGCA	GATGTCTCTCCAGAMATGGCGGAAATTCATGATGGTTGTGCGATCTGGCACCGTGTCACA
201	GATCCCCG	ANATTGACGGAACGGCAGGACATCATGCAGGGTGTCTTCAGCCCCCCCGTCACTGAGGTCA
271	AACCAGAGI	TGGAGGCAGTGGATACGGAGCATAAGCACCAGGGGGGGAMAGGCCGTCGGCCGCGAAGGGAT
341	GACGGATAG	GACGTTAAAGCAGCTTTATCAGCAATATCCTGCCACGGCACCAGAACATTCATT
411	GAAAACGGG	GATTTACGGGAGGAATGCTTGGAAATGGATTCCCGTTGACCGGCTTTATTTTTACGGAAC
481	AGGGAGCGG	AAATAATGGTCGCATCGATAATGATGCCCTGACGTAACATCAGTCCGGCCTGCTTCAGTTT
551	CTGGTTAAT	CAGTGCCAGTATCTGTTCTCCTGCATGATGTTTCTCCAGAAAATGGCGGAAAATTCATGATG
621	GTTGTGCGA	TCTGGCACCGTGTCACAGATCCCCCGCAAATTGACGG/ ACGGCAGGACATCATGCAGGGCGT
691	CTTCAGCCG	CTCCGTCACTGAGGTCAAACCAGAGTTGCAGGCAGTGGATACGGAGCATAAGCACCAGGGG
761	GANAGGCCG	ICGTCCGCGACGGGATGACGGATAGACGTGAAGCAGCTTATCAGCAATATCCTGCCACGGC
831	ACCAGAACA	TCATACGGTCAAGAAAACGGGATTTACGGGAGGAATAGCTGGAAATGGCAGGCA
901	ACAGCTCAT	SATAAAGAAAGCTTTATGTTCTCACATATGACGATTAAATCGCACCTTCCTT
971		атттаталсатсаалалаталласталаатататасстоттсаосоталсттататас
1041	CTTCCTGAT	AAGCCGGACGATATGTTTATACTGAACAGAAAGAATGCCAACCAGAATATTATCTTCTGT
1111	TATACATGG	GGTTTATTTATTGTTTAATTAAACATATTCAGGCATATTTCTATACCATCATGATGTTTT
1181	CACTGGTGTT	ACACCTGGTGAGTTAATACTAATGTTAATACTACAGGTGCGGTTACAGCATTCTGGTATT
1251	GTTTAAAACO	ACTGTCGCAGCAGTCTTTCTGGTGTTGTAAATACTATTATTGTAAGTGCTATTACTATAA
1321		TGTTATAACTGCATCTGGTGTTGTTACTACTTACTGTTACTGTTACTGCTTCTTT
1391	ATTACTATTG	CTGTTCGTCTTTGCTTGTTTTTTTCTTATTAAGGATATTACCAAACTACGGGAGCATTATC
1461		CCTGAACCATTCTGAAACGAGATTACACATCACGACGAAAAGATAAAAAAAGCCACCAT
1531		ACAGTGGCTTANATAAAGTATTAATTAACTTATTTCAGTATGTTATCACACATCATCTGA
	. '	

1 ATAATACGCGGTTATCTTCCTGCTGAAATTTCGCCATAGTAAACACCGGAGCAAAATAATCATCATCAT	1671
1 GGTGATATTCAGGTTAAATCCGTCAAAACTCACCCAGGGTAATGATGATATATTCAGGTGGTTCTCT	1741
1 AACGCTCCCTGCGGGAACAATGCAGTATTATGCTGATATTCTGCCATCACCGCATTATAGCCCGCCA	1811
1 ATTCACTGATATCCGGACAATAACGGCAGAAGAGCTCAGAAAATGTTTCAGTCTCTTTATGAAAAAC	1881
1 AAATACAGGATCGGTCTGATCCCAGTAAATCAGTGCATTATCTTTCATTGCCATCCGGAACTCCGGA	1951
1 TGATTANCAACCCGGGAGATCAGATAAATCATCACCGGATAAAATTTATAATCCGTTTCCGCCAGTG	2021
1 TACGAMAAGCTGTAATATCGAGTTTTGTGGTCAGGCTGAATCCGCATTTTATCTGCTGACGATAAAG	2091
1 AAAATGTTCTCTGCGGTTCCAGGTGTTCAGATCAATTCTGGTAAAATTCATGTTTATTCCTTCTGAT	2161
1 TAGUGAAAAATATTAATAATCAGAAGGCAGTCTGGTTGTCTCAATGGGCAGCATCCCGTCCTCCGTAA	2231
CGCTTGGTACAGAATAATGATATCAGATTCGGGCTCGCGAATTCAACTTCGAAGTGCAATTCCCGAT	2301
AAATCAGGCTGCTTTCAGAAGTTCGTCAAAAACCACCTGTGGCTGTTTAAATCCCAAGCATTTGCGCC	2371
CTGAAGTTCAGCCGCTTTTCGACGGCTGACAGTGCCTCTGCTGTCACCACACTCAAATCACTGGCTTT	2441
GCACATATTGCCGCAGCAGACCATTGCTATTCTCATTCTTGTCCCCCGCTCCCATGCACTGTATTGGA	2511
CGCAAAGTACACCTGCGCTTCCAGCTCTGCTGCAACAACGTCCATGTTCGACAAACTCGCTACCACTG	2581
AGCTGTGATGGAATGGTCATGTGGCTGGTAGGGTTTCAGCATGCTGATAATGGCGTCCGCCACCGCAG	2651
GGTGGTGTTGGNTGGGTAACGTATAGAACCAGGTAGAGCCGGCTCTTACGCTCCAACAGACTCACTAT	2721
CACCGCTGCCTTGCTTACCCAACACGGTATCGACTTCCCAATCTCCCACACGGCTCCGCTCATTGACT	2791
CGCAGGCCGTTCATCAATCGATACCGGATTGGGAATGACACTGCGTTTGCTGTTCTTACCCTTGCGAT	2861
CCTTTGTGACCCTGACGCAGATGCCGGTATAGCGTGCCACCGTTGGCCTTGTCGCGTGCCACATAGCG	2931
ATATCCACTCGTGGCTAACCGGGCAGTTAATCATGTCTCCAACGCCACTGATTTGCTCGGGACTCCAG	3001
CGCGACCAGCGCCATGCAAACAAAGTCGATGGTATCAGACGGGACAGTACGCTTCTGACTCGTCAGCC	3071
CGTGCCGTGGCAAGTTGGTGAGCCTGCTGCGGCTGATAGGCCTGCCCAGCACAATTTACGACGAAGCT	3141
CGACTGATAGTCGATGGATGAACCCCGAGCTTGTGTTGGCAATGCGGGCCTGTGACAGGCCATGGTCA	3211
GAGGCAGGCAATCTGGTATCGTAGCCCCTCGGTCAACTGCTGGTATTTCATGGTGTATCGCTTTGTTT	3281
TTGGCGAGAAGAAGCGTACCCTAACTGGTAGTTGACCGCCTCTCTCCTATGCACCAGGGGCATTGCAC	3351
ATTATCTGAATTCACGCTTAAGATGTATTAAGGAAAGGTGCGATTTACTCGACATATGTGAGAACATA	3421
GCTTTCTTTTATCATGAGCTGTTTTACAATGCCTGGCATTCCAGCTATTCCTC · FALATCCCGTTT	3491 (
TTGCCCGTATGAATGTTCTGGTCCCGTGGCAGGATATTTGCTGATAAGCTGCTTCACGTCCAATCCGTC	3561 1

- 3701 GACCTCAGTGACGGAGCGGCTGAAGACGCCCTGCATGATGTCCTGCCGTTCCGTCAATTTGCGGGGGATCT
- 3771 GTGACTCGGTGCCAGATCGCACAACCATCATGAATTTCCGCCATTTTCTGGAGAAACATCATGCAGGAGA
- 3841 ACAGATACTGGCACTGAT'I ACCORGAAACTGAAGCAGGCCGGACTGATGTTACGTCAGGGCATCATTATC
- 3911 GATGCGACCATTATTTCCGCTCCCTGTTCCGTAAAAAATAAAGCCGGGTCAACGGGATCC

D. PLASMIDS pPW87 AND pPW88

1. SEQUENCES OF pPW87 AND pPW88

Both pPW87 and pPW88 were created from the 4.7 kb plasmid pLS88, through the replacement of the small (0.8 kb) PstI fragment containing the sulfonamide resistance gene with the PstI fragments containing the chloramphenicol resistance gene from the large, conjugative Shigella plasmids pSa and pSa*, respectively. The known sequence of the chloramphenicol resistance gene (Murray, et al., 1990) was used to create primers to sequence the remainder of the insert. Primers were also created from the pLS88 sequence bordering the insert.

The complete sequence of the *PstI* insert from pPW87 is given in Figure 17, showing the positions and orientations of genes and repeat sequences. The insert was 3,379 bp in length. The 5' end of the insert contained the 5' end of the sulfonamide I resistance gene from In6 (Figure 17, bases 1-362), and the 3' end had two long, direct repeat sequences approximately 400 bp in length (Figure 17, bases 2486-2881 and 2882-3277), each containing a *XhoI* site (Figure 6). In pPW88, a third repeat is present in tandem with the other two. The first 27 bp of the repeats are duplicated immediately upstream of the first repeat in both pPW87 and pPW88.

Figure 17. Nucleotide sequence of the PstI fragment of pSa from plasmids pPW87 and pPW88.

The pSa insert sequence is given in full, beginning and ending with the PstI sites, in the orientation shown in Figure 6. The remainder of the pPW87 sequence is pLS88 sequence, seen in Figure 7.

The 5' end of the sulfonamide I sequence and the chloramphenicol resistance gene sequence of Int6 in pSa are bracketed by dashed lines. Repeat sequences of the integron are bracketed by dashed lines. Also given immediately below the pPW87 sequence for comparison is the sequence of the direct repeats of pSa (from Stokes, et al., 1993). Short repeat sequences are highlighted by dashed arrows.

The pSa* insert sequence of pPW88 contains a third repeat sequence (see Figure 6) identical to repeats #1 and #2, and is not shown.

Figure 17. Nucleotide sequence of the PstI fragment of pSa from plasmids pPW87 and pPW88.

Ł	PW87 CTGCAGGCCGCCTCAGCAATATCGGGATAGAGCGCAGGGTCAGGAAATCCTTGGATATCG
61	TTCAGGTAGGCCACGCCGCGCTTGAGCGCATAGCGCTGGGTTTCCCGTTGGGAGCTGTCGGTTGGAACAC
131	GGGGCATCTTATCGNGCAGGGGTCTTAGGAGCGGGGGGAATACGTCTTATCTCATCGGCCGGC
201	CCTCGCGTCCGGATGGCTGGCGGCCGGTCCGACATCCACGACGTCTGATCCGACTCGCAGCATTTCGATC
271	GCCGCGGTGACAGCGCCGGCGGGGTCTAGCCGCCGGCTCTCATCGAAAAGGGAGTCCTCGGTGAGATTCA
341	GAATGCCGAACACCGTCACCATGGCGTCGGCCTCCGCAGCGACTTCCACGATGGGGATCGGGCGAGCAAA
411	AAGGCAGCAATTATGAGCCCCATACCTACAAAGCCCCACGCATCAAGCTTTTGCCCATGAAGCAACCAGG
481	CAATGGCTTTATTTTTGCCGACGCCGAGTCCCGACAAGACTTCATAAGCAACCCCGGCGGGGGGGG
551	TCAGAACCAAGAGAACATTTTTTTTGTACTGGGAGGGGGGCGCATTACCACCTTCGGCIGGGGGATGAGTGGC
621	ACNCCGTTTCTGCCGGGGNATCCCTGCGCTTCCATGCGGATATCCCGCACGCTTACGCCAATCCCGGTAA
691	GGCCATTGTGACACTGCATAATCTGATCCATTATCCGCGCCCGGCGGTCAAATAAAAAAGCAGGGGATAA
761	TAAATATACCCCGCTTTGACTTAACGGATCGTCTTACTTTATTTGTAAAATAAAACCCCNATAAATATGT
831	GTTCAGCTTAACTTATTATATATCATCCTTATACCAACCGGGATGATATGTTTATACTGAACAGAAAAGC
901	ATTCCATTCAGANTACTATGTTCTGTTATATATGGCGGTTTATTTATTGTTAATAACACACAC
971	TATCACTATGCTATCGTGATGTTTTCACTGTTGTTGTTGTTACCTACTGCCTTTACGGCATTTTGTTGTTGTC
1041	CCACAATGACTGTCGCAGCAGTCTTTCTGGTGTCTTAAATACTATTATTATAACTGCATCTGGTGTTGTT
1111	AATATTATTGTTACTGCTTACTTTATTATTATTGCTGTCAGTCTTTGCTGTTTCTTTTTTATTAAGGGTA
1181	TTACCACACTCCGGGGGGCATTATCGTACAGTGATCCTGAACCAGTCTGAAACGAAATTACAGATTACGGG
1251	ТААЛАТАТАААААААААССАССАТТССТGCCGGATACGGTGGCTTAAATACAGAATTAATTAATTTATTT
1321	CAGTATGTTATCACACATCAGCTGAAGTGTATTAATAAACCGTGCTGCATGAAAGCCATCACATACTGCA
1391	тдатдаасстдтасадааасаддтаатаатасдеддтеассттестдеааастттдесатадтаааса
1461	CCGGAGCAAAATAATCATCATTACCGGTGATATTCAGGTTAAATCCGTCAAAACTCACCCACGGTAATGA
1531	TGATATATTCA/GTGATTCTCCGGTAAATTTCCCTGCGGAAACAATCTGGTATCATGCTGATATTCTGCC
1600	GTTACCGCATTATAACCTGCCATAAACTCACTGAGATCCGGAAAATAACGGCAGGACAGTGCAGAGAATG
1671	TTTCGGTTTCTTTATGAAAGACAGTAAAGACCGGGTCTGACTGGTCCCAGTAAATAAGTTCATTGTCTTT

1741	CAGTGCCATCCGGAACTCCTTAAACTGATTAACAGCCCGGGAGATCAGGTAAATCATCAGCGGATAAAAG
1811	
1011	TTATAACCTGTCTCCGCCAGTGCGGTACGCAAAGCGGTAATATCGAGTTTGGTGGTCAGGCTGAATCCGC
1081	ATTTAATCTGCTGACGATAAAGGGCAAAGTGTTCCCTGCGATTCCAGGTATTCAGGTCAATCCGGGTAAA
1951	ATTCATGGTTATTCCTTCTGATTAATAGTGAAAAATATTAATAATCAGAAGGCAGTCTGGTTGTCTCAAT
2021	GGGTAACATTCCGTCCTCCGTAAGCTGTTTGGTATTCATTAATAATACCCTATACGGGCTTAATCTGTAT
2091	TAAGCCCGGCTTTATTTATTCCGGCCAATCATCCGCAAACACATAGCGGATCAGTTCTGCGGATTCACGG
2161	GGCGGTGCTCTCAGCACATCCGCCATTAAATCAATCTCCATCTGACAGGTTTGCAGCTTGTCTTCCGCCG
2231	GTACATACGGATCATCCGTCAGGAAACTATCGCCGTATTTATCAATCGACCCCTGTATTTGTGCCGAAAA
2301	TAAAGTCACGGTACTCTCCGGAGGGCTTTTTCATATTCCGGCGGGGCTGACACTTCCGGATGCAGCACAC
2371	GAAAACAGA-GTCACCGGAACACGCCATTCTGAGAAAACTGTCACTAATCTGTTTTATTCCGCAAACAGA
2441	AAACCACCGGATAACCGGGGTATAGGAAGTATAAACCACCTTTGGGGGTATAGGAAGTATAAACCACCTT 11111111111111111111111111
2511	TGGGCTCCTCATCCGAAGTATCTTACCTGAAATTCCCCTCACTCGTTTACCGCTCAAGCCCCAATTTTAAC
2581	> TGCCGGTCCAGCCTAAACCGCTCTAATAAGGTTCGATTTGGCGGTAAAATCTCTAGCCTGATAGCTCGAG IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
2651	AGATACAAACTGCCCCACCGCCCCGTTTAAAAGTTGGCAGTGTTGAGCAGTGTTGGATTTGGGGTCGTCA
2721	GTCAAAGAGACGACTCTGTGATGGATCGAACAGGCTGGGAGTCAGTGGCGGCGCTCGTTCTGGTGGCAGC
2791	TCACGCTGCTTGGCGGCATTCGCCTTGGCTGTTTCTGTTTCAGATGCTTGAGAATCTGCTCAATGACCT
2861	TCGGATCTTCGATGCTGGCAAGGGTATPGGAAGTATAAACCACCTTTTTGCTCCTCATCCGAAGTATCTT
2931	ACCTGAAATTCCCTCACTCGTTTACCGCTCAAGCCCCAATTTTAACTGCCGGTCCAGCCTAAACCGCTCT
3001	AATAAGGTTCGATTTGGCGGTAAAATCTCTAGCCTGATAGCTCGAGAGATACAAACTGCCCCCCCC

CTGATAGCTCGAGAGATACAAACTGCCCCACCGCCCC ------------

- 3351 CCAGATCATGGCGCGGTGGCGCTCTGCAG

.

IV. CONCLUSIONS AND DISCUSSION

A. PLASMID pLS88

1. SEQUENCE HOMOLOGIES WITH KNOWN PLASMIDS

The evolution of the sequence of pLS88 is quite complex, composed of sequences found in RSF1010, pHD148, pHD8.1, and the *H*. *influenzae* plasmid R_{Rob} . Other than the *ori* region, only a small region of pLS88, less than 200 bases in total, is unique (Figure 7, bases 3898-4094).

The sulfonamide II and streptomycin A resistance genes of pLS88 have nucleotide sequences with almost 100% identity to RSF1010 sequences (data not shown). The protein translation sequence of the pLS88 sulfonamide resistance gene varies over a small region (28 amino acids) from that of RSF1010 (Figure 8A) due to three one-base additions spaced over 84 bases (data not shown); sequences from the sulfonamide resistance plasmids pHD148 and pHD8.1 also contain the three one-base additions (data not shown). The streptomycin A protein sequences of pLS88 and RSF1010 have small variations (Figure 8B). An area homologous to the first 97 bases of the streptomycin B resistance gene are also present (Figure 7, bases 1748-1844).

It is possible that the sulfonamide-streptomycin A region of pLS88 is more related to that of pHD8.1 than RSF1010: the 38 base pair deletion from the RSF1010 sequence seen in the intergenic region of pLS88 is duplicated in pHD8.1 (Figure 11). In both of these plasmids, the RSF1010 promoters P5 and P6 are present (Figure 7) and initiate transcription of the sulfonamide and streptomycin resistance genes. The deletion in the intergenic region is such that the reading frame is not maintained.

A problem arises upon consideration of the pLS88 deletion derivative, pPC100. The region containing the P5 and P6 promoters is deleted, yet the streptomycin resistant phenotype remains (Figure 7). It is possible that the promoters for the kanamycin gene, which may not be deleted in this plasmid, are responsible for the transcription of the streptomycin A resistance gene.

Downstream of the streptomycin resistance gene is a region homologous to a region downstream of the *H. influenzae* R_{keb} plasmid ROB-1 gene (Figure 7, bases 1849-2016 [Juteau & Levesque, 1990; GenBank accession number M64762]), encoding a β -lactamase gene (Figure 7). This is followed by a unique region of pLS88, and then a region homologous to the complement of a region upstream of the ROB-1 gene (Figure 7, bases 2338-2465 [Juteau & Levesque, 1990; GenBank accession number M64763]). What significance these sequences have, if any, is not known.

The kanamycin resistance gene sequence of pLS88 shows 99% homology to the transposon Tn903, but lacks the terminal inverted repeats of the transposon (Grindley & Joyce, 1980; Oka, et al., 1981). A comparison between the pLS88 and Tn903 kanamycin resistance gene translation is given in Figure 8C.

The region of pLS88 between the kanamycin resistance gene and the sulfonamide resistance gene (Figure 7, bases 1-107 and 3898-4772) is not essential for plasmid replication or maintenance, as is shown by the deletion derivative pPC100 (Figures 3 and 7). Interestingly, this region contains a remnant of the RSF1010 oriV sequence, lacking only the three 20 bp repeats of the origin (Figure 7, bases 4095-4422). As well, some sequence homology exists in this region with pHD148 and pHD8.1 regions upstream of the sulfonamide resistance gene (Figure 7, bases 4423-4577, and Figure 13, bases 1785-1921).

2. Tn903 AND TRANSPOSONS IN HAEMOPHILUS

The kanamycin resistance gene of pLS88 is homologous to the Tn903 sequence, but lacks the inverted repeats which are necessary for transposition (Grindley & Joyce, 1980; Oka, et al., 1981). Why the inverted repeats are not present is not known: possibly, they interfere with plasmid function in the Pasteurellaceae. Most of the transposons (for example, Tn5,

Tn9) except Tn916 (Kauc & Goodgal, 1989; Holland, et al., 1992) and possibly Tn2 have not been shown to transpose in the *Pasteurellaceae*, so it is possible that the terminal repeats are missing for a reason.

The promoters for transcription of the kanamycin resistance gene in pLS88 are not known. In Tn903, the promoters are thought, but not proven, to be located within the approximately 100 bases before the kanamycin resistance gene sequence (Grindley & Joyce, 1980; Oka, et al., 1981). Although pLS88 lacks the inverted repeats, the plasmid does contain some Tn903 sequence (Figure 7, bases 3006-3081) upstream of the kanamycin resistance gene. Within this region, there are sequences characteristic of а transcriptional promoter (Rosenberg & Court, 1979) and a Shine-Dalgarno sequence (Shine & Dalgarno, 1974). It is possible that these sequences initiate transcription of the kanamycin resistance gene; if so, this promoter cannot be responsible for the expression of the streptomycin A resistance gene in pPC100, and a fourth, unidentified promoter is present in both pLS88 and pPC100 which can initiate transcription of the streptomycin A resistance gene.

3. ORIGIN OF REPLICATION

The sequence of the ori of pLS88 was not found to have homology with those of known origins. Through the creation of pPC100, the ori was isolated to a region 1060 bp in length, downstream of the streptomycin resistance gene (Figure 7, bases 1845-2675). This region has few repeat sequences (16 bp inverted [Figure 7, bases 1866-1907, with a 9 bp loop] and 11 bp direct [Figure 7, bases 2441-2462), one imperfect DnaA box (Figure 7, bases 2412-2422, inverted and complemented [Fuller, et al., 1984]) and two potential integration host factor (IHF) binding sites (Figure 7, bases 2497-2524 and 2583-2600). Included in the 1060 bases are the sequences homologous to regions flanking the *H. influenzae* ROB-1 β -lactamase gene and a small open reading frame (ORF; Figure 7, bases 2395-2675). It is not known whether the *H. influenzae* ROB-1 sequences are involved in replication.

Since both pLS88 and pPC100 contain the open reading frame (261 bp in length), the possibility that a plasmidencoded replication protein may be involved in plasmid replication was explored. In vitro translation of both pLS88 anf pPC100 failed to show the production of a protein from the ORF (Figure 9). It is possible that a replication protein is encoded by the plasmid genome, but is produced in too little quantity or degrades too quickly to be detected by methods used in this study. Another possibility is that an RNA product may be involved in the replication process of pLS88.

The system of replication in pLS88 is unknown. The

replication origin is small, yet capable of replication in a wide variety of bacterial hosts (Table 3). It does not appear to depend on any plasmid encoded replication proteins, a characteristic more commonly seen in narrow-host-range plasmid origins.

B. PLASMIDS pHD8.1 AND pHD148

1. SEQUENCE HOMOLOGIES WITH KNOWN PLASMIDS

Heteroduplex analysis between RSF1010 and pHD148 has been previously done (Albritton, et al., 1982). Results from the previous study, combined with the results from this study involving heteroduplexes between pHD148 and pHD8.1 (Figure 10), have highlighted two areas where gross differences exist between pHD148, pHD8.1, and RSF1010. These differences are in the areas of the RSF1010 *oriV* and streptomycin resistance genes, and between *repC* and the sulfonamide resistance gene (see Figure 2 for plasmid maps).

Heteroduplex analysis has suggested that the area corresponding to the RSF *oriV* region in pHD148 and pHD8.1 has been deleted. This has been confirmed by sequencing (Figure 12). However, further sequencing of both pHD148 and pHD8.1

has shown that ori-like sequences are present, but are found downstream of the repC gene (Figure 13, bases 59-496 and Figure 14). This "movement" of the ori has not affected the oriT site (Figure 12, bases 1388-1478), but two deletions around the oriT affect the promoter sequences P1, P2, and P3 identified in RSF1010 (Scholz, et al., 1989; Frey, et al., 1992) that drive the transcription of the rep and mob genes. Promoter sequence changes are small, and it is likely that promoter functions are not affected. The "moved" ori regions of pHD148 and pHD8.1 are highly similar to each other and to RSF1010, but not identical (Figure 14). The genes necessary for replication in RSF1010, repA, repB, and repC, are present in both pHD148 and pHD8.1.

Downstream of the ori-like sequence in pHD148 is a long sequence of unique DNA (the insertion loop, or IL; see Figure 2 and Figure 13, bases 517-1784) which contains a stem-loop structure (Figure 13, bases 346-572, at arrows). The stem is at least 34 bases in length, contains a high GC content, and has only one identified mismatched pair. The stem has sequence homology to the *ssi* sites of the RSF1010 *oriV*, which is interrupted by the IL. Because of the size and content of the stem, it has been difficult to sequence through the area. The size of the stem-loop is not accurately known, due to sequencing problems. If the sequence downstream of the stemloop, slightly more than 1,200 bases, has a function, it is not known.

Downstream of the pHD148 insertion loop is a short sequence of DNA which is also present in pHD8.1 and pLS88, but not in RSF1010 (Figure 13, bases 1785-1922). The origin of this sequence is not known. This region is followed by DNA sequence homologous to the RSF1010 region upstream of the sulfonamide resistance gene, which contains the RSF1010 P5 and P6 promoters, thought to drive the transcription of the sulfonamide and streptomycin resistance genes in all four plasmids (Figure 13, bases 1923-2090).

The sulfonamide-streptomycin A intergenic regions of pHD8.1 and pLS88 have an identical 38 bp deletion from the RSF1010 sequence (Figure 11), suggesting that pHD8.1 and pLS88 are more related to each other than either is to RSF1010. The streptomycin resistance genes are deleted in pHD148, but this plasmid has the 38 bases that pHD8.1 and pLS88 lack: interestingly, the crossover point for the deletion of the streptomycin resistance genes in pHD148 occurs immediately after these 38 bases (Figure 11).

The 150 bp immediately downstream of the pHD148 sulfonamide resistance gene is homologous to the sulfonamide resistance gene downstream region of the plasmid pCS05 (Rådström, et al., 1991). This sequence is not seen in pHD8.1, pLS88 or RSF1010. As well, there is homology between that pGS05 sequence and the insertion loop of pHD148, suggesting that the IL sequence of pHD148 may have originated from pGS05 (Rådström, et al., 1991). The region immediately

upstream of the sulfonamide resistance gene in pHD148, pHD8.1, pLS88, RSF1010, and pGS05 are all homologous.

Figure 18 summarizes the interrelationships between the plasmids pHD148, pHD8.1, pLS88, RSF1010, and pGS05.

2. INCOMPATIBILITY AND THE ORIGIN OF REPLICATION

The plasmids RSF1010, pHD148 and pHD8.1 are incompatible, suggesting that their replication machinery is alike. Therefore, it is likely that the ori-like sequences of pHD148 and pHD8.1 discussed above (Figure 14) behave in a manner similar to the RSF1010 oriV. However, pHD148 and pHD8.1 are capable of being stably maintained within the *Pasteurellaceae*, and RSF1010 is not.

The ability of both pHD148 and pHD8.1 to replicate within the Pasteurellaceae may be related to the movement of the ori sequence from upstream of the oriT to downstream of repC (Figures 12, 13, and 18). Other researchers, who have confirmed the instability of RSF1010 within the Pasteurellaceae, have also demonstrated the stable replication of RSF1010 minimum replicons in both Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae and Pasteurella haemolytica (Frey, 1992). Exactly why these alterations in structure allow stable replication within the Pasteurellaceae is not understood.

Figure 18. Physical maps of plasmids RSF1010, pHD148, pHD8.1 and pLS88.

The map at the top represents the entire RSF1010 plasmid linearized at the *PstI* site immediately upstream of the sulfonamide resistance gene. The locations of genes and structures are taken from Scholz, et al., 1989.

The maps at the center and bottom represent the entire of pHD8.1, pHD148, and pLS88, linearized as per RSF1010. The locations of genes and structures are from Willson, 1989, or were determined in this study. The size from 0 to 8.8 kb is indicated by a scale at the bottom.

Box (a) represents the ori of pLS88. The smallest boxes within the region of the origin represent the sequences homologous to regions before and after the *H*. *influenzae* ROB-1 β -lactamase gene. The larger box represents the ORF.

Box (b) represents the region of pLS88 homologous to the incomplete RSF1010 oriV region, which lacks the three 20 bp direct repeats.

Between box (b) and the end of pLS88 is a line, which indicates the end of a region of DNA homologous to pHD8.1 and pHD148 (see lines on these plasmid maps as well) but not RSF1010. Downstream of this line is sequence common to all four plasmids.

The black lines over areas of the four plasmids indicate regions of homology with the known sequences of plasmid pGS05 (Rådström, et al., 1991).

Figure 18. Physical maps of plasmids RSF1010, pHD148, pHD8.1 and pLS88.



C. PLASMID DDM2

1. SEQUENCE HOMOLOGIES WITH KNOWN PLASMIDS

The RSF0885 region of the plasmid has been previously discussed (Figures 4 and 5). The sequence of the 4 kb BamHI fragment of p2265 that comprises the remainder of the plasmid pDM2 was generated by primer extension in both directions out from the chloramphenicol resistance gene sequence of pSa, encoding a type II chloramphenicol acetyl transferase (Foster & Shaw, 1973; Murray, et al., 1990), and is given in Figure 16.

The known pSa sequence bordering the chloramphenicol resistance gene (Murray, et al., 1990) is present in the BamHI insert from p2265 found in pDM2: the sequence is homologous between positions 1530-2498 (Figure 16). Between the two direct repeats and the sequence homology with pSa are two groups of short repeat sequences, two 11 bp direct and three 18 bp direct repeats (Figure 16, bases 1200-1380). What function these serve, if any, is not known. It is also not known if the sequence including the short direct repeats is present in pSa, or if that region was generated by a separate recombinational event in p2265. The function of the sequence in p2265 (and pDM2) downstream of the region homologous to pSa

and upstream of the third, inverted repeat is likewise unknown. This region is not present in pSa, as the 3' region of homology between the p2265 BamHI insert and the pSa sequence occurs within the known pSa sequence.

2. Tn10 AND TRANSPOSONS IN HAEMOPHILUS

The three long repeat sequences present at the border of the 4 kb BamHI insert contained in pDM2 form part of a larger structure including tetracycline resistance genes in several large conjugative plasmids, including p2265, that can be found These plasmids share an almost identical in H. influenzae. core, with the antibiotic resistance genes located on discrete, translocatable genetic elements (vanKlingeren, et al., 1977; Spies, et al., 1983). Research on the occurrence of multiple plasmid-linked antibiotic resistance have provided evidence for the existence of combined transposons, containing an ampicillin or chloramphenicol resistance gene inserted into a tetracycline transposon, which serves as a vehicle for transposition (Spies, et al., 1983).

Another mechanism used in the adaptation to increased antibiotic concentrations has been reported in *H*. *influenzae*: it has been observed that tetracycline transposons as well as combined tetracycline and chloramphenicol transposons may be
amplified, producing multiple copies in succession (Jahn, et al., 1979; Spies, et al., 1983). Similar phenomena have been observed on certain plasmids of *Streptococcus faecalis* (Clewell, et al., 1975), *Proteus mirabilis* (Rownd & Mickel, 1971), and *E. coli* (Schmitt, et al., 1979). In these cases, the amplifiable units are bound by direct repeats of various lengths, providing homology for recombination.

p2265 is thought to contain combined tetracycline and chloramphenicol transposons, and the BamHI fragment of p2265 contained in pDM2 is likely to be a part of one. In the study by Spies, et al., digestion of plasmids containing combined transpsons by BamHI cleaved out the chloramphenicol resistance gene; moreover, the cleavage was symmetrical within the inverted repeats bounding the gene, cleaving approximately 500 bp apart (Spies, et al., 1983). In the p2265 fragment, inverted repeats approximately 500 bp in length and bounded by BamHI sites were found (Figure 16, bases 1-445,446-886 and 3448-3969, and Figure 19). It is possible that, given such a typical transposon structure, this may represent a chloramphenicol transposon in Haemophilus. However, no such structure studied thus far has been shown to transpose independently of the Tn10 element, and amplification of the chloramphenicol resistance gene was not observed with increasing concentrations of chloramphenicol (Spies, et al., 1983).

Figure 19. Physical maps of the 4.1 kb BamHI fragment of p2265 and the large Tn10-chloramphenicol resistance plasmids.

The top three maps are the amplifiable units of large conjugative Haemophilus plasmids containing resistance transposons (Spies, et al., 1983). IS10 (1) and (r) are the inverted insertion sequences that border the transposon Tn10. represented by hatched areas, AS, are "amplification sequences" which are contained within each amplifiable unit. Cm and Tc represent the approximate positions of the chloramphenicol and tetracycline resistance genes. Shaded areas represent the repeat sequences of the chloramphenicol resistance gene. Arrows indicate the direction of repeated sequences. The size from 0 to 30 kb is indicated on the bottom.

The plasmid p2265 BamHI fragment containing the chloramphenicol resistance gene is represented in the map on the bottom. The organization of the structures surrounding it are not known. The sequence of the fragment is in Figure 16.

Figure 19. Physical maps of the 4.1 kb BamHI fragment of p2265 and the large Tn10-chloramphenicol resistance plasmids.



D. PLASMIDS pPW87 AND pPW88

1. SEQUENCE HOMOLOGIES WITH KNOWN PLASMIDS

The sequence of the 3.4 kb PstI fragment of pSa contained in pPW87 has been determined and is found in Figure 17. What is interesting in the sequence bordering the chloramphenicol resistance gene is its homology to the sequence bordering the chloramphenicol resistance gene of pDM2. Homology exists between the pPW87 insert sequence at positions 781-2080 and the pDM2 insert sequence at positions 1122-2498, except in the region of pDM2 containing the short direct repeats. In the pPW87 sequence, there are two deletions, one 28 bp in length, and the other 33 bp in length, that occur in the regions in pPW87 corresponding to the short repeats in pDM2 (Figure 20). Since part of the sequence of the two outer longer repeats are present in pPW87, it is likely that these repeats were deleted from the pPW87 sequence. It is not known whether these repeats were deleted after the PstI fragment was cloned into pLS88, or if they have been deleted in pSa prior to cloning.

Downstream of the chloramphenicol resistance gene of pPW87 are two approximately 400 bp direct repeats, each containing a *XhoI* site (Figure 17, bases 2486-2882 and 2883-3277). In pPW88, containing the pSa* insert, there are three

Figure 20. Physical maps of plasmid insert sequences from pDM2 and pPW87, and the corresponding sequence in pSa.

The map at the top represents the BamHI fragment of plasmid p2265, found in pDM2. The large open arrows represent the terminal inverted repeat sequences. The small black arrows represent the two groups of short direct repeats seen in the insert sequence.

The map in the middle represents the *PstI* fragment of plasmid pSa, found in pPW87. The large grey arrows represent the long direct repeat sequences. The small black arrows represent the short duplicated sequence at the 5' end of the repeats. The open-ended box represents the incomplete sulfonamide I resistance gene found in the integron of pSa, In6.

The map at the bottom represents the known published sequences of In6 from pSa (solid black line; Murray, et al., 1990; Stokes, et al., 1993) separated from regions not yet sequenced (dotted lines), lined up against the pPW87 insert sequence.

The thick, solid black lines indicate regions of homology between the pDM2 and pPW87 insert sequences.

The size from 0 to 4 kb is indicated on the scale at the bottom.

Figure 20. Physical maps of plasmid insert sequences from pDM2 and pPW87, and the corresponding sequence of pSa.



direct repeats, each containing a XhoI site (Figure 6). It is possible that these repeats may be responsible for the deletion events observed in these plasmids.

2. INTEGRONS

The pSa insert sequence is part of a larger structure in pSa called an integron (In). Integrons are DNA elements encoding a site-specific recombination system capable of acquiring genes at a specific site. Typically, integrons consist of two highly conserved DNA sequences, designated the 5'- and 3'-conserved segments, flanking a variable insert region which encodes one or more antibiotic resistance genes (Stokes & Hall, 1989). The 5'-conserved segment encodes a DNA integrase and the 3'-conserved segment includes a sulfonamide resistance gene (sull). The nature, number, and order of genes in the variable region varies widely. These genes are inserted as cassettes, and each cassette includes a gene coding region, a 59 base element located at the 3' end of the gene (excluding the last seven bases), and a seven base core recombination site at the 5' end of the gene (Stokes, et al., 1993). The 59 base sequences act as sites for the sitespecific recombination events catalyzed by a DNA integrase, the gene for which is present in the 5'-conserved segment

(Collis & Hall, 1992a; 1992b; Collis, et al., 1993; Stokes, et al., 1993). Recombination occurs within or beside a GTT triplet found in all seven base core sites. These inserts have the features of gene cassettes, and encode a single open reading frame. The variable regions contain very little noncoding DNA (Stokes, et al., 1993). Maps of integron structures are found in Figure 21.

Two atypical integrons have been described. In7 is found in a 120 kb conjugative IncC plasmid (Stokes, et al., 1993). In6 is found in the plasmid pSa (Stokes, et al., 1993; Ireland Valentine, 1985). These integrons are unusual in that they contain two copies of the sulformide resistance gene, and therefore part of the 3'-conserved segment on the 5' end (Stokes, et al., 1993).

The chloramphenicol resistance gene in pPW87 and pPW88 is from the region of In6 between the two 3'-conserved segments. Normally, gene cassettes inserted into integrons contain little more than the gene itself. Where the direct repeats observed in the *PstI* fragment originated from is unknown. The repeats were not acquired from the same site as the chloramphenicol resistance gene: In7, which is remarkably similar to In6, contains the sequence of one repeat, but does not contain a chloramphenicol resistance gene (Stokes, et al., 1993). It is likely that the one repeat sequence seen in In7 was tandemly duplicated in In6, along with a further direct duplication of the first 28 bases (Figures 16 and 20). In

Figure 21. Physical maps of the plasmid pPW87 and Int6.

The map at the top illustrates the general structure of integrons. The location and orientation of the different promoters are shown. The arrow marked *int* denotes the gene for the integrase. The product of $qacE\Delta l$ determines resistance to ethidium bromide and quaternary ammonium compounds. The putative product of orf5 is similar to the puromycin acetyltransferase of *Streptomyces alboniger*. The sequence GTTRRRY is the integron's crossover point for integration of gene cassettes (Stokes & Hall, 1989; Hall et al., 1991; Stokes, et al., 1993; Collis & Hall, 1992).

The map on the bottom represents In6 from pSa (Stokes, et al., 1993; Ireland Valentine, 1985). The 5'-conserved segment is shown as a hollow line and the 3'-conserved segments are shown as thick black lines, illustrating the duplication of part of the 3'-conserved segment. The *int*, *sulI* and *cat* genes encode the integrase, and sulfonamide and chloramphenicol resistance proteins. The predicted product of orf4 is closely related that of $qacE\Delta 1$. The genes aadA2 and aacA encode spectinomycin resistance and kanamycin and gentamycin resistance, respectively (Stokes, et al., 1993). The orf341 gene shows some homology to a noncoding ORF in RSF1010.

The position of the *PstI* fragment present in pPW87 is highlighted at the bottom. In pPW88, three *XhoHI* sites have been identified. The sequence of pPW87 is in Figure 17.

The size, from 0 to 10.5 kb, is indicated at the bottom.

Figure 21. Physical maps of the plasmids pPW87 and pPW88 and In6.



pSa*, a further duplication occurred, giving rise to three direct, tandem repeats.

E. SUMMARY OF GENETIC ANALYSIS IN THE PASTEURELLACEAE

1. THE PLASMID pLS88

The 4.8 kb plasmid pLS88 has been fully sequenced and well described. Its usefulness as a potential vector stems from its small size, multiple antibiotic resistance genes, and broad host range. The simplicity of the plasmid structure is quite appealing.

pLS88 encodes resistance to streptomycin, sulfonamide, and kanamycin. The DNA sequences for the resistance genes are highly homologous to antibiotic resistance genes from both RSF1010 (*sulII* and *strA*) and Tn903 (*kan*). Despite the sequence homology with RSF1010, pLS88 is from a different incompatibility group than RSF1010.

The broad-host-range of pLS88 is indicated by the ability of the plasmid to confer resistance to streptomycin and kanamycin within members of the *Enterobacteriaceae*, the *Pasteurellaceae*, and the *Pseudomonaceae*. The acquisition of the antibiotic resistant phenotype by these bacteria indicates

that promoters for the resistance genes are recognizable by the transcriptional apparatus, and that the origin of replication can function within these organisms.

The replication mechanism of pLS88 remains to be described. The origin of replication is small, and does not appear to depend on any plasmid encoded *rep* proteins. It is possible that a replication protein is encoded by the genome, but is produced in too little quantity or degrades too quickly to be detected by methods used in this study. Another possibility is that an RNA product may be involved in the replication process of pLS88. Given the small size of the ori region, the broad nature of the host range is surprising.

The antibiotic resistance genes in pLS88 have unique restriction sites that make the plasmid a good cloning vector. The sulfonamide resistance gene has two *PstI* sites that can be used to replace *sulII* with foreign DNA. The kanamycin resistance gene has unique cloning sites for *ClaI*, *HindIII*, *PvuI*, *SmaI* and *XhoI*. The streptomycin resistance gene has a unique cloning site for *BglI*. These restriction sites will allow insertion of foreign DNA with easy selection for recombinant plasmids.

2. THE PLASMIDS pPW87 AND pPW88

The recombinant plasmids pPW87 and pPW88 have also been fully sequenced. The plasmids contain genes encoding streptomycin, kanamycin (from pLS88) and chloramphenicol (from pSa or pSa*) resistance. The chloramphenicol resistance gene has a unique *PvuII* site for cloning.

The pSa and pSa* inserts containing the chloramphenicol resistance gene have repeat sequences which may explain the deletion events occurring in pPW87 and pPW88 under different antibiotic selection. It may be possible to use these plasmids as partial suicide vectors, as the chloramphenicol resistance gene is deleted when selecting for streptomycin resistance in both H. influenzae and A. pleuropneumoniae (Willson, 1989). In this way, DNA cloned into the chloramphenicol resistance gene can be released, through recombination, from pPW87 or pPW88 in vivo. If Haemophilus or Actinobacillus chromosomal DNA was cloned into the plasmid chloramphenicol resistance gene through manipulation in E. coli, homologous recombination can result in insertion mutants in Haemophilus or Actinobacillus. This will allow for observation of the effects of insertion mutations on specific areas of the Haemophilus or Actinobacillus genome.

3. THE PLASMID pDM2

The entire sequence of pDM2 has now been determined. Its use as a broad-host-range shuttle vector is already known. It is capable of replication in both *Haemophilus influenzae* and *E. coli* (McCarthy, et al., 1982). The ampicillin marker has unique restriction sites for *PstI* and *PvuI* and the chloramphenicol resistance marker has a unique restriction site for *SmaI* (McCarthy, et al., 1982).

The p2265 insert containing the chloramphenicol resistance gene shows homology to the pSa insert in pPW87 and pPW88, suggesting a common origin. The long repeat sequences of both inserts are different in sequence and orientation and are not derived from the same origin. Because of the deletion of the short direct repeats of the p2265 insert sequence as seen in the pSa insert sequence, it is more likely that the pSa sequence is decendent from the p2265 sequence (with subsequent deletion of the short direct repeats) than vice verca. The long repeats of the pSa sequence may have already been present prior to the insertion of the chloramphenicol resistance gene into the integron.

The p2265 insert containing the chloramphenicol resistance gene is worth further study as a possible transposon in *Haemophilus*. The study of the combined tetracycline and chloramphenicol transposon in p2265 should

continue to this end.

4. THE PLASMIDS pHD8.1 AND pHD148

Plasmids pHD8.1 and pHD148 have a limited use, in their current form, as vectors. Although the host range of these plasmids is quite broad, they lack multiple markers useful in the easy selection of clones from a mixed population. The addition of more markers to these plasmids through cloning is possible; however, the increasing size of the plasmids will begin to be of concern. As well, they are incompatible with RSF1010-based vectors which are commonly used for genetic analysis.

The replication mechanism of pHD148 and pHD8.1 has been discussed, and appears similar to the mechanism of RSF1010 replication. The manner by which these plasmids are able to replicate in the *Pasteurellaceae* while RSF1010 cannot is puzzling, and work remains to be done concerning what inhibitory structures or mechanisms are present in RSF1010 that are deleted or inactivated in the movement of the replication origin to the sites in pHD8.1 and pHD148, as well as in the RSF1010 minimum replicons, which lack little more than the sulfonamide and streptomycin resistance genes.

The insertion loop in pHD148 could have originated from

pGS05 through recombination. The whole sequence of the pHD148 insertion was not completed due to sequencing problems through the stem-loop structure. The sequence of pGS05 in this region has also not been fully determined. It would be interesting to see the full structure of the completed sequence, and the possible effect this structure could have on plasmid functions.

This study presents the characterization of several potential vectors for use in the genetic analysis of members of the *Pasteurellaceae*. The plasmids pLS88, pPW87/88 and pDM2 will be useful as broad-host-range shuttle vectors in the *Pasteurellaceae* and the *Enterobacteriaceae*. The plasmids pHD148 and pHD8.1, while interesting, are of limited use as vectors in their present form. Given the medical and economic importance of this bacterial family, and that no commercial vector systems exist for use in the *Pasteurellaceae*, it is important to continue the characterization and analysis of these plasmids, including replication mechanisms, promoter sites and structure, and recombinational events, to better understand their potential as shuttle vectors.

VI. LITERATURE CITED

Albritton, W.L. 1982. Infections due to Haemophilis species other than H. influenzae. Ann. Rev. Microbiol. 36:199-216.

Albritton, W.L., J.W. Bendler and J.K. Setlow. 1981. Plasmid transformation in *Haemophilus influenzae*. J. Bacteriol. 145:1099-1101.

Albritton, W.L., J.L. Brunton, L. Blaney and I. MacLean. 1982. Plasmid-mediated sulfonamide resistance in Haemophilus ducreyi. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 21:159-165.

Albritton, W.L., P.A. Noble and K.D. Webster. 1994. Clarification of the structure of the ampicillin resistance plasmid RSF0885 from serotype b Haemophilus influenzae strain HR-885. Canad. J. Microbiol. 40:154-157.

Albritton, W.L. and L. Slaney. 1980. Multiple antibiotic resistance plasmids in *Haemophilus influenzae*. In Plasmids and Transposons: Environmental Effects and Maintenance Mechanisms (C. Studdard and K.R. Rozee, eds.) Academic Press, Inc., New York, pp.107-116.

Araki, Y., M. Inoue and H. Hashimoto. 1987. Characterization and mobilization of nonconjugative plasmids encoding resistance to streptomycin and sulfanilamide. Microbiol. Immunol. 31:1107-1111.

Bilgeri, Y.R., R.C. Bullard, M.D. Duncan, A.C. Mauff and H.J. Kocrnhof. 1982. Antimicrobial susceptibility of 103 strains of *Haemophilus ducreyi* isolated in Johannesburg. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 22:686-688.

Bills, M.M., J.M. Medd, R.J. Chappel and B. Adler. 1993. Construction of a shuttle vector for use between *Pasteurella multocida* and *Escherichia coli*. Plasmid **30**:268-273.

Brasilian Purpuric Fever Study Group. 1987. Brazilian purpuric fever: epidemic purpura fulminans associated with antecedent purulent conjunctivitis. Lancet **ii**:757-761.

Broom, A.K. and P.H.A. Sneath. 1981. Numerical taxonomy of Haemophilus. J. Gen. Microbiol. 126:123-149.

Buchanan-Wollaston, V., J.E. Passiatore and F. Cannon. 1987. The mob and oriT mobilization functions of bacterial plasmid promote its transfer to plants. Nature 328:172-175. **Bush, K.** 1989a. Characterization of β -lactamases. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. **33**:259-263.

Bush, K. 1989b. Classification of β -lactamases: Groups 1, 2a, 2b, and 2b'. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. **33**:264-270.

Bush, K. 1989c. Classification of β -lactamases: Groups 2c, 2d, 2e, 3, and 4. Antimicrob. Agents. Chemother. 33:271-276.

Carlone, G.M., L. Gorelkin, L.L. Gheesling, A.L. Erwin, S.K. Hoiseth, N.H. Mulks, S.P. O'Connor, R.S. Weyant, J. Myrick, L. Rubin, R.S. Munford III, E.H. White, R.J. Arko, B. Swaminthan, L.M. Graves, L.W. Mayer, N.K. Robinson, S. P. Caudill and The Brasilian Purpuric Fever Study Group. 1989. Potential virulence-associated factors in Brazilian purpuric fever. J. Clin. Microbiol. 27:609-614.

Carter, G.R. 1984. Genus I. Pasteurella. In Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology, Volume I, Section 1. Facultatively Anaerobic Gram-Negative Rods (N.R. Krieg and J.R. Holt, eds.) Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, MD, pp. 552-558.

Chen, S.-T. and R.C. Clowes. 1987. Variations between the nucleotide sequences of Tn1, Tn2, and Tn3 and expression of β -lactamase in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. **169**:913-916.

Chowdhury, M.N.H. and S.S. Parek. 1983. Urethritis associated with *Haemophilus parainfluenzae*: A case report. Sex. Transm. Dis. **10**:45-46.

Chuba, P.J., R. Bock, G. Graf, T. Adam and U. Göbel. 1988. Comparison of 16S rRNA sequences from the family *Pasteurellaceae*: phylogenetic relatedness by cluster analysis. J. Gen. Microbiol. **134**:1923-1930.

Chung, C.T., S.L. Niemela and R.H. Miller. 1989. One-step preparation of competent *Escherichia coli*: transformation and storage of bacterial cells in the same solution. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86:2172-2175.

Chunn, C.J., S.R. Jones and A. McCutchan. 1978. Haemophilus parainfluenzae infective endocarditis. Medicine 56:99-113.

Clewell, D.B., Y. Yagi and B. Bauer. 1975. Plasmiddetermined tetracycline resistance in *Streptococcus faecalis*: evidence for gene amplification during growth in presence of tetracycline. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **72**:1720-1724. Collis, C., G. Grammaticopoulos, J. Briton, H.W. Stokes and R.M. Hall. 1993. Site-specific insertion of gene cassettes into integrons. Mol. Microbiol. 9:41-52.

Collis, C. and R.M. Hall. 1992a. Site-specific deletion and rearrangement of integron insert genes catalyzed by the integron DNA integrase. J. Bacteriol. **174**:1574-1585.

Collis, C. and R.M. Hall. 1992b. Gene cassettes from the insert region of integrons are excised as covalently closed circles. Mol. Microbiol. **6**:2875-2885.

Couturier, N., F. Bex, P.L. Berguist and W.K. Maas. 1988. Identification and classification of bacterial plasmids. Microbiol Rev. **52:**375-395.

Dajani, A.S., B.I. Asmar and M.C. Thirumoothi. 1979. Systemic Haemophilus influenzae: an overview. J. Pediatr. 94:355-364.

Danner, D.B., R.A. Deich, K.L.Sisco and H.O. Smith. 1980. An eleven-base-pair sequence determines the specificity of DNA uptake in *Haemophilus* transformation. Gene **11**:311-318.

Danner, D.B. and M.L. Pifer. 1982. Plasmid cloning vectors resistant to ampicillin and tetracycline which can replicate in both *e. coli* and *Haemophilus influenzae*. Gene **18:**101-105.

Davis, L. 1903. Observations on the distribution and culture of the chancroid bacillus. J. Med. Res. 9:401-415.

Davis, R.W., N. Simon and N. Davidson. 1971. Electron microscope heteroduplex methods for mapping regions of base sequence homology in nucleic acids. In Methods in Enzymology, Vol. XXI, Part D (L. Grossman and K. Moldave eds.) Academic Press, New York, pp. 413-442.

DeGraaf, J., J.H. Crossa, F. Hefron and S. Falkow. 1978. Replication of the nonconjugative plasmid RSF1010 in Escherichia coli K-12. J. Bacteriol. **134**:1117-1122.

DeGraaf, J., L.P. Elwell and S. Falkow. 1976. Molecular nature of two beta-lactamase-specifying plasmids isolated from *Haemophilus influenzae* type b. J. Bacteriol. **126**:439-446.

De Ley, J., W. Mannheim, R. Mutters, K. Piechulla, R. Tytgat, P. Segers, M. Bisgaard, W. Fredricksen, K.-H. Hinz and M. Vanhoucke. 1990. Inter- and intrafamilial similarities of rRNA cistrons of the *Pasteurellaceae*. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 40:126-137. **Devhirst, F.E., B.J. Paster, I. Olsen and G.J. Fraser.** 1992. Phylogeny of 54 representative strains of species in the family *Pasteurellaceae* as determinted by comparison of 16S rRNA sequences. J. Bacteriol. **174**:2002-2013.

Dower, W.J. 1990. A general approach to genetic transformation. In Genetic Engineering, Volume 12 (J.K. Setlow, ed.) Plenum Press, New York, pp.275-295.

Dower, W.J., J. Miller and C. Ragsdale. 1988. High efficiency transformation of *Escherichia coli* by high voltage electroporation. Nucleic Acids Res. 16:6127-6145.

Foster, T.J. and W.V. Shaw. 1973. Chloramphenicol acetyltransferases specified by *fi*- R factors. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. **3**:99-104.

Frey, J. 1992. Construction of a broad host range shuttle vector for gene cloning and expression in Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae and other Pasteurellaceae. Res. Microbiol. 143:263-269.

Frey, J. and M. Bagdasarian. 1989. The molecular biology of IncQ plasmids. In Promiscuous Plasmids of Gram-Negative Plasmids, Chapter 4A (C.M. Thomas, ed). Academic Press, Oxford, Great Britian, pp. 79-94.

Frey, J., N.M. Bagdasarian and M. Bagdasarian. 1992. Replication and copy number control of the broad-host-range plasmid RSF1010. Gene **113**:101-106.

Friesen, C.A. and C.T. Cho. 1986. Characteristic features of neonatal sepsis due to Haemophilus influenzae. Rev. Infest. Dis. 8:777-780.

Fuller, R.S., B.E. Funnell and A. Kornberg. 1984. The dnaA protein complex with the *E. coli* chromosomal replication origin (*oriC*) and other DNA sites. Cell 38:889-900.

Garger, S.J., O.M. Griffith and L.K. Grill. 1983. Rapid purification of plasmid DNA by a single centrifugation in a two-step cesium chloride-ethidium bromide gradient. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. **117**:835-842.

Gigliotti, F., W.T. Williams, F.G. Hayden, J. Owen Hendley, J. Benjamin, M. Dickens, R. Ford, C. Gleason, V.A. Perriello and J. Wood. 1981. Etiology of acute conjunctivitis in children. J. Ped. 98:531-536. Gilbride, K.A. and J.L. Brunton. 1990. Identification and characterization of a new replication region in the Neisseria gonorrhoeae β -lactamase plasmid pFA3. J. Bacteriol. 172:2439-2446.

Givner, L.B., J.S. Abramson and B. Wasilauskas. 1989. Meningitis due to *Haemophilus influenzae* type b resistant to ampicillin and chloramphenicol. Rev. Infect. Dis. **11**:329-334.

Grace, C.J., R.E. Levitz and H. Katz-Pollak. 1988. Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans prosthetic valve endocarditis. Rev. Infect. Dis. **10**:188-190.

Greene, G.R. 1978. Meningitis due to *Haemophilus influenzae* other than type b: case report and review. Pediatrics **52**:1021-1025.

Grindley, N.D.F. and C.M. Joyce. 1980. Genetic and DNA sequence analysis of the kanamycin resistance transposon Tn903. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 77:7176-7180.

Guerry, P., J. vanEmbdan and S. Falkow. 1974. Molecular nature of two nonconjugative plasmids carrying drug resistance genes. J. Bacteriol. **117**:619-639.

Halbert, D.N. 1988. DNA probes for the detection of antibiotic resistance genes. Clin. Microbiol. Newsletter. 10:33-37.

Hall, R.M., D.E. Brookes and H.W. Stokes. 1991. Sitespecific insertion of genes into integrons: role of the 59base element and determination of the recombination crossover point. Mol. Microbiol. **5**:1941-1959.

Haring, V. and E. Scherzinger. 1989. Replication proteins of the IncQ plasmid RSF1010. In Promiscuous Plasmids of Gram-Negative Plasmids, Chapter 4B (C.M. Thomas, ed). Academic Press, Oxford, Great Britian, pp. 95-124.

Haring, V., P. Scholz, E. Scherzinger, J. Frey, K. Derbyshire, G. Hatfull, N.S. Willetts and M. Bagdasarian. 1985. Protein RepC is involved in copy number control of the broad-hostrange plasmid RSF1010. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:6090-6094.

Harrison, L.H., G.A. DaSilva, M. Pittman, D.W. Fleming, A. Vranjac, C.V. Broome and The Brazilian Purpuric Fever Study Group. 1989a. Epidemiology and clinical spectrum of Brazilian purpuric fever. J. Clin. Microbiol. 27:599-604.

Harrison, L.H., G.A. DaSilva, A. Vranjac, C.V. Broome and The Brasilian Purpuric Fever Study Group. 1989b. Brazilian purpuric fever: an epidemiologic and clinical summary. Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J. 8:239-241.

Heffron, F. and B.J. McCarthy. 1979. DNA sequence analysis of the transposon Tn3: three genes and three sites involved in transposition of Tn3. Cell **18**:1153-1163.

Heffron, F., C. Rubens and S. Falkow. 1975. Translocation of a plasmid DNA sequence which mediates ampicillin resistance: molecular nature and specificity of insertion. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 72:3623-3627.

Hirschmann, J.V. and E.D. Everett. 1979. Haemophilus influenzae infections in adults: Report on nine cases and a review of the literature. Medicine **58**:80-94.

Holland, J., K.J. Towner and P. Williams. 1992. Tn916 insertion mutagenesis in *Escherichia coli* and *Haemophilus influenzae* type b following conjugative transfer. J. Gen. Microbiol. **138**:509-515.

Holmes, R.L. and W.P. Kozinin. 1983. Pneumonia and bacteremia associated with Haemophilus influenzae serotype d. J. Clin. Microbiol. 18:730-732.

Honda, Y., H. Sakai, H. Hiasa, K. Tanaka, T. Komano and M. Bagdasarian. 1991. Functional division and reconstruction of a plasmid replication origin: molecular dissection of the *oriV* of the broad-host-range plasmid RSF1010. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88:179-183.

Honda, Y., H. Sakai and T. Komano. 1988. Two single stranded DNA initiation signals located in the *oriV* region of plasmid RSF1010. Gene 68:221-228.

Honda, Y., H. Sakai, T. Komano and M. Bagdasarian. 1989. RepB' is required in *trans* for the two single-stranded DNA initiation signals in the *oriV* of plasmid RSF1010. Gene 80:155-159.

Honig, P.J., P.S. Pasquariello, Jr. and S.E. Stool. 1973. H. influenzae pneumonia in infants and children. J. Ped. 83:215-219.

Ingham, H.R. and D.C. Turk. 1969. Haemophili from eyes. J. Clin. Path. 22:258-262.

Ireland Valentine, C.R. 1983. Detailed restriction enzyme map of crown gall-suppressive IncW plasmid pSa, showing ends of deletion causing chloramphenicol sensitivity. J. Bacteriol. **155**:722-727.

Ireland Valentine, C.R. 1985. One-kilobase direct repeats of plasmid pSa. Plasmid 14:167-170.

Izaki, K., K. Kiuchi and K. Arima. 1966. Specificity and mechanism of tetracycline resistance in a multiple drug resistant strain of *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. **91**:628-633.

Jacobs, R.F., S. Hsi, C. B. Wilson. 1983. Apparent meningococcemia: clinical features of disease due to Haemophilus influenzae and Neisseria meningitidis. Pediatrics 72:469-472.

Jahn, G., R. Laufs, P.-M. Kaulfers and H. Kolenda. 1979. Molecular nature of two *Haemophilus influenzae* R factors containing resistances and the multiple integration of drug resistance transposons. J. Bacteriol. **138**:584-597.

Javetz, E., J.L. Melnick and E.A. Adelberg. 1987a. Haemophilus, Bordetella, and Brucella. In Review of Medical Microbiology, Seventeenth Edition (E. Jawetz, J.L. Melnick and E.A. Adelberg, eds.) Appleton and Lange, East Norwalk, Connecticut, pp. 261-263.

Jawetz, E., J.L. Melnick and E.A. Adelberg. 1987b. Yersinia, Francisella, and Pasteurella. In Review of Medical Microbiology, Seventeenth Edition (E. Jawetz, J.L. Melnick and E.A. Adelberg, eds.) Appleton and Lange, Eask Norwalk, Connecticut, pp. 254.

Jones, R.N., J. Slepak and J. Bigelow. 1976. Ampicillin resistant Haemophilus paraphrophilus laryngo-epiglottitis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 4:405-407.

Juteau, J. and R.C. Levesque. 1990. Sequence analysis and evolutionary perspectives of ROB-1 β -lactamase. Antimicrob. Agents. Chemother. 34:1354-1359.

Kaplan, A.H., D.J. Weber and E.Z. Oddone. 1989. Infection due to Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans: 15 cases and review. Rev. Infect. Dis. **11**:46-63.

Kauc, L. and S.L. Goodgal. 1989. Introduction of transposon Tn916 DNA into Haemophilus influenzae and Haemophilus parainfluenzae. J. Bacteriol. **171**:6625-6628. **Kilian, M.** 1976. A taxonomic study of the genus Haemophilus, with the proposal of a new species. J. Gen. Microbiol. **93**:9-62.

Kilian, M. and E.L. Biberstein. 1984. Genus II. Haemophilus. In Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology, Volume 1, Section 5. Facultatively Anaerobic Gram-Negative Rods (N.R. Kreig and J.R. Holt, eds.) William & Wilkins, Baltimore, MD, pp. 558-569.

Kleckner, N. 1989. Chapter 8: Transposon Tn10. In Mobile DNA (D.E. Berg and M.M. Howe,eds.) American Society for Microbiologists, Washington, D.C., pp.227-268.

Kolter, R. and D.R. Helinski. 1979. Regulation of initiation of DNA replication. Annu. Rev. Genet. 13:355-391.

Kreiss, S.J., D. Koech, F.A. Plummer, K.K. Holmes, M. Lightfoote, P. Piot, A.R. Ronald, J.O. Ndinya-Achola, L.J. D'Costa, P. Roberts, E.N. Ngugi and T.C. Quinn. 1986. AIDS virus infection in Nairobi prostitutes. N. Engl. J. Med. 314:414-418.

Krishnapillai, V. 1988. Molecular genetic analysis of bacterial plasmid promiscuity. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 54:223-238.

Kristinsson, K.G., G. Thorgeirsson and W.P. Holbrook. 1988. Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans and endocarditis. J. Infect. Dis. 157:599.

Kues, U. and U. Stahl. 1989. Replication of plasmids in gram-negative bacteria. Microbiol. Rev. **53**:491-516.

Lalonde, G., J.F. Miller, L.S. Tompkins and P. O'Hanley. 1989. Transformation of Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae and analysis of R factors by electroporation. Am. J. Vet. Res. 50:1957-1960.

Lalonde, G. and P.D. O'Hanley. 1989. Development of a shuttle vector and a conjugative transfer system for Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae. Gene 85:243-246.

Leibowitz, H.M., M.V. Pratt, I.J. Flagstad, A.R. Berrospi and R. Kundsin. 1976. Human Conjunctivitis. I. Diagnostic evaluation. Arch. Ophthalmol. 94:1747-1749.

Lynn, D.J., J.G. Kane and R.H. Parker. 1977. Haemophilus parainfluenzae and influenzae endocarditis: a review of forty cases. Medicine 56:115-128.

Maeser, S., P. Schols, S. Otto and E. Scherzinger. 1990. Gene F of plasmid RSF1010 codes for a low-molecular-weight repressor protein that autoregulates expression of the *repAC* operon. Nucleic Acids Res. 18:6215-6222.

Mannheim, W. 1984. Family III. Pasteurellaceae POHL 1991a, 382⁷⁷. In Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology, Vorume 1, Section 5. Facultatively Anaerobic Gram-Negative Rods (N.R. Kreig and J.G. Holt, eds.) Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore, MD, pp. 550-552.

NcCarthy, D., N.L. Clayton and J.K. Setlow. 1982. A plasmid cloning vehicle for *Haemophilus influenzae* and *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. **151**:1605-1607.

MCMurry, L., R.E. Petrucci, Jr. and S.B. Levy. 1980. Active efflux of tetracycline encoded by four genetically different tetracycline resistance determinants in *Escherichia coli*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **77**:3974-3977.

Miller, J.G., W.J. Dower and L.S Tompkins. 1988. High voltage electroporation of bacteria: genetic transformation of *Campylobacter jejuni* with plasmid DNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **85**:856-860.

Mitsuhashi, S. 1977. Epidemiology of bacterial drug resistance. In R Factor. Drug Resistance Plasmid, Chapter 1 (S. Mitsuhashi, ed.) University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, Japan, pp. 3-24.

Morse, S. A. 1989. Chancroid and *Haemophilus ducreyi*. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 2:137-157.

Murphy, T.F. and M.A. Apicella. 1987. Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae: a review of clinical aspects, surface antigens and human immune response to infection. Rev. Infect. Dis. 147:838-846.

Murray, I.A., J.V. Martinez-Suarez, T.J. Close and W.V. Shaw. 1990. Nucleotide sequences of genes encoding the type II chloramphenicol acetyltransferases of *Escherichia coli* and *Haemophilus influenzae*, which are sensitive to inhibition by thiol-reactive reagents. Biochem. J. 272:505-510.

Mutters, R., P. Ihm, S. Pohl, W. Frederiksen and W. Mannheim. 1985. Reclassification of the genus Pasteurella Trevisan 1887 on the basis of decxyribonucleic acid homology, with proposals for the new species Pasteurella canis, Pasteurella stomatis, Pasteurella anatis and Pasteurella langaa. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 35:309-322. Mutters, R., W. Mannheim and M. Bisgaard. 1989. Taxonomy of the group. In Pasteurella and Pasteurellosis, Chapter 1 (C. Adlam and J.M. Rutter, eds.) Academic Press Ltd., London, pp. 3-34.

Nordström, K. 1985. Control of plasmid replication: theoretical considerations and practical solutions. In Plasmids in Bacteria (D.R. Helinski, S.N. Cohen, D.B. Clewell, D.A. Jackson, and A. Hollaender, eds.) Plenum Publishing Corp., New York, pp. 189-214.

Novick, R.P. 1987. Plasmid incompatibility. Microbiol. Rev. 51:381-395.

Oka, A., H. Sugisaki and M. Takanami. 1981. Nucleotide sequence of the kanamycin resistance transposon Tn903. J. Mol. Biol. **147**:217-226.

Paavonen, J., M. Lethtinen and K. Teisala. 1985. Haemophilus influenzae causes purulent pelvic inflammatory disease. Am J. Obstet. Gynecol. **151**:338-339.

Parker, S.W., M.A. Apicella and C.M. Fuller. 1983. *Haemophilus* endocarditis: two patients with complications. Arch. Intern. Med. **143**:48-51.

Persson, C. and K. Nordström. 1986. Control of replication of the broad host range plasmid RSF1010: the incompatibility determinant consists of directly repeated DNA sequences. Mol. Gen. Genet. **203**:189-192.

Phillips, J.E. 1984. Genus III. Actinobacillus. In Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology, Volume 1, Section 5. Facultatively Anaerobic Gram-Negative Rods (N.R. Kreig and J.R. Holt, eds.) Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, MD, pp. 570-575.

Phillips, I., and K. Shannon. 1984. Aminoglycoside resistance. Brit. Med. Bull. 40:28-35.

Pittman, M. 1931. Variation and type specificity in the bacterial species *Haemophilus influenzae*. J. Exp. Med. **53**:471-492.

Pohl, 8. 1981. DNA relatedness among members of Haemophilus, Pasteurella and Actinobacillus. In Haemophilus, Pasteurella and Actinobacillus (M. Kilian, W. Frederiksen and E.L. Biberstein, eds.) Academic Press, Inc. (London), Ltd., London. pp. 245-253. Quentin, R., J.M. Musser and M. Mellouett. 1989. Typing of urogenital, maternal, and neonatal isolates of Haemophilus influenzae and Haemophilus parainfluenzae in correlation with clinical source of isolation and evidence for a genital specificity of H. influenzae biotype IV. J. Clin. Microbiol. 27:2286-2294.

Rådström, P. and G. Swedberg. 1988. RSF1010 and a conjugative plasmid contain *sul*II, one of two known genes for plasmid-bourne sulfonamide resistance dihydropteroate synthase. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. **32**:1684-1692.

Rådström, P., G. Swedberg and O. Sköld. 1991. Genetic analyses of sulfonamide resistance and its dissemination in Gram-negative bacteria illustrate new aspects of R plasmid evolution. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. **35**:1840-1848.

Rosenberg, N. and D. Court. 1979. Regulatory sequences involved in the promotion and termination of RNA transcription. Annu. Rev. Genet. **13**:319-353.

Rownd, R.H. and S. Mickel. 1971. Dissociation and reassociation of RTF and R-determinants of the R-factor NR1 in *Proteus mirabilis*. Nature (London) **234**:40-43.

Sambrook, J., E.F. Frisch and T. Maniatis. 1989. Molecular Cloning: a Laboratory Manual, Second Edition (N. Ford, C. Nolan, M. Ferguson and M. Ockler, eds.), Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, New York.

Scherzinger, E., M.M. Bagdasarian, P. Scholz, R. Lurz, B. Rükert and M. Bagdasarian. 1984. Replication of the broadhost-range plasmid RSF1010: requirement for three plasmidencoded proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sca. USA **81**:654-658.

Schersinger, E., V. Haring, R. Lurz and S. Otto. 1991. Plasmid RSF1010 DNA replication *in vitro* promoted by purified RSF1010 RepA, RepB and RepC proteins. Nucleic Acids Res. 19:1203-1211.

Schmid, G.P., L.L. Sanders, Jr., J.H. Blount and E.R. Alexander. 1987. Chancroid in the United States. Reestablishment of an old disease. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 258:3265-3268.

Schmitt, R., E. Bernhard and R. Mattes. 1979. Characterization of Tn1721, a new transposon containing tetracycline resistance genes capable of amplification. Mol. Gen. Genet. 172:53-65. Schols, P., V. Haring, B. Wittman-Liebold, K. Ashman, N. Bagdasarian and E. Schersinger. 1989. Complete nucleotide sequence and gene organization of the broad-host-range plasmid RSF1010. Gene. 75:271-288.

Scott, J.R. 1984. Regulation of plasmid replication. Microbiol Rev. **48**:1-23.

Shaw, W.V. 1984. Bacterial resistance to chloramphenicol. Brit. Med. Bull. **40**:36-41.

Shine, J. and L. Dalgarno. 1974. The 3'-terminal sequence of *Escherichia coli* 16S ribosomal RNA: complementarity to nonsense triplets and ribosome binding sites. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 71:1342-1346.

Spies, T., R. Laufs and F.-C. Riess. 1983. Amplification of resistance genes in *Haemophilus influenzae* plasmids. J. Bacteriol. **155**:839-846.

Starkebaum, G.A and J.J. Plorde. 1977. Pasteurella pneumonia: report of a case and review of the literature. J. Clin. Microbiol. 5:332-335.

Stokes, H.W. and R.M., Hall. 1989. A novel family of potentially mobile DNA elements encoding site-specific gene-integration functions: Integrons. Mol. Microbiol. 3:1669-1683.

Stokes, H.W., C. Tomaras, Y. Parsons and R.M. Hall. 1993. The partial 3'-conserved segment duplications in the integrons In6 from pSa and In7 from pDGO100 have a common origin. Plasmid **30**:39-50.

Sturm, A.W. 1986. Haemophilus influenzae and Haemophilus parainfluenzae in nongonococcal urethritis. J. Infect. Dis. **153:**165-167.

Sturm, A.W. 1987. Comparison of antimicrobial susceptibility patterns of fifty-seven strains of *Haemophilus ducreyi* isolated in Amsterdam from 1978 to 1985. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. **19**:187-191.

Sundström, L., P. Rädström, G. Swedberg and O. Sköld. 1988. Site-specific recombination promotes linkage between trimethoprim- and sulfonamide resistance genes. Sequence characterization of *dhfrV* and *sulI* and a recombination active locus of Tn21. Mol. Gen. Genetics. 213:191-201. Swaminthan, B., L.W. Mayer, W.F. Bibb, G.W. Ajello, K. Irino, K.A. Birkness, C.F. Garon, M.W. Reeves, M.C. DeCunto Brandileone, F.O. Sottnek, D.J. Brenner, A.G. Steigerwalt and The Brasilian Purpuric Fever Study Group. 1989. Microbiology of Brazilian purpuric fever and diagnostic tests. J. Clin. Microbiol. 27:605-608.

Swedberg, G. 1987. Organization of two sulfonamide resistance genes on plasmids of Gram-negative bacteria. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. **31**:306-311.

Tait, R.C., R.C. Lundquist and C.I. Kado. 1982. Genetic map of the crown gall suppressive IncW plasmid pSa. Mol. Gen. Genet. 186:10-15.

Takahashi, S. and Y. Nagauo. 1989. Rapid procedure for isolation of plasmid DNA and application to epidemiological analysis. J. Clin. Microbiol. **20**:608-613.

Taylor, D.N., P. Escheverria, S. Hanchalay, C. Pitarangsi, L. Slootmans and P. Piot. 1985. Antimicrobial susceptibility and characterization of outer membrane proteins of *Haemophilus ducreyi* isolated in Thailand. J. Clin. Microbiol. 21:442-444.

Thjotta, T. and O.T. Avery. 1921. Studies on bacterial nutrition II. Growth accessory substances in the cultivation of hemophilic bacilli. J. Exp. Med. 34:97,455.

Thomas, C.M. 1988. Recent studies on the control of plasmid replication. Biochem. Biophys. Acta. **949**:253-263.

Thomas, C.M. and D.R. Helinski. 1989. Vegetative replication and stable inheritance of IncP plasmids. *In* Promiscuous Plasmids of Gram-Negative Bacteria, Chapter 1 (C.M. Thomas, ed.). Academic Press, Oxford, Great Britian, pp.1-25.

Ullman, A., F. Jacob and J. Monod. 1967. Characterization by in vitro complementation of a peptide corresponding to an operator-proximal segment of the β -galactosidase structural gene of Escherichia coli. J. Mol. Biol. 24:339-343.

vanKlingeren, B., J.D.A. vanEmbden and M. Dessens-Kroon. 1977. Plasmid-mediated chloramphenicol resistance in Haemophilus influenzae. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 11:383-387.

Vernet, T., P.C.K. Lau, S.A. Narang and L.P. Visentin. 1985. A direct selection vector derived from pColE3-CA38 and adapted for foreign gene expression. Gene 43:87-93. Wald, E.R. 1989. Haemophilus influenzae as a cause of acute otitis media. Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J. 8:S28-S30.

Wallace, R.J., C.J. Baker and F. Quinones. 1983. Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae (biotype 4) as a neonatal, maternal, and genital pathogen. Rev. Infect. Dis. 5:123-136.

Wallace, R.J., D.N. Musher and E.J. Septimus. 1981. Haemophilus influenzae infections in adults: characterization of strains by serotypes, biotypes and beta-lactamase production. J. Infect. Dis. 144:101-106.

Weber, D.J., J.S. Wolfson and M.N. Swartz. 1984. Pasteurella multocida infections: report of 34 cases and review of the literature. Medicine. 63:133-154.

Weinstein, L. 1975. Antimicrobial agents: tetracyclines and chloramphenicol. In The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics, Fifth Edition (L.S. Goodman and A. Gilman, eds.) Macmillan Publishing Co. Inc., New York, NY., pp.1183-1200.

Weston, A., M.G.M. Brown, H.R. Perking, J.R. Saunders and G.O. Humphreys. 1981. Transformation of *Escherichia coli* with plasmid deoxyribonucleic acid: Calcium-induced binding of deoxyribonucleic acid to whole cells and to isolated membrane fractions. J. Bacteriol. **145**:780-787.

Wild, B.E., J.W. Pearman, P.B. Campbell, P.K. Swan and D.L. Gurry. 1989. Brazilian purpuric fever in western Australia. Med. J. Australia 150:344, 346.

Willetts, N.S. and C. Crowther. 1981. Mobilization of the nonconjugative IncQ plasmid RSF1010. Genet. Res. 37:311-316.

Willson, P.J. 1989. Development of plasmids for genetic analysis in Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae. (Ph. D. Thesis, University of Saskatchewan) pp.61-69.

Willson, P.J., W.L. Albritton, L. Slaney and J.K. Setlow. 1989a. Characterization of a multiple antibiotic resistance plasmid from *Haemophilus ducreyi*. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. **33**:1627-1630.

Willson, P.I., H.G. Deneer, A. Potter and W.L. Albritton. 1989b. Characterization of a streptomycin-sulfonamide resistance plasmid from Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. **33**:235-238.

Wilson, M.E. 1989. Prosthetic valve endocarditis and paravalvular abcesses caused by Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans. Rev. Infect. Dis. **11**:665-667.

Winslow, C.-Z., J. Broadhurst, R.Z. Buchanan, C. Krumwiede, Jr., L.A. Rogers and G.H. Smith. 1917. The families and genera of the bacteria. Preliminary report of the Committee of the Society of American Bacteriologists on Characterization and Classification of Bacterial Types. J. Bacteriol. 2:505-566.

Woese, C.R. 1987. Bacterial evolution. Microbiol Rev. 51:221-271.

Woese, C.R., E. Stackebrandt, T.J. Nacke and G.E. Fox. 1985a. A phylogenetic definition of the major eubacterial taxa. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 6:143-151.

Woese, C.R., W.G. Weisburg, C.M. Hahn, B.J. Paster, L.B. Zablen, L.B. Lewis, T.J. Macke, W. Ludwig and E. Stackebrandt. 1985b. The phylogeny of the purple subgroup bacteria: the gamma subdividion. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 6:25-33.